WORK SESSION AGENDA

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION COUNCIL CHAMBERS
TUESDAY 211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE
MAY 13, 2025 3:00 P.M.

All City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's YouTube page

(https://www.youtube.com/@FlagstaffCityGovernment)
***PUBLIC COMMENT***

Verbal public comments not related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be provided during the
"Open Call to the Public" at the beginning and end of the meeting and may only be provided in person.

Verbal public comments related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be given in person or online
and will be taken at the time the item is discussed.

To provide online verbal comment on an item that appears on the posted agenda, use the link below.

ONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENT

Written comments may be submitted to publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov. All comments submitted via email
will be considered written comments and will be documented in the record as such.

1. Call to Order

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to
the general public that, at this work session, the City Council may vote to go into executive
session, which will not be open to the public, for discussion and consultation with the City's
attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-
431.03(A)(3).

2. Roll Call
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance through other technological means.

MAYOR DAGGETT

VICE MAYOR SWEET COUNCILMEMBER HOUSE
COUNCILMEMBER ASLAN COUNCILMEMBER MATTHEWS
COUNCILMEMBER GARCIA COUNCILMEMBER SPENCE

3. Pledge of Allegiance, Mission Statement, and Land Acknowledgement

MISSION STATEMENT
The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life for all.
LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Flagstaff City Council humbly acknowledges the ancestral homelands of this area's
Indigenous nations and original stewards. These lands, still inhabited by Native descendants,
border mountains sacred to Indigenous peoples. We honor them, their legacies, their traditions,
and their continued contributions. We celebrate their past, present, and future generations who will
forever know this place as home.


https://www.youtube.com/@FlagstaffCityGovernment
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OGU5OTBmZTUtMzZhMS00Zjk4LWI1NjItMjgxMWMwYmE3NmMy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225da727b9-fb88-48b4-aa07-2a40088a046d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22092ff328-7f9a-4a81-ae2d-fba9ff4ca8ad%22%7d
mailto:publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov

10.

11.

Open Call to the Public

Open Call to the Public enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
prepared agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that
the item is discussed. Open Call to the Public appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and
at the end. The total time allotted for the first Open Call to the Public is 30 minutes; any additional
comments will be held until the second Open Call to the Public.

If you wish to address the Council in person at today's meeting, please complete a comment card
and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called when it is your
turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including
comments made during Open Call to the Public and Public Comment. Please limit your remarks to
three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the Chair,
ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative
who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

PROCLAMATIONS

Proclamation: Ride Your Bike Week
Proclamation: Mental Health Awareness Month
Proclamation: Economic Development Week

Review of Draft Agenda for the May 20, 2025 City Council Meeting

Citizens wishing to speak on agenda items not specifically called out by the City Council may
submit a speaker card for their items of interest to the recording clerk.

City Manager Report
Information only

Discussion of childcare resources in Flagstaff and greater Coconino County and the
impacts of the current status.

Council will receive information about the absence of regional childcare resources, and ongoing efforts to
mitigate the situation, from Rebecca Cirzan M. Ed. of the Early Learning and Development Center at
Northern Arizona University.

Greater Observatory Mesa Area Trail Plan
Provide the City Council an understanding of the Greater Observatory Mesa Area Trail Plan,
offer the opportunity to provide feedback, and prepare City Council for a future request to adopt
the trail plan for implementation via resolution.

Open Call to the Public

Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda item
requests



12. Adjournment

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on ,
at a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City Clerk.

Dated this day of ,2025.

Stacy Saltzburg, MMC, City Clerk

THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ENDEAVORS TO MAKE ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES. With 48-hour advance notice, reasonable accommodations

will be made upon request for persons with disabilities or non-English speaking residents. Please call the City Clerk (928) 213-2076 or email at stacy.saltzburg@flagstaffaz.gov to request an
accommodation to participate in this public meeting.

NOTICE TO PARENTS AND LEGAL GUARDIANS: Parents and legal guardians have the right to consent before the City of Flagstaff makes a video or voice recording of a minor child,
pursuant to A.R.S. § 1-602(A)(9). The Flagstaff City Council meetings are live-streamed and recorded and may be viewed on the City of Flagstaff's website. If you permit your child to
attend/participate in a televised Council meeting, a recording will be made. You may exercise your right not to consent by not allowing your child to attend/participate in the meeting.



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date: 05/07/2025

Meeting Date: 05/13/2025

TITLE:
Proclamation: Ride Your Bike Week

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Executive Summary:

Information:

Attachments: Proclamation



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF — OFFICE OF THE MAYOR

PROCLAMATION

WHEREAS, Bicycling represents one of the most environmentally responsible,
clean, efficient, economic and healthy forms of transportation; and

WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff and Flagstaff Biking Organization recognize the
importance of a bicycle friendly community; and

WHEREAS, Ride Your Bike Week raises public awareness about the need to
improve bicycle infrastructure in the community to encourage more people to
commute by bicycle; and

WHEREAS, Bicycling improves air quality, reduces greenhouse gas emissions, and
supports Flagstaff’s carbon neutrality goals; and

WHEREAS, Bicycling enhances mobility and helps manage traffic congestion; and

WHEREAS, Bicycling is an excellent low-impact, aerobic activity that improves
health and reduces stress; and

WHEREAS, Riding a bicycle helps all of us connect to our community and feel a
sense of place.

NOW, THEREFORE, |, BECKY DAGGETT, MAYOR OF THE CITY OF
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA do hereby proclaim May 12-18 2025 as

RIDE YOUR BIKE WEEK IN FLAGSTAFF

DATED this 13" day of May, 2025

MAYOR
Attest:

CITY CLERK



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date: 05/07/2025

Meeting Date: 05/13/2025

TITLE:
Proclamation: Mental Health Awareness Month

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Executive Summary:

Information:

Attachments: Proclamation



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF — OFFICE OF THE MAYOR

PROCLAMATION

WHEREAS, mental health is essential to overall well-being, and;
WHEREAS, everyone experiences times of stress and adversity, and;
WHEREAS, one in four adults and one in five youth ages 13-18 experience mental health challenges, and;

WHEREAS, 60 percent of adults and 50 percent of youth do not receive the mental health treatment necessary
due to limited knowledge of the need, barriers to care, or stigma, fear, and shame, and;

WHEREAS, adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), including physical, emotional and sexual abuse or
neglect; household dysfunction; untreated mental illness; untreated substance misuse; separation or
incarceration of a household member; and domestic violence, are traumatic experiences that can have a
profound effect on a child’s developing brain and can result in poor physical and mental health through
adulthood, and;

WHEREAS, creating safe, stable, nurturing relationships and environments for all children prevent Adverse
Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and help all children reach their full potential, and these relationships and
environments are essential to creating positive childhood experiences, and,

WHEREAS, isolation, sickness, grief, home instability, change of routines, and community trauma have
increased the need for mental health services; and

WHEREAS, mental wellness leads to higher productivity, better educational outcomes, lower crime, stronger
economies, lower healthcare costs, and improved quality of life, and;

As the Mayor, I also call upon all City citizens, government agencies, public and private institutions, businesses,
and schools to recommit our community to increasing awareness and understanding of mental illnesses,
reducing stigma, and discrimination and promoting appropriate and accessible services for all individuals.

NOW, THEREFORE, I, BECKY DAGGETT, MAYOR OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFTF, do hereby
proclaim the month of May as

MENTAL HEALTH AWARENESS MONTH

DATED this 13" day of May 2025

1™ =T

MAYOR
ATTEST:

!
Atacey daldbectyq

CITY CLERK



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date: 05/07/2025

Meeting Date: 05/13/2025

TITLE:
Proclamation: Economic Development Week

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Executive Summary:

Information:

Attachments: Proclamation



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF — OFFICE OF THE MAYOR

PROCLAMATION

WHEREAS, Economic Development Week is an opportunity to recognize and thank everyone
and all businesses that Choose Flagstaff, the City of Innovation, to be their home; and

WHEREAS, economic developers promote economic well-being and quality of life for their
communities and create, retain, and expand jobs that facilitate growth and a stable tax base; and

WHEREAS, economic development efforts in Flagstaff help to foster innovation, attract and
retain businesses, support workforce development, and enhance infrastructure to meet the evolving
needs of the community; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff and its partners, including business organizations, educational
institutions, and local entrepreneurs, work together to support sustainable economic growth and
opportunities for all residents; and

WHEREAS, Economic Development Week, created by the International Economic Development
Council, is an opportunity to recognize and celebrate the contributions of economic developers
and their essential role in our local economy; and

WHEREAS, Flagstaff is committed to fostering a vibrant, resilient, and inclusive economy that
supports businesses of all sizes and strengthens the community’s economic future;

WHEREAS, Quality Connections has been a community leader for over 25 years, empowering
individuals with disabilities through job training, inclusive employment, and social enterprises like
QC Office, while also driving Northern Arizona’s economy by employing over 200 staff, operating
the state’s only AbilityOne and State Set-Aside printer supply business, managing a preschool that
serves as a training site, and offering diverse support services and workforce partnerships; and

NOW, THEREFORE, I, BECKY DAGGETT, Mayor of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona do
hereby proclaim MAY 11, 2025, through MAY 17, 2025, as

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT WEEK

Dated this 13" day of May 2025

MAYOR

ATTEST:

CITY CLERK



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date: 05/06/2025

Meeting Date: 05/13/2025

TITLE:
City Manager Report

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Information only

Executive Summary:

These reports will be included in the City Council packet for regularly scheduled Work Session meetings. The
reports are intended to be informational, covering miscellaneous events and topics involving the City
organization.

***The report will be provided in advance of the meeting***

Information:

Attachments: City Manager Report

Engineering Presentation
Water Presentation



City Manager’s Report
May 7, 2025

Council and Colleagues, greetings. These reports are intended to be informational, covering
miscellaneous events and topics involving the city organization. During my report at the
upcoming Council Work Session, you will receive informational presentations from both City
Engineering & Capital Improvements, and Water Services. Also, appended to this report is a
newsletter from PROSE.

Work Zone Awareness

Rather apropos that we recognize Work Zone Awareness! Thanks to Economic Vitality, Public
Works, Community Development, Water Services, City Administration, Management Services and the
many others who demonstrated their support to employees who work in the field by donning ORANGE!




Fire Department

Terros has hired Emergency Medical Technicians for
the CARE unit. They will begin training on May

12t™. Be sure to welcome Marshelle Yazzie, Sonia
Olson, and Adam Reed to the Care Unit when you see
them!

Fire personnel attended the ESO Conference in Austin,
Texas to take a deep dive into the future of
emergency services technology, critical clinical topics
and powerful networking with ESO developers and
fellow departments across the country. (image on
right)

Thanks to the Northern Arizona Fire Prevention and Education Team for their assistance in
preparing for the wildfire season by informing the public on ways to prevent catastrophic
wildfire from starting. The focus of this group was to try to reduce the amount of human caused
wildfires in Northern Arizona through education and outreach to the broader

community. (picture below)



Water Services

Wastewater Treatment Manager Troy Dagenhart was
awarded the Large System Operations Supervisor of
the Year, for his work overseeing the Wildcat Hill and
Rio de Flag Water Reclamation Plants. Under Troy’s
leadership, both facilities received recognition from
the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality
(ADEQ) Voluntary Environmental Stewardship
Program. To qualify, facilities must demonstrate
strong environmental compliance and go beyond legal
requirements to protect human and environmental
health. (image on right)

The Flagstaff Water Resources and Conservation
Team received the Outstanding Sustainability Award
for their contributions to water sustainability in
Flagstaff. Water Resources Section Director Erin
Young, Conservation Program Manager Tamara
Lawless, and Water Conservation Specialist Emily
Melhorn have a combined 50 years of experience in
both water and environmental sectors and are leaders
in their roles as public servants. (image on right)

Police Department

PROSE

Congratulations to Kendra Mann and Megan Portillo for being voted our Dispatch Employees of
the Quarter!
Flagstaff Aquaplex will be open on Sundays, beginning May 11" from 9:00 am to 3:00 pm.

Kids summer day camp for ages 6-11 begins in June with swimming, rock climbing, games,
crafts, and a new theme each week. Register online or at the Aquaplex.

Jay Lively will be closed for annual maintenance from May 5% through May 24,



Public Works
e We planted a “moon tree” this week on the USGS campus.
This tree is considered a “moon tree” because as a seedling it
went to space, was exposed to the moon's atmosphere, and
was then brought back to be planted here in Flagstaff. How
does that make it a “moon tree”, rather than “earth tree that
visited space” ... “or cosmic earth tree”? We do not know ...
but the good scientists at USGS are adamant that this tree is
no longer of this earth, so “moon tree” itis. (image on right).

e In coordination with our Engineering department, the Signs
and Markings team installed these signs to encourage
pedestrian awareness near downtown railroad crossings.
(images below)

Drop-Off Day
This occurred on April 26", The event represents a

partnership with Sustainability, PD, and Coconino
County, with many volunteers helping to collect,
properly sort, dispose, and in some cases recycle,
various products and hazardous waste materials,
such as computers, batteries, and unwanted
medications. Big props to Steven Thompson for his
hand in successfully orchestrating this event, with
the help of many, including Joanne Keene and John
Comer, shown on the right!




United Way Annual Meeting & Community Impact
Luncheon

Held on April 23™ at the High-Country Conference
Center, the event was very well attended and featured
an informative discussion related to children’s literacy.
Recognition was given to Dr. Rima Brusi, who provided an
inspiring keynote. Together with Dr. Cruz Rivera, the
couple served as co-chairs of the UWNA Annual
Campaign.

Visit to the Statehouse

Vice Mayor Miranda Sweet, Councilmember Lori Matthews, Deputy City Manager Joanne Keene, Fire
Chief Mark Galliard and Community Engagement Specialist Grace Benally had a productive visit to the
Arizona State Capitol last week. The delegation met with Senate President Warren Peterson, Senator
Wendy Rogers, Representative Walk Blackman and the Governor’s office to discuss the need for a
Regional Wildland Fire Training Center. The meetings were productive and provided the city with an
opportunity to educate our legislators on our unique needs in Northern Arizona.

It’s a wrap, Council. Onward and upward ...



ity Engineering

| ""\‘ e N § o
sy C S 2 " May 13th, 2025
e | At 74 e f"fw.ﬁ-f% \ \I,, [ Fgd RN ay 'i ’
il b - “i;;r 2 \“j*'; s !I . : o -' ]‘l I . ! iy b
’ L ..\\..ill. o s 1 ir d
. : . | : '_|I Kz
AR - "LAG
et TEAM FLAGSTAFF
N e :
T |
1 i ¥ I.I ..
qf ) l
- " 1 | |
o e :
K . 7



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

City Engineering

Division Makeup

e City Engineering is made up of three sections:

e Capital Improvements

City of Flagstaff

* Transportation
* Transportation Engineering
e Active Transportation Planning

e Development Engineering r——

Master Plan

e Development Engineering
* Construction Inspections e




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Staff: 9 FTE's

* Capital Improvements Engineer =%

* Two Sr. Lead Project Managers
* One position currently vacant

* Three Sr. Project Managers
* Three Project Managers




Project Outreac
* Project Websites

e Public Relations
Consultant

e City Social Media

] =z

E Dortha Av . = oyo o Drive
6 | = 8. Killio Bas O
\ =
. I Lo illip Basins e
2

*
L

RALELS

) e -

|l

1S18M N

-
=
0
g
0 q
y O
Q
Q
&
4D

Project (Do a Ave
NOTTO
SCALE o

Fourth-Lockett Roundabout

A new roundabout at the intersection of Fourth Street and Cedar Avenue/ Lockett Road to improve
safety and slow speeds

Home [ Fourth-Lockett Roundabout

About the Project

The Arizona Department of Transportation, City of Flagstaff and Fann Contracting are set to begin a project to construct a
new roundabout that will replace the signalized intersection at Fourth Street and Cedar Avenue/Lockett Road to improve the
safety and function of the intersection. This new roundabout will be designed with flashing pedestrian crossing beacons and
will slow speeds, help avoid angle collisions and add a crosswalk at the fourth-leg of the intersection. Additional work
includes the installation of water, sewer and storm drain infrastructure.

Preliminary construction activities are set to begin on March 31, 2025. Preliminary work consists of tree removal, fence
installation, concrete removal and storm drain installation along the perimeter of the intersection. A full closure of the Fourth
Street and Cedar Avenue/Lockett Road intersection is scheduled for the entire 2025 school summer break (May 23 to
August 4), with the full project anticipated to be complete in Fall 2025. The new roundabout will be installed during this full
closure.

Project Elements

« Construct a new roundabout in the Fourth Street and Cedar Avenue/Lockett Road intersection.
« Install new water, sewer and storm drain infrastructure.
« Install flashing pedestrian crossing beacons, pavement markings and signage

Other project elements include installing new curb and gutter, sidewalk, ADA-compliant sidewalk ramps, and lighting.

What To Expect During Construction

Linda Vista Drive will be permanently opened prior to the full closure of
the Fourth and Cedar/ Lockett intersection

Work may occur Monday through Friday, from 6 am. to 6 p.m_, with occasional night and weekend work as needed. During
preliminary construction activities, the intersection of Fourth and Cedar Avenue/Lockett Road will remain open to both
motorists and pedestrians, however, expect lane and sidewalk restrictions, modified bus routes, heavy equipment, loud
noise and flagging operations. Access for schools, businesses and residents will always be provided. Please follow the
marked signage and travel safely. Note that this work is highly weather dependent

A full closure of the Fourth Street and Cedar Avenue/Lockett Road intersection will occur throughout the entire 2025 school
summer break (May 23 to August 4). Detour routes will be in place during this closure period. Notifications will be provided
prior to the full intersection closure with more information.

'TEAM FLAGSTAFF

>\

WE MAKE THE

e E Linda Vistq o,

E-'B SUY N
3
>
F
1§ Ypnoy

AN
[ ﬁfp
45 USIE N=

=

™

: '

@

= E Greenlaw Ln

] +—

Project area map

Contact Us

Have questions? Contact us below:

A Name Project Hotline
%, Phone 928-255-5153

X Email info@fourthlockettproject.com

Stay Informed

Future project communication will be provided via email
updates. To subscribe to these updates, fill out the form
below.




= Capital Improvements

Project Delivery

e Planning/Design/Construction
» 29 Active Projects

* Water Services, Arts
and Beautification, General
Government and Bond

* Measurements: Budget and
Schedule

Capital Improvement Program
* 5-Year and 10-Year outlook

e Short and Long term look ahead

e Schedule and ldentify projects

* Budget, Resources, Accurate



=1 Transportation

Staff: 7 FTE's

Engineering

* Transportation Director

e Sr. Transportation Engineer
* Transportation Engineer

e Associate Transportation
Engineer

Planning (ATMP)
 Sr. Transportation Planner

 Multimodal Transportation
Planner

* Transportation Planner




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Commission and Committees

* Transportation Commission * Bicycle Advisory Committee

* Residential Neighborhood Traffic Calming Guide * Bike Friendly Community renewal
« Micro-Mobility Ped and Bike Crash Report

e Transportation CIP Review Urban Trails and Bikeways mobile mapping
* Regional Plan Ped and Bike capital planning
« Appoint BAC and PAC membership Meets on the 3rd Thursday of each month

e Meets on the 1st Wednesday every two months

e Pedestrian Advisory Committee

Pedestrian and Bike Crash Report

Trip Diary Survey

Ped and Bike capital planning

Meets on the 4th Thursday of each month



© Transportation

Grant Programs

* Transportation Alternatives
» Safe Routes to School planning
e Ft. Valley Rd multimodal improvements

e Safe Streets for All (SS4A)

e Safe Streets Master Plan
e Butler Avenue Complete Street

* Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP)
e US Highway 89 lighting and signal improvements




= Transportation

Internal Programs

e Streets Master Plan

 City Transportation Modelling
 City Hall E-Bike program

* Annual Crash Report

* Small Capital projects

e Temporary Traffic Control

* Interdepartmental Support




=1 Development Engineering

Staff: 12 FTE's

Development Engineering Construction Inspections
* Development Engineer * Inspections Manager

* Two Sr. Project Managers * Five Inspectors
* Two Project Managers
* Engineering Specialist




' Development Engineering

Development Projects

* DS Project Reviews
* 19 Site Plan Projects
e 9 Subdivision Plats
* 45 Concept Plans

* Engineering Reviews

* 49 Civil Plan Reviews
e 11 Subdivision Plats
e 294 right-of-way Permits

Highlighted Housing Projects

e Lake Mary Villas: 76 Units

e Woody Mtn Apts: 221 Units

e Habitat for Humanity: 40 Units
e Flagstaff Apts Ph 1: 171 Units
e Presidio Tract M: 39 Units

e Sky Cottages: 203 Units

e LIV Timber Sky: 214 Units



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Development Engineering

Wecom Fiber Micro-Trenching Pilot Project
* Prepared draft standards, permitted and started construction




Q Search Map

AZ511.gov

Campbell' Me

Loop,Trz

Q Closure

Capital Improvements on E Linda Vista Dr Both
from N Grandview Dr to N Paradise Rd. All Lanes
Closed. Starting 04/14/2025 5:00 AM and ending
05/23/2025 5:00 PM.

Comment
Detour information:

https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/Documents/ TCPs/EP-24-

00583_Paradise_GV_DoorHanger_4_2_25.pdf
Route E Linda Vista Dr
Start Time Apr 14 2025, 5:00 AM

Anticipated End

H May 23 2025, 5:00 PM
Time

Direction

Monday. Tuesday, Wednesday,
Recurrence Thursday, Friday, Saturday,
Sunday: Active all day

Last Updated Apr 92025, 1:03 PM

= TR

TEAM FLAGSTAFF

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

\

— Enter your destination @ '
: TN T - 1 wiuba City
W Fast 1 normal [l Some Tratfic
.Haavy Traﬂic.Slopde

il

C

AZ511 App

@
&
&
M Humphreys Peak

\

w‘\ l»@ l. \

NATIONAL
OREST



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

Development Engineering
— | maps and tracks public and
i seee | private projects along Route
66 to provide information to
Economic Vitality.

- \-‘)‘- !
; A / i ol No. Project Name
i - = " ) = G 1 o Line I (& ction Center
. .j/ Pre-nstfuctlen \ _' 1 s 2 . Lone Tree Overpass Project

Q Unde}:"Con struction 5 o 4 3 | @ [Riode Flag Flaod Control Project ~
O G a0 N & 4 @ | Downtown Mile Safety and Connectivity lmprovement Project Cat

A, - ’5 } : % A 5 | @ [BNSF Utility Relocation .

3k % / 6 ATMP (Citywide) See website: wiww.

=/ \
¢

IMPROVEMENTS

3




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

Fleet Electrification
* 3 of 6 inspection vehicles are fully electric

-

Angel Baca, Patrick Jenkins & Ben Jones Lone Tree Corridor Inspection




CITY BETTER

TEAM FLAGSTAFF
WE MAKE THE

ition Award

Sinclair Wash

o
()
Q.
&
@
@
Q.
-
c
O
9
@
Q
o
i

ineering

ty Eng

1

’

! wfm.m._,w.\mws_ﬁ.
W ..)..‘Ru.u.rn o e e B

C
City Employee L

December 13




Questions?

TEAM FLAGSTAFF Lone Tree FUTS at Bow & Arrow Trail

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER




~ Services

We are Water

. " ow w;"‘!\:!;tm ! f |
i May 13th, 2025
| ~iay 157, ZUZo
f’\"h 9
| | »
U 12
\ ':.’A‘.l‘
W
o



WE MAKE THE
BETTER

Division Makeup

* Water Services is made up of six section plus admin staff
* Field Operations
* Plant Operations
* Stormwater
* Resource management
* Engineering
* Regulatory Compliance
e Approximately 80 members in all




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Field Operations-Patrick O'Connor S5\

Water Distribution-16FTEs Wastewater Collections-9

* System integrity * Maintain sanitary conditions
* Pipes, hydrants, PRVs, meters  « preventative maintenance
Stormwater Collection-5 * Repair, clear blockages

e Maintain channels and
culverts




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

Water Production-10 Water Reclamation-13

* All potable water * Treat wastewater

* Peak demand varies * Produce A+ reclaimed water

seasonally * Consistent flow throughout
* 6-11MGD vear -

SCADA-8

* Communications

* GIS mapping

 Work with all sections
e CMMS




Stormwater-Ed Schenk SN\

1 CITY BETTER ‘

Project Management-5
* Plan, design & deliver

PLAT OVERVIEW

sout e
—
—

PRELIMINARY [ Tormes

wrmaremcron, | OVO1
D00 A ORI




‘ TEAM FLAGSTAFF |

Resource Management-Erin Young S

CITY BETTER ‘

Water Resources-1.5 Conservation-3.5
* 100 year designation ... =« *Community outreach

e Locate new well sites *

6250

* Future water supply

g £ 8
g 8 &8

Elevation (Feet AMSL)
v
&
(=]

0 250



'TEAM FLAGSTAFF |

SIS\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

1 | Beaulash/University Waterline Relocation 11
2 | Coconing Estates - Bundle #4 12
. 3 | ESS Eqguipment Building W5 14
PY C I P 4 | First Ave TREX Waterline Replacement 15
a n n I n 5 | Fort Tuthill VWell 17
p G | Future Water Rights - Red Gap Waterline 18
T T | Inmer Basin Waterline 20
T T 5 | JW Powell Waterline Oversizing 21
L4 8 | Lake Mary Dam Repairs 22
* Development review | D :
11 | Lake Mary Sedimentation Basins (Elagculations) 24
» 12 | LM Raw Water Pipeline Rehab 25
k 13 | MeAllister-Well Design/Construction 26
14 | Mew Well and Pumphouse 27
15 | Rio Flood Control Project - Waterline 28
16 | Switzer Canyon Transmission Line Phase 4 am
17 | Switzer Canyon Transmission Line Phase 5 i |
18 | UV at Lake Mary Water Treatment Plant 32
18 | Water Vault PR Replacement Program 33
N"‘-a 20 | Zone B Storage 24
i ian
[ 1 | Beaulzh/University Sewer Ext 11
1 2 | Coconino Estafes - Bundle #4 12
Mo T 4 | First Ave TREX Waterline Replacement 15
e e -1 21 | BHSF Sewer Relocations 35
-t 22 | Country Club Interceptor to WCH ar
23 | Rio de Flag Sewer Relocations 39
. 24 | Rio Solids Treatment 41
P — 25 | Wildcat New Elect (Fiber Upgrade 42
-~ 26 | Wildeat Roof Replacement 43
mm———
PR —— e — 27 | B" Bottleneck - Replacemant 45
Je— 28 | Advanced Treatment Concept Design 46
28 | MAL Reclaim Water Meters & Vaults A7
= 30 | BM5F Reclaimed Relocations 48
R 31 | Buffalo Park Tank 50
32 | Rio Reclaimed Fump Valve Actustors 51
STORMWATER @85 -
33 | Rio De Flag FCP 52
34 | Spruce Wash Resiliency - 4th at Butler - Design a4
35 | Highway 130 Culvert 65
ML PP ST 358 | Santa Fe Side Lateral i1+
@% 37 | Meade Lane Drainage Project 58
e m—— 38 | Fanning Wash Improvements fit: ]

P ———— | ]



TEAM FLAGSTAF

\\\\"7

WE MAKE HE

Laboratory-5 Pre-Treatment-3
* Certified labs at plants * Inspect discharge from
* Maintain compliance with industrial users

State Regs. * Inspect grease interceptors
' —— ' * Maintain code compliance
*FOG




Questions?

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER




CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Jeff McCormick, Economic Development Manager
Date: 05/06/2025

Meeting Date: 05/13/2025

TITLE:

Discussion of childcare resources in Flagstaff and greater Coconino County and the impacts of
the current status.

DESIRED OUTCOME:

Council will receive information about the absence of regional childcare resources, and ongoing efforts to mitigate the
situation, from Rebecca Cirzan M. Ed. of the Early Learning and Development Center at Northern Arizona University.

Executive Summary:

This presentation will discuss the issue of childcare for the City and some potential next steps to assist in
addressing it. It will be presented by Rebecca Cirzan, M. Ed. of the Northern Arizona University Early
Learning and Development Center (NAU ELDC). There will be a discussion about the current state of
childcare in the City and offer ideas for next steps.

The City of Flagstaff recently worked with a consultant to develop a Workforce Development Assessment and Strategic
Plan. While access to childcare was not in the initial scope of work for the assessment, it was apparent from public comment
that this area was a major concern for the workforce and overall residents in Flagstaff. Since then, City Economic
Development staff have been in conversations with the NAU ELDC, United Way of Northern Arizona, the Wharton
Foundation, Coconino County, and other entities to look at ways to assist in addressing the issue. There are short-term
steps towards a long-term solution being assessed. What is clear from the data is that the lack of early education and
childcare has impacts on Flagstaff's economy, workforce, and the quality of life for residents.

Information:

On top of the quality of life issues associated with lack of childcare, the childcare crisis continues to have a
significant impact on economic output, labor force participation, career advancement and job training, and
workplace productivity. A lack of childcare stability has led to a $1.7 billion loss annually to Arizona's economy
(U.S. Chamber of Commerce Foundation, 2022). In Coconino County, there are 5,183 children with all
parents in the labor force; however, there are only 3,147 center-based childcare slots (First Things First,
2024). The region is considered a 'childcare desert' for infants and toddlers, meaning there are three spots
for every child from birth to two years of age. There are almost eight times the number of infants compared to
childcare slots in the region. Aside from access, the lack of affordability presents challenges for low- to-
middle-class families. Sending an infant to a licensed center in Coconino County is about 15% of a family's
income, far above the US Department of Health and Human Services' recommended affordability of 7%.
Higher-quality childcare costs more to operate, with the costs falling on the backs of families. With the rising
cost of living, it becomes nearly impossible to afford and access high-quality care and remain in the
workforce. Arizona families are losing $3 billion per year in forgone earnings and expenses related to job
searches (ReadyNation 2023).

Attachments: Summary of Council Childcare Work Study
Summary of ELDC City of Flagstaff May 13
Childcare City of Flagstaff May 25



According to research and findings of several organizations, including First Things First,
Coconino County ranks last among Arizona’s 15 counties in having childcare resources
available for working parents. Countywide, there are fewer than 3,150 childcare center-
based slots available, while there are more than 5,150 children with all parents in the
workforce.

An absence of childcare stability has led to a $1.7 billion loss annually to Arizona’s
economy, according to the US Chamber of Commerce Foundation. In a US Chamber
survey, 62% of businesses cited childcare as a factor for why they see employees leaving
the workforce. 1 in 3 businesses said childcare issues factored into the loss of productivity
for employees.

While the number of childcare centers in Flagstaff and Greater Coconino County are very
scarce, the number of centers for infants and toddlers are very few, to the point of nearly
being absent from the regional picture. Less than 10 % of childcare providers in Flagstaff
accept one-year olds. Providers for infants through age 3 is the most difficult to find. The
standard of care is often of low quality, and the cost of childcare is equal to in-state college
tuition.

A region is typically labeled a “childcare desert” if the ratio of children to childcare slot is 3
to 1 mor more. In the Coconino Region, 7.8 times the number of infants exist than available
child care slot for infants. For 1-year olds, there is a 3 to 1 ratio for every available slot.

Sending an infant to a licensed center in Coconino is about 15 % of an average family’s
income. The costs of childcare for young children continue to increase. For infants, the
cost of licensed childcare centers increased 25% in Coconino County, 20% for 1- to 2-year-
olds, and 15% for 3- to 5-year-olds. In 2022, the median monthly costs for full-time
childcare for infants in licensed childcare centers was $945 a month, $840 a month for 1-to
2-year olds, and $735 a month for 3-to 5-year olds.

Some parents are forced to choose whether they must pay an inordinate amount of their
income for childcare, or remove themselves from the workforce so they can stay home with
their children. In Flagstaff, the city with the highest cost of living in Arizona, this dilemma
causes some very difficult decisions and excessive stress for many parents. It impacts
some parents’ ability to reliably pay rent, utilities, fill gas tanks, and it also impacts a wide
array of mental health factors, leading to increased stress, often over financial decisions.

Statistics from First Things First, using 2020 Census data, illustrate that Coconino County
has a population of 8,662 children under the age of 5. The total number of households in
Coconino County is 51, 320, of which 5,995 have more than one child.



First Things First estimates 90% of young children in Coconino County live in families with
at least one parent in the labor force, and 68% live with all parents in the labor force,
making it likely that some form of childcare is needed in these working families.

In Coconino County, 57% of children live with two married parents, 36% live with one
parent, and 18% live in their grandparents’ household. Research indicates that 1,627
children under 18 live with their grandparents. 23% don’t have the child’s parents in the
household. 60% of grandparents housing their grandchildren are 60 or older, and 24% of
grandparents have an income below the poverty threshold.

According to the Children’s Action Alliance, 16.7% of children in Arizona are living in
poverty. In Coconino County, 18.4% live in poverty. 18.5% of Arizona children live in
households with food insecurity. In Coconino County, 19% live with food insecurity.

The Arizona Department of Economic Security (DES) defines quality childcare providers as
those with Quality First rating, a national accreditation, or a Child Development Associate
Certificate, for family childcare providers. About 77% of children in the region were enrolled
at Quality First centers with a 3.5 (out of 5) rating. 4 licensed or registered childcare
providers are nationally accredited in Coconino. These providers have the capacity to serve
about 9% of the childcare capacity in Coconino.

In Coconino County, 74% of young children are not enrolled in cost-assistance programs
with the Arizona Department of Economic Security (DES), and 94% of children enrolled in
DES programs were placed in quality childcare programs. For families eligible for DES cost-
assistance programs, 9.3% of those families don’t utilize childcare assistance.

Sources:
First Things First, Coconino Regional Council, Needs and Assets Report, 2024
Children’s Action Alliance, Arizona Kids Count Data Book, 2024

US Chamber of Commerce Foundation, Employer Roadmap: Childcare Solutions for
Working Parents, 2022



TN i NORTHERN ARIZONA
<@ Early Learning and INAU U5 Es T
‘v.* Development Center

Early Learning and Development Center

The childcare crisis continues to have a significant impact on economic output, labor force
participation, career advancement and job training, and workplace productivity. A lack of childcare
stability has led to a $1.7 billion loss annually to Arizona’s economy (U.S. Chamber of Commerce
Foundation, 2022). In Coconino County, there are 5,183 children with all parents in the labor force;
however, there are only 3,147 center-based childcare slots (First Things First, 2024). The region is
considered a childcare desert for infants and toddlers, meaning there are three spots for every child
birth to two. There are almost eight times the number of infants compared to childcare slots in the
region. Aside from access, the lack of affordability presents challenges for low- to middle-class
families. Sending an infant to a licensed center in Coconino County is about 15% of a family’s
income, far above the US Department of Health and Human Services recommended affordability of
7%. Higher quality childcare costs more to operate, with the costs falling on the backs of families.
With the rising cost of living, it becomes nearly impossible to afford and access high-quality care
and remain in the workforce. Arizona families are losing $3 billion per year in forgone earnings and
expenses related to job searches (ReadyNation 2023).

Research shows that access to affordable, high-quality early childhood programs do the following:

1) Supports children in developing pre-workforce skills such as social and academic
readiness, increasing high school graduation rates

2) Allows families to engage or continue engaging in education or the workforce, making them
less likely to turn to public assistance

3) Increases employee engagement and business productivity with increased wages/profits

4) Decrease in crime and poverty for communities, building a more attractive place to live

Northern Arizona University’s Early Learning and Development Center (ELDC) is an innovative early
childhood lab school serving children, families, educators, and employers. Our unique model
provides outcomes for the following goals:

1) We provide financial assistance for student-parents so that they are fully able to engage in
their education pursuits.

2) We serve employees of NAU, allowing them to bring their child to their place of work.

3) We provide the highest quality of care, having teachers with both bachelor’s and master’s
degrees, modeling exemplary practices based in research and culturally responsive
practices.

4) We recruit and train the future early childhood workforce by offering part-time jobs,
practicum, volunteer, student-teacher, and intern placements.

5) We host workshops and professional development for preservice and in-service educators
in conjunction with early childhood faculty and experienced educators in the field.

We are currently at capacity, with a waitlist of student-parents, NAU employees and community
members. Knowing that there is a dire need for additional infant and toddler care, the ELDC has set
a goal to expand its services. To do this, the facility would need approximately $S1.7 million dollars
to add two additional classrooms, an education and community center, and a lab space for



specialized early childhood programming such as screenings and interventions. This would
increase our workforce and workforce pipeline, while also making the ELDC eligible for additional
grants and funding. We ask that regional partners, including the City of Flagstaff, consider our
request, knowing that we can provide sustaining opportunities to our community with this
expansion.

We look forward to hearing your perspectives and are excited to share more information about the
childcare crisis and our work at the ELDC.

With gratitude

Rebecca Cirzan, MEd.

Director, NAU Early Learning and Development Center
928-523-4825

eldc@nau.edu

https://nau.edu/early-learning-development-center/



mailto:eldc@nau.edu
https://nau.edu/early-learning-development-center/

Addressing the childcare crisis: a
pathway to workforce
development and engagement

Rebecca Cirzan M.Ed.

T. A‘ NORTHERN

oA ARIZONA | Early Learning
ELDC UNIVERSITY | and Development Center




The Childcare Crisis in America

"Scholarships for child care are drying up. Now families are paying the price” — AP News, April 2025
"Trump’s proposed Head Start cuts could worsen Utah's child care crisis” — Axios, April 2025

"How did childcare in the US become so absurdly expensive?” — The Guardian, March 2025  7he cuardian
"The immigration crackdown threatening to break America's child care system” —Vox, March 2025
"More families struggle to find child care after federal support dried up” — CNN, May 2024 o

"America's child care crisis: Parents struggle as facilities close nationwide due to staffing shortage” -
CBS News, 2024

"Child care crisis could worsen for millions of families across the country” — Good Morning America,

AUgUSt 2023  Good Moming America

"America’s child care crisis is holding back moms without college degrees” — U.S. News, April 2024

"Child care crisis looming if US doesn't get funding, experts warn" — WCNC, August 2023

'iA v‘v

A’V.A
ELDC



The Child Care
Crisis in Flagstaff

e Site closures

« Staff shortage
* |Less seats
« Higher rates for families

 Reduction in workforce

<@

ELDC

The child care industry is struggling.
The child care workforce has decreased by 13%

in Arizona since the start of the pandemic. '

1,700

workers

have left the
industry.




The Community
Problem

Untapped Potential, U.S. Chamber of
Commerce Foundation, 2021

Untapped
Potential in

AZ
-$51.77B

Estimated annual loss to Arizona’s
economy due to childcare issues



$ 1 l INCREASED DECREASED

| N VE ST E D | N E A R I_Y » High School faradlfation Special Education/Re.mediaftion
CHILDHOOD YIELDS A College Matriculation Dependence on Social Welfare

Economic Development * Crime-related Costs &

$1 6 R E1- U R N & Personal Income Incarceration Rates

First Things First, 2021 E LVDC



AR T
A‘v.A
ELDC



The Childcare
Landscape

Access ' ‘ Affordability ‘




The Childcare

Landscape

Access Affordability

it

Infant-
toddler
childcare
desert

48% not
enrolled
in
preschool

12% of
average
family
income

6% of
families
receive

childcare
assistance

from DES

41% are
high-

quality
programs

Bottom 8%
of quality
nationwide




Percentage of four-year-olds in preschool

States vary in whether and to what degree they provide access to preschool for four year
olds and three year olds. NIEER collects the data presented here. Click states for detail.

<10 [110-20 [ 20-30 [30-40 [40-50 =50

E LDC Map: Ed100 Lesson 4.1 - Source: NIEER 2023 - Get the data - Embed - Created with Datawrapper



The Solution




City and county early 1

LEAGUE

childhood initiatives OF CITIES

INSTITUTE FOR YOUTH,

n at i O n Wi d e EDUCATION, AND FAMILIES




Arizona cities with
funded early
childhood Initiatives




NORTHERN

IN/ALUI] ARIZONA

UNIVERSITY OBSERVE

Early Learning and Development Center

Serve a diverse population of children

Support working families

Support education attainment DEMONSTRATE
Model innovative practices

Train preservice teachers and other related
disciplines

Provide professional development to the field

Support national organizations through research
and dissemination of work

Collaborate with schools and communities




Next steps and
goals:

Create a commission dedicated to the
childcare crisis

Continue to pilot programs that
demonstrate evidence-based
outcomes that are scalable

Pave a pathway for a systemwide
approach in Flagstaff




Thank you!

Rebecca Cirzan
Rebecca.cirzan@nau.edu
928-523-4825

Nau.edu/early-learning-development-
center/

Eldc@nau.edu



mailto:Rebecca.cirzan@nau.edu

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From: Robert Wallace, Open Space Supervisor
Date: 04/10/2025

Meeting Date: 05/13/2025

TITLE:
Greater Observatory Mesa Area Trail Plan

DESIRED OUTCOME:
Provide the City Council an understanding of the Greater Observatory Mesa Area Trail Plan, offer the
opportunity to provide feedback, and prepare City Council for a future request to adopt the trail plan for
implementation via resolution.

Executive Summary:

Background

The Observatory Mesa Natural Area is a vital ecological and recreational asset for the City of Flagstaff. The
land was acquired in 2016 using voter-approved bond funds from 2004, matched with an Arizona State Parks
Growing Smarter grant. A conservation easement held by Arizona State Parks mandates that the property
remains preserved while allowing certain recreational and educational activities. The area is adjacent to the
Lowell Observatory and Coconino National Forest, making it an essential part of Flagstaff's Open Space
System.

Plan Development
The Greater Observatory Mesa Area (GOMA) Trail Plan was developed through a collaborative effort

between the City of Flagstaff, Lowell Observatory, and Coconino National Forest. The planning process
included:

¢ Reviewing guiding documents such as conservation easements and management policies.

¢ Assessing current conditions, including user-created trails and environmental impacts.

« ldentifying key issues such as archaeological sites, wildlife corridors, and fire management concerns.
¢ Incorporating public input through multiple phases of outreach and stakeholder meetings.

Plan's Purpose
The primary objective of the GOMA Trail Plan is to establish a formal, managed trail system that provides

sustainable recreational opportunities while protecting natural and cultural resources. The plan addresses:

o Habitat and watershed conservation.
¢ Unauthorized trail use and environmental degradation.
o Community demand for improved recreational access.

Public Process
The plan development involved extensive public outreach, including:

Public engagement through social media campaigns, press releases, flyers, community calendars,
property postings, physical mailer, and mass email notifications.

Three public surveys conducted in 2022, 2023, 2024.

Three public meetings at various locations in Flagstaff.

Direct engagement with stakeholders, including land managers, local neighborhoods, advocacy groups,
tribal consultation, commissions, and environmental organizations.



Trail Plan Elements
The GOMA Trail Plan outlines a phased approach to trail implementation and management. Key elements
include:

Designation of approximately 20 miles of sustainable single-track trails.

Approximately 8 miles of trail for adaptive uses.

Addition of two formal access points, bringing the total to eight.

Restoration of 4.1 miles of unauthorized trails and 10.5 miles of abandoned roads.
Development of two educational zones for interpretive signage and experiential learning.
Expansion of parking facilities and wayfinding signage.

Next Steps

Opportunity for Council input and direction

Review for potential plan adoption via resolution June 3, 2025

Arizona State Parks and Trails plan review

Develop interagency agreements with partners

Design and mark trail alignments

Cultural resource review and clearance with partners

State Historic Preservation Office review

Grant applications to support implementation

Begin phased implementation of the trail plan in FY 2028-2029 (FY 28-35)

Online Material: Observatory Mesa Natural Area Guiding Documents

o https://flagstaff.az.gov/4870/Greater-Observatory-Mesa-Trail-Plan

Information:

Plan Adoption Process

After the Council reviews and potentially provides feedback, the plan will be formally presented for adoption
via resolution tentatively on June 3, 2025. If approved, implementation will proceed in collaboration with
relevant land management agencies and partners. This comprehensive plan balances recreation with
conservation, ensuring the long-term sustainability of the Observatory Mesa Natural Area.

Attachments: GOMA Trail Plan
GOMA Trail Plan Executive Summary
GOMA Trail Map Proposal
Public Input Synthesis (phases 1-3)
Presentation



https://flagstaff.az.gov/4870/Greater-Observatory-Mesa-Trail-Plan

pen

B

"b/‘

ler

St{PffJ.

&
,

f Flag

ot

’

Q

'
1
~ s
A00 T
-l
3
1

A



\% N n.‘\

- Executive Summary

L

" Section |I: The Value of Flagstaff Trails

Section Il: Background Information

A. Goals & Objectives
B. GOMA Land Management Partners

C. Community Interest

D. Community Engagement

A. Trail Integration & Construction

B. Trail Management

C. Messaging for Trail Users
D. Trailheads & Other Access Points
E. Restoration/Adoption—Roads & Trails

F. Trail System Implementation

Implementation Plan: Priority 1

Implementation Plan: Priority 2

Implementation Plan: Priority 3

Long Term Planning

Appendix A: Current Conditions

Appendix B: Development of Trail Plan

Appendix C: Sustainable Trails

Resources

. References

e




Executive Summary

Background

The Observatory Mesa Natural Area (OMNA) is beloved by the community for its natural beauty
and recreational value. The community’s passion for our natural areas, combined with OMNA’s
close proximity to downtown Flagstaff and twelve adjacent neighborhoods, has resulted in high
use in the area, including unauthorized uses and associated impacts. The desire to address
these impacts while providing diverse recreational experiences in the area motivated the
creation of the Greater Observatory Mesa Area (GOMA) Trail Plan. The GOMA planning area is
approximately 4,000 acres, generally bounded by the mesa’s slopes on the south and east, and
OMNA boundaries on the north and west sides. The three landowners in this area, the City of
Flagstaff, U.S. Forest Service, and Lowell Observatory are partners in this Trail Plan.

The documented need for a formal trail system in GOMA guided the purpose of this

plan. Planned management actions identified in the Management Policies for Legally-
Designated Open Space Properties (2020) direct managers to “Establish a Trail System Plan for
OMNA, in partnership with adjacent landowners, state/federal agencies, local organizations,
and other stakeholders.” (page 71). The community’s interest in the property is also well
documented from the 2004 voter-approved bond initiative that allowed for the property’s
purchase, the 2017-2018 Flagstaff Trails Initiative identifying planning on Observatory Mesa as a
priority, and the over 3,000 individual comments received during this planning process.

Purpose and Goals

The purpose of the GOMA Trail Plan is to establish a formal, managed trail system that aligns
with Flagstaff Open Space Program, Coconino National Forest, and Lowell Observatory
management policies and reflects community desires to provide a balanced trail system on
Observatory Mesa Natural Area and surrounding Forest Service lands.

Our goal is to create a well-managed trail system with wayfinding signage and sustainable
alignments that protects cultural and natural resources and provides a variety of quality
outdoor recreation experiences for the community. Based on robust public input and
assessment, the plan identifies a non-motorized trail system with sustainable alignments,
updated signage, and increased access and parking. Additional details ensure healthy wildlife
habitats and cultural resource protections by establishing ecological zones, restoring
unsustainable unauthorized trails, and closing abandoned roads to reduce motorized impacts.

Plan contents

The planincludes a three-phase approach for priority implementation and a section for long
term strategies. The plan’s priorities include conceptual alignments that provide a range of
outdoor recreation experiences, management guidelines for the final completed trail system,
and recommendations for the restoration of currently disturbed areas and unauthorized

trails. The proposed trail system provides a higher density of trail loops near formal access 5



Executive Summary

points and where people use trails the most frequently, identifies longer loops for more remote
experiences, and designated areas with no new trails to protect habitat and wildlife

migration. All elements of the Trail Plan promote ecological conservation commensurate with
the Arizona State Land Department sale and can be implemented once approved and funded.

OMNA was established via a conservation easement held by Arizona State Parks & Trails. The
agreement provides that no more than 20 acres total is eligible for development (including
trails) to ensure the conservation value of the property. This proposal identifies 7.8 acres for
trail development within the OMNA boundary, for 39% of the total available 20 acres. When
considering trail development versus road and trail restoration, the net change in recreation
infrastructure on OMNA and U.S. Forest Service lands is an increase of 5.4 miles.

This proposal was created in partnership with land managers from the City of Flagstaff, Lowell
Observatory, and the Coconino National Forest. The Coconino National Forest reviewed this
trail plan, and the long-term intent is to establish a cross-jurisdictional agreement between the
Coconino National Forest and City of Flagstaff that would permit the City to implement and
maintain trails on Forest Service property. This partnership will improve trail system
connectivity, leverage resources for plan implementation, and support effective cross-
jurisdictional land management.

Lowell Observatory is interested in retaining undeveloped land within its property to benefit
the organization and the Flagstaff community. This plan includes long-term recommendations,
currently with no timeline established, for the Lowell Observatory property that can provide
passive recreation opportunities and increase connectivity for the overall trail

system. Additional long-term elements include utilizing railroad underpasses for trail
connections and conceptual Flagstaff Urban Trail alignments which will be pursued when the
timing is right for additional conversations.

The final Trail Plan will be adopted by the City of Flagstaff, reviewed by the Coconino National
Forest, and considered by Lowell Observatory when appropriate and will be used to direct
future management and trail implementation.

In summary, this plan proposes as priorities:

o Approximately 20 miles of additional natural-surfaced single-track trail.

« Approximately 8 miles of trails for adaptive uses.

« The addition of 2 more formal access points, which will result in a total of 8.

« Recommendations for trail signage for wayfinding, regulations, and etiquette.

« Additional parking and orientation for residents and visitors along Route 66 near the Public
Works Yard and at the western boundary on Forest Road 515.

o Restoration of 4.5 miles of unauthorized trails and 10.5 miles of abandoned roads.

« Implementing two educational zones for interpretive signage for the purpose of increasing
student and adult awareness of environmental, cultural, and historical significance. 4



Section 1: Value of Flagstaff Trails

Flagstaff is surrounded by forests, mountains, and canyons. This natural landscape is a
defining element in the character of the Flagstaff community. For decades, community
members and local organizations have advocated for protecting Observatory Mesa, and for
good reason. Observatory Mesa is a critical tract of land for local flora and fauna and also
provides human benefits through recreational opportunities, climate change resiliency, and
economic prosperity via tourism.

When open space is incorporated on our blocks, in our neighborhoods, and throughout our
city, the community benefits. People living in walkable neighborhoods get about 35-45 more
minutes of activity per week, leading to improved health. Parks and preserves help bring
people together across social, economic, and racial divides. Research shows open space has a
positive impact on low-income urban communities by filling gaps in health inequalities and
expanding transportation choices to give more freedom and mobility to all people. Trails also
make us a more resilient community. When open space and trails are integrated into our
community, they reduce negative impacts of urbanization such as traffic congestion, noise,
pollutants, and infrastructure deterioration. They also help prevent changes in community
character.

People experience trails in a variety of ways and time in nature is rejuvenating for many of us.
Trails physically connect us to natural landscapes and ecosystems, this connection reminds us
of our relationships with the world beyond built environments. Trails are our managed zone
of human impact on a natural area, limiting our collective imprint while thoughtfully
providing experiences for all users. Time with friends and family, peace and solitude, quiet
and contemplation, education and study, exercise, sense of discovery and adventure, joy—
this incomplete list of why people use trails illustrates the opportunities presented to the
community and the opportunities a well-managed trail system provides.

Access to trails is one of the key reasons people visit the Flagstaff community. The recent
Economic Value of Trails in Arizona (2020) survey found that over 83% of non-motorized trail
users consider trails when deciding where to visit (p. 42). Approximately 56% of in-state
travelers visiting Coconino County travel to Flagstaff to recreate outdoors (p.67-68).

As trail use increases in the Flagstaff area, responsible land management can ensure that the
landscape is protected while allowing for the enjoyment of unique outdoor experiences and
opportunities. Observatory Mesa, filling the skyline immediately west of downtown Flagstaff,
is situated in an ideal location to provide thoughtful trail use, wildlife viewing, and
environmental education close to home while protecting the natural landscape.



Section 2: Background Information

This proposal was developed to comply with policies (see references) of the City of Flagstaff and

its partners. The plan strives to be consistent with the preservation of natural and cultural
resources while providing quality and diverse user experiences for long-term land management for
all who enjoy Observatory Mesa.

The proximity to downtown Flagstaff and twelve neighborhoods provides quality access to the
entire community. The growing number of unauthorized and user created trails is adding to
environmental impacts and is evidence of unmet desires in the current trail opportunities. Trail
counters along formal trails in GOMA show use has steadily increased over time and land
managers are committed to managing this natural area for the health of the ecosystem and the
people who use it, now and into the future. Balancing conservation and resource protection with
a high-quality trail system is needed to mitigate impact and conserve this important natural
resource. Trails that are sustainably aligned and constructed while providing the range of
experiences trail users seek to encourage use along approved corridors and reduce overall impacts
to GOMA.

A. Plan Goals and Objectives

The objectives of this plan seek to align the proposed elements with the needs identified by the
community and land managers and balance the interests expressed throughout the community
engagement efforts.

Goal: Design a trail plan for GOMA based on community feedback and input, guiding policy, and
best practices of sustainable trail design.

Goal: Reduce the impacts of motorized use in the GOMA area and work toward a non-motorized
trail system.

Objectives:

« ldentify motorized incursion and non-system roads.
« Partner with land managers to implement resource impact mitigation throughout the planning
area.

Goal: Address unsustainable and unauthorized trails to improve environmental conditions in
GOMA.
Objectives:

o Assess and document unauthorized trails.
« Review each trail for sustainability and consider for adoption.



« Define trail obliteration locations where trails are deemed unsustainable.

Goal: Increase local access to the formal trail system to advance the ‘10 minutes walking distance
to open space’ goal of the City of Flagstaff.

Objectives:

« ldentify potential new access points for inclusion in the trail system based on location
feasibility (e.g., traffic implications, rights of ways, parking) and community input.

Goal: Design a sustainable trail system that addresses impacts of unauthorized recreation and
balances allowed user experiences with open space conservation.

Objectives:

« Request, consider, and incorporate community feedback to balance community desires for
outdoor recreation and resource protection.

« Design trails to align with best practices for sustainable trail design.
Goal: Provide a variety of experiences to accommodate the desires of the community.

Objectives:
« Solicit community input for trail types, locations, and desired experiences.

« Provide diverse trail experiences in terms of intended recreation use, level of difficulty, and
length.

Goal: Improve safety and wayfinding with increased signage and information for the formal trail
system.

Objectives:

« l|dentify wayfinding information, messaging, and locations for trail signage to reduce confusion
and inform the public on formal trails, legal requirements, and etiquette.

« Trail sign formatting will adhere to Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) standards


https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/77127/Open-Spaces-Commission-Strategic-Plan-Appendices-2023
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/77127/Open-Spaces-Commission-Strategic-Plan-Appendices-2023

26 ' 25 30 " 28 28
1/( !
0 City of Flagstaff, Observatory
z %, Mesa Natural Area
> Lowell Properties
J [ ] Coconino National Forest
00V 180 ’
35 R 31 < L1 public Land Survey System,
. colde Flag % Section Divisions
o
/“. 2
R Ry 8
Cheshi »: \
Park
A0 . 04
02 01 06 d s, s elvd \ \
18
5
O
o
L
3
“#,
)BSERVATORY MESA )
09
11 12 07 o
W\ e
—— Thorpe Park
4 18 i
2 b 7
aurlinglon » N5 _.:::.\I o
= < cocenf
r 71-‘:‘ -v (5} 2
City of|Flagstaff, CoconinoiCounty, County of|Yavapai, Bureau of Lahd
24 56 19 Management, Esri, HERE, Garppin, INCREMENT P, lEJ;SGS, METI/Q&SA, EPA,
USDA, Sources: Esri, Airbus PS USGSIINGA NASA, CGIARZN Robin%on,
- NCEAS, NLLS, OS, NMA, Geodétastyrelsen,“R'ijkéw terstaat, GSA, Geoland,
TG = ! | | FEJMA Intermap, an”d'.lhig?G'IS usér communityire
0.5 ~— 2 Miles 2 up » (ks
w - veETSity




B. GOMA land management partners
GOMA has a checkerboard configuration of land ownership and the multi-jurisdictional
partnership allows for trail alignments to be placed on good terrain for sustainable trails and
designed for user experiences based on the Mesa’s geography and not be limited to property
boundaries. The planning area exists in Township 21N 6E, Sections 1, 12, and 13, and Township
21N 7E, Sections 6, 7, 8, 17, and 18. The Fort Valley Connector trail (trail 5.12) extends north onto
Townships 22N 6E (Section 36) and Township 22N 7E (Section 31 ) on Forest Service lands to join
the Fort Valley trail system north of Highway 180.

Observatory Mesa Natural Area, City of Flagstaff

Bond initiative funds approved by voters in 2004 provided a match for an Arizona State Parks
Growing Smarter grant in 2013. This strategy financed the acquisition of the Observatory Mesa
Natural Area (OMNA). The Arizona State Land Department agreed to sell the 2,251 acres (Sections
6, 8, 12, 18) that now make up the area, recognizing that the property is vital to preserving
environmental and community health. Because grant funds were utilized to purchase the acreage,
the grant agreement bestowed Arizona State Parks a conservation easement over the property
that requires the acreage to be retained forever in predominantly the condition reflected in the
baseline documentation when it was purchased. The easement also includes the right to engage in
and permit engagement in recreational uses of the property, including hiking, trail running,
cycling, other forms of passive recreation, and educational and scientific study activities. The City’s
Open Space Management Plan reiterates the importance of preserving the unique conservation
values associated with the property, including open space value, unique scenic beauty, native
vegetation communities, diverse wildlife habitats, and cultural resources. Observatory Mesa
Natural Area is a day-use area, and overnight uses, including camping, are strictly prohibited.
Except for authorized use, motorized vehicles are not permitted, and therefore, planning
recommendations are solely for passive recreation. A broad array of recreational day activities are
currently available on the property, including hiking, bicycling, horseback riding, cross-country
skiing, and snowshoeing.

Lowell Observatory

Lowell Observatory was established in 1894 by Percival Lowell. The Observatory is privately owned
and operated, Section 17 being deeded to Lowell in 1910 by an Act from Congress. Though the
primary mission of Lowell Observatory is to pursue the study of astronomy and provide
astronomical educational opportunities to the public, the Observatory has always generously
permitted walkers and bikers to enjoy their property. In the early 1990's, Lowell Observatory
granted the City of Flagstaff an easement for the Mars Hill Flagstaff Urban Trail segment which
runs from Thorpe Park through the northern part of Lowell Observatory’s Property. The
Observatory is also interested in retaining substantial undeveloped space to benefit its campus
and the community. With this goal, Lowell Observatory is working with the City to dedicate the
Lowell Observatory Trail System through a long-term process on the privately owned Section 17
that would complement their campus. The Observatory supports this trail plan proposal.



Because Section 17 is the Observatory's private property, Lowell cannot guarantee any trail
recommendations in this report to be a permanent improvement of the property. At this time,
outdoor recreation and experiential education recommendations in this report are flexible, with
changes to any of the trail recommendations possible and dependent on future management and
implementation of Section 17 and Lowell Properties.

Coconino National Forest

Conceptual trail alignments are visualized on Sections 1, 7, 13, 31, and 36, and comprise 13 of the
18.5 miles of new trails proposed. The Coconino National Forest’s 2018 Forest, Land, and
Resource Management Plan (Forest Plan) provides direction for the management of the forest
surrounding Flagstaff. The Forest Plan provides integrated multiple-use and sustained yield of
goods and services from the forest to maximize the long-term net public benefits in an
environmentally sound manner. Following Forest Service directives, the Coconino National Forest
Service is interested in supporting the City by reviewing the feasibility of this trail plan proposal
and considering the plan’s approval. Upon approval, the Forest Service would conduct a cultural
and environmental analysis as required by the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and then
potentially issue a special use permit to the City to construct and maintain trails across
jurisdictional boundaries to provide the best recreational benefits to the public. The Forest Service
will also consider management options such as limiting motorized vehicle access for the Forest’s
section 7 (the section at the center of OMNA) to help support non-motorized recreation
opportunities.

Greater Observatory Mesa Partners:

4

Lowell

OBSERVATORY

C. Community Interest

A bond initiative was approved by voters in 2004 to help provide funds to acquire Observatory
Mesa Natural Area. In 2013, those funds supported an Arizona State Parks Growing Smarter grant
as match to purchase 2,251 acres “for the express purpose of preserving the unique conservation
values associated with these properties, specifically their open space value, unique scenic beauty,
native vegetation communities, diverse wildlife habitats and historical/cultural resource”.
CFOSP,2017,p.6). The community’s support for the 2004 bond fund is a testament that
Observatory Mesa is an important open space area for the entire community, in addition to
serving as a “neighborwoods” for downtown Flagstaff and nearby neighborhoods. This trail plan
proposal supports the bond approved by voters and fulfills the City’s commitment to provide
community access to open space.

10



Since the purchase and preservation of Observatory Mesa Natural Area, the community routinely
inquires about when a trail system will be planned and implemented. The Flagstaff Trails Initiative
(FTI) (2018/2019 collaborative process) completed a public survey to gain public feedback on
Flagstaff trails to develop their broader trail planning strategy. Over 1,700 public comments were
compiled and evaluated to better understand the public’s relationship to outdoor recreation in
Flagstaff. FTI prioritized the regional public comments using a set of criteria developed to reflect
the objectives of the regional trail strategy. Of the 77 recommendations for regional trail
improvements, Observatory Mesa was the focus of six of those recommendations, including:

« Construct a new stacked loop system on Observatory Mesa accessible from downtown Flagstaff
and Thorpe Park to help address local demand and reduce unauthorized trails. (priority - high)

« Connect Fort Valley and Observatory Mesa to help link two popular areas. (priority - high)

« Adopt unauthorized trails on Lowell Observatory property as part of Observatory Mesa system
improvement. (priority - high)

« Evaluate unauthorized trails on Observatory Mesa for review and inclusion or closure and
restoration to reduce impacts and redundancy. (priority - high)

« Connect Fort Valley to the Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) with a commuter route on
Observatory Mesa that partially uses existing roads. (priority - medium)

The high level of interest in Observatory Mesa as expressed by public comments and prioritized
recommendations validates the formal planning efforts underway. The community of Flagstaff
values Observatory Mesa as an asset to the quality of life of its residents and the enjoyment of its
visitors. Detailed information on the Regional Trail Strategy, interactive maps, and a complete list
of public comments and prioritization criteria can be found at: http://flagstafftrailsinitiative.org/

D. Community Engagement in the Planning Process

The City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation, Open Space, and Events (PROSE) Division contracted
with Southwest Decision Resources to design and facilitate a public engagement process for the
Greater Observatory Mesa Trail planning efforts. Public engagement has been designed in three
phases which are detailed below:

Phase 1 Public Engagement: June - July 2022

Public meeting: PROSE hosted a public meeting on Wednesday, June 29th, from 5:00 to 7:00 PM,
both virtually (via Microsoft Teams) and in person at Flagstaff City Hall, to receive public input
regarding the first draft of the Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan. The results of this public
meeting were synthesized and are available here.

Public forum: The online survey for public comments was open over a 60 day period. Comments
were processed and evaluated for plan improvements and are available here.

Phase 2 Public Engagement: May - July 2023

Phase two outreach to stakeholders and public engagement resulted in 2,913 individual topical
comments considered. Each comment was grouped into common themes for consideration.

11


https://www.swdresources.com/
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4870/Greater-Observatory-Mesa-Trail-Plan
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4870/Greater-Observatory-Mesa-Trail-Plan
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1IB8f5b2uzRNfFsf0GBZJMSh2YpSm8eEl/view?usp=sharing
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/79119/Community-Forum-Results_-stage-one-

Themes were compiled and reviewed to understand public sentiment regarding general
impressions, place-based recommendations, and responses to specific questions asked. The
synthesis of these comments is detailed here, and the online community forum results are here.

Stakeholder meetings: Prior to the 40-day public comment period (May 2023), 35 identified
stakeholder groups were contacted to discuss updates to the draft trail plan.

Stakeholder groups included:

« City of Flagstaff commissions

« Homeowners Associations adjacent to Observatory Mesa Natural Area properties

« Local environmental organizations

« Local outdoor recreation organizations

« Federal, state, and local land management agencies

Sixteen meetings were held with stakeholder groups to discuss recommendations for the draft
plan and four formal comment letters were received resulting in 42 individual comments.

Public meeting: The second public meeting was held on June 14th, 2023 from 5:00-7:00 pm at the
Flagstaff Aquaplex to receive public input regarding the second draft of the plan. There were 35
participants (not including City Staff or volunteers), and a total of 104 comments were received.

Phase 3 Community Engagement: August 2024 - October 2024

In the final phase of community engagement, PROSE
presented the Trail Plan draft based on the robust input L
received from previous community engagement and
consultation with key partners, relevant land managers,
and relevant commissions. A total of 442 individuals
responded to either the online survey or attended the
public meeting, producing 302 open-ended comments.

The third public meeting was held to discuss the trail
planning process and the resulting Trail Plan on
September 19, 2024, attended by 115 members of the [
community. The synthesis of these comments is detailed here

Tribal engagement

In addition to community outreach and engagement; environmental, cultural preservation, and
archeological staff from ten tribal governments were contacted for comments, including:

Fort McDowell Yavapai Nation San Carlos Apache Tribe
Havasupai Tribe Tonto Apache Tribe
Hopi Tribe White Mountain Apache Tribe

12


https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/77758/Phase-2-Public-Input-Synthesis_final1
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/79118/Community-Forum-Results_-stage-two-
https://flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/87596/GOMA-Phase-3-Public-Input-Synthesis_112724_Final-Draft?bidId=

Hualapai Tribe Yavapai-Apache Nation

Navajo Nation Yavapai-Prescott Indian Tribe

Incorporating feedback into the plan

Several changes to the proposed trail system have been made based on input received throughout
the planning process, including feedback from land managers, stakeholders, commissions, and the
community. Significant areas of feedback and change are detailed below.

Conservation and habitat protection

Some stakeholders and community members expressed their desire to protect the landscape and
important habitat zones on Observatory Mesa (e.g., habitat for Northern Goshawk or migration
routes for pronghorn and elk). In order to reduce the impact of a Trail system on the landscape and
habitat as well as known cultural resources on the landscape, several measures were taken:

« The buffer separating trail alignments and springs was increased from 500 feet to 1,320 feet.

« Trail concepts were removed that were near known seeps in Sections 7 and 12.

« Increased buffer from 250 to 500 feet between trail concepts and archeological sites and stock
tanks which meets or exceeds recommended distances.

« The overall trail mileage was reduced by 17% to provide more unbroken habitat areas.

Based on these community-recommended changes, neither the Arizona Game and Fish
Department nor the Coconino National Forest expressed concerns about the proposed trail plan's
impact on habitat.

Access and trail location near residential neighborhoods

Additional access points to the area have been identified through the trail planning process to
enhance walkability and access for several neighborhoods that are lacking. Some community
members expressed concerns that creating new access, putting existing access points on a map, or
creating new trails adjacent to their homes would bring additional traffic to their area and would
potentially lead to inappropriate use of the area (e.g., becoming lost on private property due to
close trail proximity). To address these concerns, proposed trails were moved further away from
private property and, to the extent possible, used the existing geography to separate private
property from the view of trails. Where access points are included on the map, clear language has
been added to clarify where parking is available or not. Furthermore, two larger access locations
have been identified away from private property (on Forest Road 515 and at the Public Works Yard
on West Route 66), and the public will be encouraged to park their vehicles there. Some access
points were removed from consideration entirely due to their location on private property and lack
of community support to provide an easement. In order to provide clear guidance to the public
about trail and access locations as well as appropriate behavior in the area, the Trail Plan includes
the proposed addition of improving wayfinding and information signage throughout the area.

13



Providing diverse recreation opportunities

Many stakeholders and community members recognized the value of Observatory Mesa as a
recreational area close to town. Many different recreational user types expressed that they
currently or would desire to use the area for recreational experiences including equestrian, hiking,
dog walking, mountain biking, cross-country skiing, snowshoeing, and e-biking. Though some
expressed a desire for single-use (e.g., hiking only, mountain biking only) trails to reduce user
conflict, in order to provide adequate access for all user types, the City of Flagstaff has determined
to designate all trails in the Trail Plan as multi-use. Existing motorized alignments within the area
will permit the use of e-bikes. Motorized travel in the planning area is limited to roads identified
as open per the Coconino National Forest’s Travel Management Rule.

Stakeholders and the community also expressed a wide range of desires for diverse recreational
experiences. Many highlighted opportunities in the area for more accessible trail design and for
differing levels of trail length and difficulty. To accommodate varying trail lengths, several loops of
varying lengths have been identified in the priority planning area for OMNA and USFS lands:

e 2-4 mile loops: 4
e 4-8 mile loops: 6
o 8+ mile loops: 4

To provide more accessibility in the trail system, several trails have been proposed to meet
adaptive mountain biking trail design standards (e.g., 40-inch width, special considerations for
obstacles that could topple an adaptive bike). Some expressed that they prefer utilizing the wider
abandoned roadbeds for recreation over creating new single-track trails (to reduce the impact of
new trail construction, to allow for walking or biking side-by-side, or to allow for adaptive
mountain biking), so several of those roadbeds have been kept in the proposed trail system.

Many mountain bikers have a strong interest in this area and stated their preference for a diversity
of trail difficulties and the inclusion of mountain biking features on some trails in the area. Such
features could include berms, sloping at strategic locations to improve tire traction, establishing
pronounced undulations such as rollers, and other features that change trail elevation for more
fun, skills progression, and trail drainage. To meet those desires while maintaining a balance of
use, all trails will be maintained as multi-use trails and will be accessible all allowed forms of
recreation. However, four trails, IDs 5.25, 5.26, 5.28, and 5.29 will include mountain biking features
and be designed to provide a range of experiences and difficulty levels. These features will not
impede the walkability of the trail, and signage will be included in the trail system to set
expectations and alert mountain bikers and non-mountain bikers to the presence of each other.

The City of Flagstaff is grateful for the robust engagement from land managers, stakeholders,
commission members, and the community. This engagement has improved the proposed trail
system to balances diverse community interests while also prioritizing the protection of open
space. The proposal detailed in the remainder of this report will allow for a well-managed trail
system that maintains sustainable and diverse uses of the area for generations to come.

14



\
Iy [
pr I\ Y X,
g
r‘/ N /
\ /
J |
iy 4
A \
4 B
Y \
(/ ey
iy ,”'
Y4
|' fl P
\ Vi @
i /
\
2.
%4
(/
[
4.2

West Historic Route 66

Priority Trail System

5N P

4
N N /\lc@Fort Valley y ‘ —

| /
/ ( AT <
7 | ‘ ar
Wes/ 71 S ¢ £
€St Historic Route 66 §

\ W === Travel route Lowell
§ £ FUTS trail OMNA
—— Existing road USFS
Existing trail A Access, existing
128 AE -=== Trail concept A Access, adopt
Lo~ - ’ —— Adaptive trail @) Proposed TH
X /il @ Education zone (%) Trailhead
b . Map displays proposed trail plan. See priority maps
S for more details. .
57 \ [T eS| }
A \ 0 025 05 1Mies 1
FR 6 i , i
g i
\

By

\-»

Mars Hi
See Long Term Planning "'
for more details @1
@2.4

15



Section 3: Priority Implementation

This section of the plan describes proposed trail construction, trailhead and parking projects,
and restoration efforts for non-system or unauthorized trails and roads. The implementation of
this integrated trail system will protect sensitive environmental and cultural resources, reduce
unauthorized and impactful activities in the GOMA, and facilitate passive recreation
opportunities to support community health and outdoor experiences.

A. Trail Integration and Construction

A field survey of existing trails and roads (both authorized and unauthorized) in GOMA
identified a number of existing unauthorized trails and roads that are being recommended for
integration into the formal trail system (see Appendix A). These segments provide increased
connectivity and different loop options within the planning area. This plan also proposes the
construction of 12 segments of new trail that further increase connectivity and provide
additional experiences for trail users. The total mileage of adopted unauthorized trails into the
system is 1.95 miles (not including long-term planning elements), and the total mileage of new
trail construction is 19.93 miles. This will increase the trail mileage of the system from its
current 5.27 miles to a new total of 27.15 miles on OMNA and Forest Service lands. Unless
otherwise noted, new trails are being proposed for 24-inch width and natural surface.
Motorized vehicles are not allowed within the planning area.

B. Trail Management

Allowed uses

This plan proposes all roads and trails to allow passive, multi-use activities. Hiking, trail
running, horseback riding, and mountain biking are allowed uses on all trails throughout the
GOMA area (horses are not allowed on the FUTS trail system).

ROCKART®

Allowed use stickers will be placed on kiosks and trail junction signs.

E-bikes will be limited to use on existing motorized alignments within the planning area. The
Open Space program will work with Coconino County to ensure consistency in trail
management in OMNA in a way that aligns with this plan’s goals. E-motorcycles are not
allowed on natural surface or FUTS trails.

16



Trail use directionality
The trail system will be multi-use and bi-directional. Each trail will be open to all allowed uses
traveling in either direction.

Adaptive mountain biking

Trail loops for adaptive mountain biking (aMTB) are identified to be
constructed at 40” in width with associated signage included at
trailheads and on relevant trail sighposts within the GOMA

area. Seven miles of new trails are proposed for aMTB use with

)

opportunities to expand mileage via FUTS trails and adopted roads. ADAPTIVE

Intended user experience
Trail and road alignments create a variety of loops to provide a Example of trail signage for

. . . s adaptive mountain bike trails
range of desirable experiences for hikers, runners, mountain bikers,
and equestrians. Loop lengths, access to interesting terrain and viewsheds, and connectivity
were considered throughout the planning area for allowed uses. See appendix C for more
information.

Four trails (5.25,5.26, 5.28, 5.29) will be designed and constructed to provide intentional
experiences for biking while remaining open to all allowed uses. Both trails are near access
points and will provide opportunities for bikers with beginner and moderate skill levels not
currently available in the GOMA planning area.

C. Messaging for Trail Users

Trailhead kiosks installed as part of this plan will include maps of the trail system and
messaging related to resource protection and proper trail etiquette. Potential messaging
elements include:

« Right of way (uphill, user types) Keep dogs on leash and clean up after your pet

o Respectful passing « Stay on trail to prevent environmental damage
« Maintaining safe speeds o Do not startle wildlife
« Show kindness for all users o Respect trail closures and restoration efforts

D. Trailheads and Other Access Points

This plan proposes that a City-owned parcel (ID 2.21 - Priority Trail System map) near the
current Public Works Yard on Old Route 66, provide space for a new dedicated trailhead to
access GOMA from the south. Current access at the southern boundary of OMNA does not
have dedicated parking for trail users. Once implemented, this trailhead can serve and be
advertised as the primary access point for trail use. Vehicle access to this area would not
require travel on residential streets and would reduce potential conflicts between residents
and trail users. The trailhead is proposed on City of Flagstaff property but is not within the
OMNA boundary, with the added benefit of ensuring that the conservation easement held on
Observatory Mesa Natural Area is upheld to “Limit development to not exceed 10% (or up to

20 acres) of the property” (City of Flagstaff Open Space Program, 2017, p.28).
17



Proposed future amenities include accessible bathrooms and parking spaces, educational
kiosks and orientation, a bike maintenance station, and recycling and trash service.

The addition of a bladed parking area at the western boundary between Coconino National
Forest Service land and OMNA (accessed from I-40 and A-1 road and Forest Service Road 515)
will provide equestrian parking and access for those that approach GOMA from the west.
Unauthorized parking is already occurring at this location, and the open and flat terrain is
suitable for conversion into a bladed parking area for dedicated access. Since this location is
within the Woody Ridge wildlife corridor, this proposal would only suggest adding a small
number of desighated spaces so that increased traffic is minimal.

The only existing formal parking area for Observatory Mesa is the Thorpe Park ball field parking
lot, which also provides parking for the Thorpe Dog Park. Parking at the ball fields and dog
park is adequate for trailhead use, but scheduled sporting events fill up available spaces and
greatly reduce available parking for trail access. The only change this plan proposes for this
parking area is the addition of sighage to guide users to the appropriate trail access.

It is important to note that the City of Flagstaff performed an open space access analysis in
2018 in an effort to determine where improvements are needed to meet the City’s goal of
providing a 10-minute (1/4 mile) walking time to access open space from residents’ front
doors. While the above additions help improve access to some of the GOMA, the railroad line
at the southern boundary and private lands bordering the focus area are challenges that
restrict adding additional access to a few locations. Private Property to the east and north of
the focus area also limit new points for access along that corridor. Authorized access points
proposed will not provide public parking areas.

Series ID

Existing Access Description

Access Retention Proposal

1.1 Thorpe Park ball field parking lot located on N Thorpe Rd, Continue to permit use. Improve
Trail Head | Flagstaff. signage from parking.
1.2 Joe C. Montoya Community & Senior Center. (245 N Thorpe |Continue to permit use. Improve
Trail Head | Rd, Flagstaff). This parking serves the senior center. It signage from parking area.
provides some parking for trail users.
2.1 Mars Hill FUTS pedestrian access. N Thorpe Rd, Flagstaff. Maintain existing access point. Install
Access Near Thorpe Park ball field parking lot. trail kiosk.
2.2 Tunnel Springs FUTS pedestrian access. Located in the Maintain existing access point. Install
Access Railroad Springs neighborhood (Railroad Spring Blvd. & trail kiosk, recommend parking at
Adirondack Ave., Flagstaff). trailheads.
2.3 Flagstaff Loop Trail pedestrian access. Located in the Anasazi | Maintain existing access point. Install
Access Ridge neighborhood (N Tillie Ln.). trail kiosk.
2.4 Mars Hill FUTS pedestrian access. At Joe C. Montoya Maintain existing access point.
Access Community & Senior Center. (245 N Thorpe Rd).

18




E. Restoration or Adoption of Trails and Road Beds

The GOMA contains approximately 24 miles of unauthorized trails and informal roads. The
long-term plan proposes to restore and naturalize approximately 14 of these miles.

Existing road and trail alignments were evaluated for their location, system connectivity,
sustainability and condition, and value to the community (see Appendix C for more
information). Alignments included for adoption met the following criteria:

« Are not located in sensitive environmental areas
o Are not located near cultural resources

« Are maintainable with respect to alignment, tread stability, and potential for new or
improved drainage

« Are meeting un-met desires of the community for outdoor recreation in GOMA per
community comments

Where identified, trail and road restoration efforts are recommended to restore the original
environment by de-compacting travel ways, performing slope recovery to remove the physical
benches, replacing organics to encourage moisture retention and seed propagation, and
implementing signage to inform trail users of closure areas. For purposes of this report, only
Road IDs 4.5 and 4.34 are not currently administrative roads and are proposed for adoption
and maintenance.

The Fort Valley Connector (Recommendation #47 of the Flagstaff Trails Initiative's Regional
Strategy, 2019) identifies a roadbed connection between the Fort Valley neighborhood and
downtown, passing through the GOMA area. General maintenance on identified roadbeds is
recommended for OMNA and USFS lands with signage for the commuter route. The
commuter route will remain natural surface with drainage and surface improvements being
the primary recommended efforts.

Trail & Road Bed Totals: Priority Proposed Trail System

Road/Trail Type Mileage to Mileage to Mileage to Total Mileage
Maintain  Adopt/Maintain Decommission

Existing Authorized Trails 5.27 5.27
Existing Unauthorized Trails 1.95 4.23 6.18

New Trail Construction 19.93
Existing Road Beds 12.35 1.27 10.46 24.08
Total Proposed Roads & Trails 40.77
Total Roads & Trails for 14.69
Decommissioning

19



F. Trail System Implementation

The prioritized trail system improvements detailed on the following pages follow these
implementation guidelines. Implementation plans will require ground-truthed trail corridors
and approvals from land management partners.

1. Design all proposed trails and recommended reroutes.
« Ground truth and flag trail system additions for the review and approval process.
« Update planning maps with changes for future official trail maps.

2. Formally adopt all unauthorized trails and roads proposed for system inclusion.
« Install trail system signage at all junctions for wayfinding and mileage.
« Update trail maps on the City of Flagstaff website, FTI website, and trail apps.
« Maintain and/or reroute trails to improve sustainability.

3. Formally adopt access points proposed for system inclusion.
« Install official 'Trail Access' signage with relevant information, including allowed trail
uses.
« Update trail maps on the City of Flagstaff website, FTI website, and trail apps. Only
include adopted access points on or near Lowell properties with approval.

4. Construct proposed parking areas for system inclusion.
« Establish authorized parking prior to closing unauthorized trails/roads and trail
construction.
« Installtrail system signage or kiosks in new parking areas.
« Update trail maps on City of Flagstaff website, FTl website, and trail apps.

5. Construct proposed trails per the recommended priority order.
« Upon completion of trail construction, install official trail signage at all junctions,
including adopted trails.

« Note: Priority trails are organized to assist with funding efforts and may not reflect actual
implementation.

6. Decommission roads and trails proposed for removal.
» Install official 'Trail Closed' sighage.
» Physically close start and end points using boulders, downed trees, vertical mulch, or
other appropriate materials.
o De-compacttravel way to 4-6 inch depth.
« Fullfillrecovery of single-track trails to re-establish cross slope.
« Utilize native seed placement and install erosion control if necessary.

7. Perform annual trail assessments and maintenance on completed trails to preserve
sustainability and prevent larger-scale trail damage. Assessments and maintenance should
be performed in spring (April/May) or fall (September/October) each year.
» Assess the trail system for drainage functionality, changes in tread width, tread stability,
and user-created damage. Record notes and spatial data to assist maintenance efforts.

o« Perform trail maintenance based on assessed trail conditions.
20



Implementation Plan: Priority 1

Priority 1 efforts improve the formal trail system near existing and authorized access points to
create additional loops, provide established trails for education zones, and improve access for
the portion of the Mesa that receives the most use. Implementation plans focus on adding
value to the current system without eliminating trails or access currently used by the
community.

1. Maintain Loop Trail, Construct Priority 1 Trails:
a. Maintain Flagstaff Loop Trail - ID 3.3 (2 miles):
Improve drainage, re-establish consistent width, | Trail Maintained: 2 miles
remove loose rocks, armor 2 locations east of Trail Constructed: 7.8 miles
OMNA boundary
b. Construct ID 5.1, 5.26 (1.98 miles): Near FUTS
Mars Hill and Tillie Lane Loop Trail access.
c. Construct ID 5.2, 5.25 (2.18 miles): Short loop Access Points Adopted: 1
opportunities near FUTS Tunnel Springs. Parking Constructed: O
d. Construct ID 5.5 (2.64 miles): Connects new trails
and FUTS alignments in the Mesa interior.
e. Install trail wayfinding signage, top and bottom of
trails.
2. Connect Lower Coconino St. with FUTS Tunnel Springs
a. ID 2.15 (W Lower Coconino St): Install trail access signage at the existing but
unauthorized access point.
b. ID 5.21: Construct single track trail between FUTS Tunnel Springs and Lower Coconino
St. using a waterline easement along the western portion of the alignment (1 mile).
3. Formally Adopt and Maintain Trails:
a. Perform trail maintenance and re-routes on trails 3.10, 3.35, 3.36, 3.37 (1.95 miles).
b. Construct re-route 5.27 to avoid Lowell properties (0.24 miles)
c. Install trail wayfinding signage, top and bottom of trails.
4. Install ‘No Public Trail Access’ signage at Kinlani Road
a. Encourage trail users to utilize authorized access points at Thorpe Park.

Priority 1 Snapshot

Trail Adopted/Improved: 1.95 miles
Roads Adopted/Improved: 0

Trails Decommissioned: O
Roads Decommissioned: 0

21



Priority 1

W
1 6
{12
13\
\ 4

West Historic Route 66

FUTS trail

— Existing road
—— Existing trail, maintain
—— Trail construction
A\ Access, adopt
(%) Trailhead
.~ Lowell

OMNA

USFS

Map labeling is used to display all
proposed efforts for priority 1 on

this map.

T T T
2 Miles

Z
[V
( 2

\

W .
€St Historic Route 66

22



Step Series ID

1 3.3 Existing

Priority 1 Description

Flagstaff Loop Trail, 2 miles.

Proposal

Remove loose rocks, improve

Authorized drainage, re-establish width,
Trail construct rock armoring east of
OMNA boundary.
1 5.1 Creates a loop with the Loop Trail near |Low to moderate construction
New Trail the near Tillie Ln. access point. intensity.
Purpose: Exercise/Loops. 1.48 miles.
1 5.2 Gains elevation at a reduced grade Moderate construction intensity.
New Trail west of FUTS Tunnel Springs. Purpose:
Loops. 0.93 miles.
1 5.5 Meandering trail connecting both Low construction intensity well
New Trail Priority 1 trail systems. Purpose: suited for mechanized
Solitude/Loops. 2.64 miles. construction.
1 5.25 Creates a loop with 5.2 along the Moderate construction intensity.
New Trail south slope of the Mesa. Purpose:
Exercise/Loops. 1.25 miles.
1 5.26 Creates short loops with 3.10 and Moderate construction intensity
New Trail FUTS Mars Hill. Purpose: Exercise/ on a sustainable cross slope.

Loops. 0.5 miles.

2 2.15 Access

West Lower Coconino Ave.

Formalize access point on W.
Lower Coconino Ave, install
signage. No parking provided.

2 5.21 New
Trail

Connection between FUTS Tunnel
Springs & Lower Coconino St.
Purpose: Connectivity. 1 mile.

Alignment subject to discussion

with land owners and their
approval.

3 3.10 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Mars Hill alternative (Meadow Trail).
Trail is well constructed and provides a
loop from Thorpe Park. 0.75 miles.

Adopt and maintain with
improvements. May be
reviewed as a potential FUTS

3 3.35 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Existing alignment connects FUTS
Tunnel Springs with trails 3.36 and
3.37. 0.14 miles.

Adopt and maintain portion
within OMNA to connect 3.37
with FUTS Tunnel Springs

23




Step Series ID

Priority 1 Description

Proposal

3 3.36 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

User created single track trail. Aligned
near bottom of drainage. 0.42 miles.

Adopt and sign as part of formal
trail system with drainage
improvements, tread widening

3 3.37 Existing
Unauthorized

Adopt to provide multi-use
experiences east of FUTS Tunnel

Adopt and sign as part of formal
trail system with drainage

users to access OMNA at appropriate
locations.

Trail Springs. 0.64 miles. improvements, tread widening
and re-routes.
3 5.27 Re-route trail 3.37 to avoid Lowell Moderate construction intensity.
properties and connect to trail 3.35.
Purpose: Connectivity. 0.24 miles
4 Sign Promote authorized use and improve |Install signage at the base of
Installation  |community safety by encouraging trail | Kinlani Rd, prior to the Dorm

property to deter drivers going
to OMNA by driving through the
property.

24




Implementation Plan: Priority 2

Priority 2 emphasizes additional trail parking while completing new trail construction,
adopting existing roads, and decommissions user created trails.

In addition to formalizing access points implemented during Priority 1, expanded parking
areas proposed for Priority 2 will reduce congestion at Thorpe Park while providing desirable
access to newly constructed trails. System expansion intends to disperse trail use while
decommissioning unsustainable trails will support land management directives and define
user experiences.

Priority 2 Snapshot

1. Construct Trail Head at APN: 11201001E (ID 2.21):

The primary trail head for expanding parking beyond Trail Maintained: 3.27 miles

I : Trail Constructed: 12.13 miles
Thorpe Park will give trail users valuable access
Trail Adopted/Improved: 0 miles

Roads Adopted/Improved: 13.62 miles

Access Points Adopted: 1

options west of the Flagstaff Public Works yard.
2. Construct Trail Head at FR 515 (ID 1.3): Trail users

seeking expansive views and greater sense of

. . . . ) Parking Constructed: 2
solitude will be provided passive recreation access

Trails Decommissioned: 4.23 miles
along the western boundary of OMNA.

Roads Decommissioned: O miles

3. Construct Remaining Trails and Maintain Existing

Trails:

a. Construct IDs: 5.7,5.8,5.12,5.28, 5.29 (12.13 miles) to complete trail expansion.

b. Maintain IDs: 3.1, 3.2 (3.27 miles). FUTS Mars Hill and Tunnel Springs trails will receive
maintenance and re-surfacing in eroded areas.

c. Install trail wayfinding signage, top and bottom of trails.
4. Formalize Access Point: Update signs and wayfinding at ID 2.7

5. Adopt Priority 2 Roads: Adopted roads on OMNA and USFS lands will expand non-
motorized travel and provide administrative access for maintenance and fire fighting.

IDs: 4.1, 4.2,4.3,4.4,4.5,4.34,4.41 (13.62 miles). Increase signage, fencing and public
outreach to communicate that motorized use is prohibited on OMNA lands.

6. Decommission Trails: Close junctions, de-compact trail beds, perform fill slope recovery
where needed, replace organics, and install ‘Trail Closed—Healing in Progress’ signs to deter
use.

IDs: 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.38, 3.39, 3.44 (4.23 miles)

25



Priority 2

(%) —— Trail construction
= Trail constructed/maintained
——— Trail, decommission
FUTS trail
=——— Road, maintain
A\ Access, adopt

(%) Trailhead
| Lowell
4 OMNA
2 USFS

= Map labeling is used to display all
| proposed efforts for priority 2 on
this map.

-

Z
I &
[ =

\

West Historic Route 66

/ S
I S
7 &5 I ! | | §:9
0 olsiial i/ 2 Miles ! e IS -
St Historic Route 66 §

26



Step SeriesID

Priority 2 Description

Proposal

1 2.21 APN: 11201001E (50.29 acres)-the |Construct a parking area to

Trail Head parcel north west of the Public accommodate 25-30 vehicles, consider
Works yard on West Route 66. bathrooms, bike repair station,
interpretive panels.

2 1.3 West Forest Service Road 515 Construct a small aggregate parking area
Trail Head access to OMNA. to accommodate 10 vehicles. Install
(Equestrian) '‘Motorized Access Prohibited' signage

and fencing.

3 5.7 New Trail | Single track connects the west Moderate to high construction intensity.
boundary with ID 5.5 and provides | Consructed to eliminate the needs for
longer distance loops. Purpose:  the numerous road beds in the area.
Solitude/Exercise. 2.83 miles.

3 5.8 New Trail | Loop opportunity with 5.7 and Moderate construction intensity.
provides access to interesting Completes southwest loop network.
terrain. Purpose: Solitude/

Exercise. 2.29 miles.
3 5.12 New Connects the Greater Observatory |Low to moderate construction intensity
Trail Mesa trail system with the Fort well suited for mechanized construction.
Valley trails north of Highway 180 |Coordinate with ADOT to install ‘Trail
to expand trail connectivity in Crossing’ signs at Highway 180 prior to
Flagstaff. Purpose: Connectivity. construction.
5.51 miles.
3 5.28 New Creates additional loop Moderate construction intensity.
Trail opportunities in Section 13 with
trails 5.7 and 5.8. 0.65 miles.
3 5.29 New Creates additional loop Moderate construction intensity.
Trail opportunities in Section 13 with
trails 5.7 and 5.8. 0.85 miles.
3 3.1 Existing | Tunnel Springs FUTS segment. Complete all trail repairs.
Authorized |1.75 miles. Overall good
Trail condition, some erosion needs to
be addressed.

3 3.2 Existing | Mars Hill FUTS segment, 1.52 Complete all trail repairs and consider
Authorized |miles. Steep grades along the trail |the proposed reroute (0.74 miles).

Trail will benefit from proposed reroute

27




Step SeriesID

Priority 2 Description

Proposal

4 2.7 Access FR 506 and OMNA Boundary. Maintain existing access point. Install 'No
Motorized Access' signage.
5 4.1 Existing  |Hidden Hollow Pipeline Road. | Sign and Maintain for administrative
Road 5.43 miles. access and outdoor recreation.
5 4.2 Existing |FR 506. 1.27 miles. Substantial |Sign and Maintain for administrative
Road erosion west of Matson Tank. access and outdoor recreation.
5 4.3 Existing | FR 515a. 1.05 miles. Sign and Maintain for administrative
Road access and outdoor recreation.
5 4.4 Existing  |FR 515. Provides administrative | Sign and Maintain for administrative
Road access and non-motorized access and outdoor recreation.
recreation on the west side of
OMNA. 3.49 miles.
5 4.5 Existing | Existing Road. For non- Sign and Maintain for passive use. Install
Road motorized use on the west side |way finding and 'non-motorized use only'
of OMNA. 1.08 miles. signs.
5 4.34 Existing | Connects FR 515 and 515a. 0.83 | Adopt and sign for additional option in
Road miles. this area.
5 4.41 Existing | Existing road bed north of Hwy |Adopt, install directional trail signs to
Road 180. Connects trail 5.12 to Fort |direct users to and from the Fort Valley
Valley trail head. 0.46 miles. trail head.
6 3.4 Existing | Connector trail partially located | Decommission - Mechanized
Unauthorized on an old road bed. USFS land,
Trail Section 7. 0.68 miles.
6 3.5 Existing User created trail connects Decommission - Hand. Maintain gate.
Unauthorized | Matson Tank to private property
Trail to the north. 0.15 miles.
6 3.6 Existing | User created trail in drainage. Decommission - Hand
Unauthorized Connects to old road bed and
Trail private property to the north.
0.17 miles.
6 3.7 Existing | User created trail begins and Decommission - Hand
Unauthorized |ends at private property fences.
Trail 0.37 miles.
6 3.8 Existing | User created trail connecting Decommission - Mechanized

Unauthorized
Trail

the Loop Trail with FR 515. 0.58
miles

28




Step SeriesID

Priority 2 Description

Proposal

6 3.9 Existing Single track on or parallels road bed. Decommission - Mechanized
Unauthorized [0.27 miles.
Trail

6 3.38 Existing | User created trail descends from the Decommission both segments.
Unauthorized northwest corner of Section 17 to meet |Install 'Trail Closed' sign, de-
Trail FUTS Tunnel Springs. 1.28 miles. compact soil, full fill recovery.

6 3.39 Existing | Aligned on an old road bed, near the Decommission. Install 'Trail
Unauthorized |Mars Hill/Tunnel Springs junction. Short | Closed' sign, de-compact soil, full
Trail connection to other user created trails. | fill recovery.

6 3.44 Existing | User created trail from Westridge. Decommission all trail braids—

Unauthorized
Trail

Multiple trail braids present. 0.47
miles.

Hand

29




Implementation Plan: Priority 3

Priority 3 will complete the Greater Observatory Mesa trail plan. All unsustainable and
unauthorized roads will be decommissioned to reduce motorized incursion into OMNA lands,
restore wildlife habitat, and discourage future motorized impacts in the area.

1. Decommission Roads: Close junctions, de-compact road beds, fill slope recovery, replace
organics, install road closed signs. Consider barriers if motorized incursion continues.

a. IDs:4.16,4.17,4.18,4.19, 4.20,4.21,4.22,4.23,4.24, 4.25, 4.26, 4.27, 4.28, 4.29, 4.30,
4.32,4.33 (10.46 miles)

Priority 3 Snapshot

Trail Maintained: 0 miles

Trail Constructed: 0 miles

Trail Adopted/Improved: 0

Roads Adopted/Improved: 0

Access Points Adopted: 0

Parking Constructed: 0

Trails Decommissioned: O

Roads Decommissioned: 10.46 miles

30



Priority 3

4

= Trail constructed/maintained

FUTS trail
= Road, maintained
-—— Road, decommission

A Access, adopted

(%) Trailhead

| Lowell
OMNA
USFS

Map labeling is used to display all
proposed efforts for priority 3 on this

q Z
[V
{3

\

N
Wi :
€St Historic Route 66

31



Step SeriesID

Priority 3 Description

Proposal

1 4.16 Existing |Along south OMNA boundary. 1 mile. | Decommission - Mechanized
Road

1 4.17 Existing | Little used road bed- parallels FUTS Decommission - Hand
Road Tunnel Springs. 0.29 miles.

1 4.18 Existing | Connects to FUTS Tunnel Springs Decommission - Mechanized
Road north of water tanks. 0.7 miles.

1 4.19 Existing |Short road connection from ID 4.18 | Decommission - Mechanized
Road and the Pipeline Road. 0.17 miles.

1 4.20 Existing | Prominent road between FUTS Tunnel Decommission - Mechanized
Road Springs and FR 515. 1.65 miles.

1 4.21 Existing | Light motorized use. dead ends twice ' Decommission - Mechanized
Road in the southwest corner of the Mesa.

1.69 miles.

1 4.22 Existing | Decommission to improve trail Decommission - Mechanized
Road experience. 1.44 miles

1 4.23 Existing | Eroded connection south of FR 515 Decommission - Mechanized
Road on Forest Service land. 0.44 miles.

1 4.24 Existing | Road bed connects to ID 4.23. 0.56 Decommission - Mechanized
Road miles.

1 4.25 Existing | Road enters OMNA lands west of ID | Decommission - Mechanized
Road 4.25. 0.66 miles.

1 4.26 Existing | Road connection between FR 515 and  Decommission - Mechanized
Road ID 4.5. 0.27 miles.

1 4.27 Existing | Motorized user created road, dead Decommission - Mechanized
Road ends at a fire ring. 0.06 miles.

1 4.28 Existing | User created road, ends at boundary |Decommission - Mechanized
Road fence to the north. 0.61 miles.

1 4.29 Existing | Well established road bordering Decommission - Mechanized
Road Section 7 on the west. 0.26 miles

1 4.30 Existing | Well established road. 0.56 miles. Decommission - Mechanized
Road

1 4.32 Existing |Short road connection to private Decommission to OMNA Boundary,
Road property. 0.02 miles. repair fence - Mechanized

1 4.33 Existing | Short fall line road connecting to Decommission to OMNA Boundary,
Road unauthorized trails. 0.08 miles. repair fence - Mechanized 32




Long Term Planning

At this time, elements of this trail plan require additional conversations before funding and
implementation can be pursued. The following map and tables detail the plan elements that will be
pursued when the timing is more appropriate and implementation efforts can be sequenced

accordingly.

The City of Flagstaff intends to re-new conversations with relevant jurisdictions to pursue the full
intent of this plan when pertinent. The planning elements below are recorded for future approvals

and implementation strategies.

/\ Long Term Access
— Long Term Road
— Long Term Trail
——— GOMA Roads/Trails

- GOMA Proposed Trail
= - Long Term New Trail
| ===~ Conceptual FUTS
> GOMA Rd Decom
,'l i Long Term Rd Decom
GOMA Trail Decom
v Long Term Trail Decom
OMNA

] UsFs
| Lowell Properties

+

0 0.130.25 0.5 Miles
/”_’
¢ -
’ s = - -
< -
e N
¢ 7 o ~
> 520 ¢

T
e
o
Jnion Pacifi

Long Term Planning Map

Kittredge Rd

N

2 Dr

W HoganDr

_________

N Curling Smo ke

3.15hoffe Park

.12

0o A€
o

k0 A
{

S A
e &l% 3

UL NN
'1'9; it

~C|ty of Flagstaff Coconlno County, County of Yavap‘cu Bureau of Land
Manage.ment JEsri, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, Intermap, USGS METI/NASA,
EPA, USDA Sources: Esri, Airbus DS, USGS, NGA, NASA? CGJAR N Robinson,
NCEAS, NLS, OS, NMA, Geodatastyrelsen, Rukswaterstaat QSA -Geoland, FEMA,
“ Intermap and the;GIS~user commumty

) 3

|
rdan R

a eSS

33



Series ID

Long Term Description

Proposal

2.13 Access Lower Mars Hill Road. Formalize. Provides an additional access

point near Thorpe Park.

2.14 Access Mars Hill Road overlook. Install 'No Trail Access' signage.

2.18 Access Formalize access utilizing FUTS Existing underpass provides users access
Santa Fe trail. Engineering will be | to OMNA without using FUTS Tunnel
required. Springs. Provides loops/educational

opportunities in the area. Subject to
discussion with BSNF and their approval.

2.20 Access Existing underpass is the closest Subject to discussion with BSNF and their
OMNA access point to the approval.
proposed Railroad Spring trail head
(APN: 11201001E). Formalize with

2.23 Access Access near W Grand Canyon Ave. | Install 'No Trail Access' signage At Lowell
Little used, requires crossing property boundary.
private property.

3.11 Existing |Short Connection from FUTS Mars |Adopt as part of formal trail system with

Unauthorized
Trail

Hill to road beds at the northeast
corner of Section 17. 0.11 miles

minor drainage improvements.

3.12 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Thorpe Park Mid Slope Traverse.
Provides loop option from Thorpe
Park with additional connection at
Mars Hill Road. 0.52 miles.

Adopt. Subject to discussion with Parks &
Rec Department and their approval.
Maintain existing alignment.

3.13 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Redundant with ID 3.12 and
provides no additional value to
system. 0.08 miles.

Decommission. Install 'Trail Closed' sign,
de-compact soil, full fill recovery.

3.14 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Steep, fall line trail with no ability
to maintain for sustainability. 0.14
miles.

Decommission. Install 'Trail Closed' sign,
de-compact soil, full fill recovery.

3.15 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Thorpe Mesa Access. Provides
access to the top of the Mesa and
Lowell Properties. 0.04 miles.

Adopt only the upper .04 miles to
connect to trail 5.19.

34




Series ID

3.16 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Long Term Description

Thorpe Park Mesa Crest. Additional
loop with ID 3.12 for short hikes
from Thorpe park. 0.28 miles.

Proposal

Adopt. Establish consistent trail width,
improve drainage, add way finding
signage Decommission south of ID 3.18
junction.

3.18 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Thorpe Traverse Connector. Trail
connection between ID 3.12 and
3.16. 0.16 miles.

Adopt. Reroute to reduce grades and
improve switch back.

3.19 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Confusing network of social trails
off Mars Hill Road at ID 2.14. 0.27
miles

Decommission - Hand

3.20 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Narrow and steep trail. .06 miles

Decommission - Hand

3.23 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Southeast Lowell Single Track.
Provides road bed connections to
enhance loops near Lowell
Observatory. 0.26 miles.

Adopt. Minor drainage improvements
needed. Reroute sections to establish
drainage.

3.25 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Two short, user created cut off
trails near access ID 2.15.0.12
miles.

Decommission - Hand

3.26 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Trail descends steeply just west of
Lower Coconino St. with minor
features for bikes. 0.31 miles.

Decommission - Hand

3.27 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Narrow, little used trail traverses
mid slope on the south side of
Lowell properties, terminating at
two locations on Lower Coconino
St. on the east. 0.62 miles

Decommission end points and at
junctions - Hand

3.28 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Southern Mesa Trail, Section 17.
Provides a valuable trail with view
sheds to the south. 0.59 miles.

Adopt. Minor drainage improvements
and remove downed trees. Good
alignment overall but minor reroutes
needed to reduce grades.

3.29 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

South Section 17 Connector.
Provides enhanced loop
opportunities from Lowell
Observatory Mesa. 0.24 miles

Adopt. Realign to utilize nearby cross
slopes to improve sustainability. Establish
consistent 48" trail width with minimal
obstacles, desirable tread features,
improve drainage, add way finding and .
adaptive MTB signage.




Series ID

Long Term Description

Proposal

3.30 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Short connection linking 2 road
beds and access to views to the
south. 0.06 miles.

Adopt. Maintain for drainage
improvements.

3.32 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Provides access to the trail system
from Access ID 2.18 east of FUTS
Tunnel Springs. 0.38 miles.

Decommission—Hand. Realign away
from bottom of drainage and replace
with trail 5.18

3.33 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Unsustainable trail with no
connections identified for
adoption. 0.40 miles

Decommission - Hand

3.34 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Southwest Loop, Section 17. Loops
options to rejoin FUTS Tunnel
Springs or access other trails.
Remove 0.25 miles of trail to avoid
important wildlife area. 0.43 miles.

Adopt. Well built and in good condition.
3 sections are steep but short,
necessitating reroutes. Improve drainage
throughout.

3.35 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Lower Tunnel Springs Connector.
Provides access and loops from the
bottom of FUTS Tunnel Springs.
0.49 miles.

Adopt the lower 0.23 miles to connect
with recommended reroute of 3.34 to

avoid wildlife area. Decommission 0.26
miles.

3.40 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Provides important connection at
the west side of Section 17. 0.56
miles.

Adopt. Establish consistent 36" trail
width with minimal obstacles, desirable
tread features, add way finding and
adaptive MTB signage. Frequent drainage
needed throughout but in maintainable
condition.

3.41 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Short connection between east-
west roads, Section 17. 0.33 miles.

Adopt. 24 drains needed or small
realignments within 100 ft. of trail to
improve condition. Decommission short
connection between east-west roads,
Section 17.

3.42 Existing
Unauthorized
Trail

Short connection on Lowell
properties, 0.14 miles.

Adopt. Reroute to establish on cross
slopes. Establish consistent 36" trail
width with minimal obstacles, desirable
tread features, improve drainage, add
way finding and adaptive MTB signage.

4.6 Existing
Road

Road parallels FUTS Mars Hill on
the north side of Section 17 for

loops from the Observatory and
Thorpe Park. 1.07 miles.

Sign and Maintain for passive recreation
and adaptive MTB use. Remove large
obstacles, improve drainage.

36




Series ID

Long Term Description

Proposal

4.7 Existing Northeast corner of Section 17, Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road connects FUTS Mars Hill to the and adaptive MTB use, south segment.
Observatory. 0.46 miles.

4.8 Existing Provides loops for Thorpe Park Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road trails, Lowell Observatory and FUTS |and adaptive MTB use. Remove large
Mars Hill. 0.31 miles. obstacles and improve drainage.

4.9 Existing Looping road from the new Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road proposed parking at Lowell and adaptive MTB use. Remove large
Observatory. 1.41 miles. obstacles and improve drainage.

4.10 Existing | Valuable connection from the Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road Observatory to the downtown view |and adaptive MTB use. Remove large
point. 0.29 miles. obstacles and improve drainage.

4.11 Existing | Loop creation and connects the Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road Observatory to Lower W Coconino | and adaptive MTB use. Remove large
St. 0.83 miles. obstacles and improve drainage.

4.12 Existing |Short connection from the Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road Observatory - south. 0.2 miles. and adaptive MTB use. Remove large

obstacles and improve drainage.

4.13 Existing | Connects to system from the Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road Observatory to the southwest. 0.17 |and adaptive MTB use. Remove large
miles. obstacles and improve drainage.

4.14 Existing | Connects single track for adoption |Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road to the interior of Section 17. 0.7 and adaptive MTB use. Remove large
miles. obstacles and improve drainage.

4.15 Existing |Short connection from Section 17 | Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road to FUTS Mars Hill. 0.3 miles. and adaptive MTB use. Remove large

obstacles and improve drainage.

4.35 Existing |Short, forked road segment from | Decommission - Mechanized

Road existing trail access, Lowell
Observatory. 0.09 miles.

4.36 Existing | Road parallels ID 4.9. 0.47 miles. Decommission - Mechanized

Road

4.37 Existing |Southern Section 17. 0.53 miles. Decommission - Mechanized

Road

4.38 Existing | Northwest corner of Section 17. Decommission - Mechanized

Road

0.20 miles.

37




Series ID

Long Term Description

Proposal

4.39 Existing | Looping road segment, redundant 'Decommission - Mechanized

Road to proposed trail system. 0.97
miles.

4.40 Existing |Southwest corner of Lowell Sign and Maintain for passive recreation

Road properties. 0.41 miles. and adaptive MTB use. Remove large

obstacles and improve drainage.

5.14 New Trail |Short Connector trail east of the Subject to discussion with BSNF and their
FUTS Tunnel Springs underpass, approval.

0.11 miles.

5.15 ADA Trail |Accessible trail from Lowell visitor | Construct FUTS style, soft surface trail to
center, provides educational ADA guidelines with educational panels.
opportunities. 0.28 miles.

5.16 ADA Trail |Accessible trail , longer loop Construct FUTS style, soft surface trail to
connecting to ID 5.15. 0.54 miles. | ADA guidelines with educational panels.

5.17 New Trail |Short re-route of trail 3.34 to Moderate construction intensity—Hand
reduce grades on Section 17. 0.15
miles.

5.18 New Trail |Sustainable re-route of trail 3.32. | Moderate construction intensity—

0.58 miles. mechanized

5.19 New Re-route of trail 3.15. 0.2 miles Moderate construction intensity close to

Trail town for volunteer events.

5.20 New Trail |Short Connector trail west of the | Subject to discussion with BSNF and their
FUTS Tunnel Springs underpass, approval.

0.17 miles.

5.22 Planned |Proposed Lowell Trail. Future discussions with the FUTS

FUTS trail program for implementation.

5.23 Planned |Proposed FUTS Mars Hill reroute. | Future discussions with the FUTS

FUTS trail program for implementation.

38




Appendix A: Current Conditions— Greater Observatory Mesa

This section of the plan describes and displays the existing conditions in the Greater Observatory
Mesa Area (GOMA), including existing roads, trails, trail heads, parking areas and signage. Some of
the trails, roads, and parking areas are authorized uses and some are unauthorized and are
therefore proposed to be either naturalized or adopted into the formal trail network. The map
below summarizes these existing conditions.

Summary of Existing Trails

The Greater Observatory Mesa Area serves as local access to nature for the Railroad Springs, West
Village, Flagstaff Mesa, Flagstaff Townsite, Westridge, Ridge Crest, Anasazi Ridge, and Cheshire
neighborhoods. Subsequently, the area receives substantial recreational use due to its proximity to
these neighborhoods and the downtown area. Additionally, the site is heavily used by the broader
Flagstaff community. As a result, the area shows the effects of un-managed recreation and public
use, including visible signs of deterioration and degradation, such as a proliferation in user-created
trails, off-road vehicle damage, and trail width expansion.

Currently three designated authorized trails (5.8 miles) provide some access to the GOMA. However,
a 2019-2021 comprehensive survey of the area identified approximately 15 miles of user-created
unauthorized trails. This network of illegal trails, created from the desire for recreational
opportunities, can be highly impactful to sensitive resources and confuse users.

The current designated trail system provides minimal
access to only two out of the four sections owned by the
City, and minimal access to Lowell Observatory's private
property. The existing designated trails will require some
repair and maintenance, as portions of the trail system
have seen trail widening and braiding due to user intensity
and weather events. Overall, existing formal trails are
mostly adequate when considering condition and
alignment, and are important to remain.

Table & Map Series ID Labels Explained

1 Existing Parking Areas

2 Non-Motorized Access Points

3 Existing Trails

4 | Existing Roads

5 Proposed Trail Alignments ID 3.10: A well built but unauthorized trail connects
the Loop trail to the Mars Hill FUTS segment. This
6 Existing Signage trail is labeled for adoption on the Proposed Trail

System map.

39



Current Conditions— Greater Observatory Mesa

| Lowell (Private Property)

[ 1 usFs

Access Points (Series 2)
@ Authorized

© Unauthorized

B Signs (Series 6)

Road (Series 4)
Trails (Series 3)

Authorized Trail
FUTS Trail

— Unauthorized Trail
Observatory Mesa Natural Area

[
0

T T T T T T T
0.5 1

(= W Kaibat T
[+ 4

- c

o O

i — Northern
- Arnzona
=
w

University

City of Fi’eli'.gj'st'a‘f‘f,;goconino County, @ounty of Yavapai, Bureau of Land
lanagement, Esri, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, lntermle_zpﬁllL‘JSzG“S,' METI/
NASA, EPA, USDA, Sodirees: Esri, Airbus DS, USGS, NGA'NASA, CGIAR, N |
binson, NCEAS, NLS;*©S, NMA, Geolfz':].atastyrelsen,‘r‘Rijkswaterstaat, GSA,-.»,I-"'-'“

Geoland, FEMA, Intefrpap, and the GIS user commurnity

%6 1, 7




B. Existing Parking

Existing authorized parking is limited for the GOMA. The parking lot at the Thorpe Park ball fields
currently provides the only formal public parking area to access the mesa. This de-facto trailhead is
well suited to access the FUTS Mars Hill trail segment but lacks appropriate trail and way finding
information for users. Though the Joe C. Montoya Community & Senior Center parking area is not
identified as a formal parking lot, it provides some supplementary parking and access. Lowell
Observatory has continued to allow the community to park near their visitor center on private
property, though no formal trail access is available there either. In addition, two unauthorized
parking locations are being utilized.

Series ID Parking Status  Description/Location Condition
1.1 Authorized Thorpe Park ball field parking lot Adequate parking to
Trailhead located on N Thorpe Rd, Flagstaff. accommodate users

difficult during events.

1.2 Authorized Joe C. Montoya Community & No needs identified.
Trailhead Senior Center (245 N Thorpe Rd,
Flagstaff). Serves the senior center
and tennis courts and provides
some parking for trail users.

1.3 Unauthorized West Forest Road 515 access to Parking is taking place on
Parking OMNA. Users are parking near vegetation.
regulation sign just inside the
boundary of OMNA.
1.4 Unauthorized East Forest Road 515 and N. Users often block OMNA
Parking Westridge Road, a private road with 'gate and access via a
no public access. private road.

ID 1.4 & 2.5: Unauthorized access on N
Westridge Road. Trail users often park in
from of the gate blocking emergency access
to the Mesa.




C. Existing Non-Motorized Access Points

Six authorized access points provide non-motorized admittance. Two of these points have
parking available, Mars Hill and Thorpe Park. Some residents of nearby neighborhoods,
including Railroad Springs, West Village, Flagstaff Mesa, Flagstaff Townsite, Westridge, Ridge
Crest, Anasazi Ridge, and Cheshire, are within a 10-minute walkable distance (1/4 mile or less)
to one of these access points.

Series ID Access Status Description/Location Condition

2.1 Authorized Mars Hill FUTS pedestrian access. N |Needs directional routing
Thorpe Rd, Flagstaff. Near the and signage.
Thorpe Park ball field parking lot.

2.2 Authorized Tunnel Spring FUTS pedestrian Good condition. No needs
access. Located in the Railroad identified.

Springs neighborhood (Railroad
Spring Blvd. & Adirondack Ave.,

Flagstaff).

2.3 Authorized Flagstaff Loop Trail pedestrian Good condition. Installing a
access. Located near the Anasazi trail kiosk recommended.
Ridge neighborhood (N Tillie Ln.,
Flagstaff).

2.4 Authorized Mars Hill FUTS pedestrian access, Needs directional routing
behind the Joe C. Montoya and signage.

Community & Senior Center. (245 N
Thorpe Rd, Flagstaff).

2.5 Unauthorized Flagstaff Loop Trail pedestrian Install ‘no public trail
access via east Forest Service Road |access’ signage at the base
515. (N. Westridge Road Flagstaff). | of Kinlani Road.

ID 1.3: Guidance displayed on this sign
prohibit motorized used on OMNA lands but
signage language does not explicitly prohibit
this use.

42



D. Existing Trails

Accessible Trail Review: The three existing formal trails do not meet the requirements outlined
by the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) guidelines, nor does the parking facility at Thorpe
Park allow people with mobility impairments access to existing trails. ADA accessibility
limitations are due to extended linear grades that exceed accessible design guidelines and
exclude them from consideration. “When extreme or numerous conditions for exceptions make
it impracticable to construct a trail that complies with the technical requirements, the entire
trail can be exempted from complying with the technical requirements.” (Access Board, 2014,
Exceptions 1 & 2). Accessible trails are considered in the Long-Term Planning section.

The following trail segments were recorded during the 2021 field season, additional user created
trails are likely on the current landscape.

Series ID Trail Status Description/Location Condition

3.1 Authorized Tunnel Springs segment FUTS Overall good condition, some
segment. 2.4 miles. erosion needs to be

addressed.

3.2 Authorized Mars Hill FUTS segment. 1.4 miles. |Overall good condition, some
erosion needs to be
addressed.

33 Authorized Flagstaff Loop Trail. 2 miles. Routine trail maintenance
recommended. Erosion
damage east of OMNA
boundary needs rock armoring
at 2 sites.

3.4 Unauthorized |Connector trail partially located on | Narrow, lacks drainage and

an old road bed. USFS land, Section |does not utilize cross slopes.
7.0.68 miles.

3.5 Unauthorized |User created trail connects Matson |Poorly aligned on the fall line
Tanks to private property to the with no drainage.
north. 0.15 miles

3.6 Unauthorized |User created trail in drainage. Poor alignment and narrow.
Connects to road bed and private | Little used.
property to the north. 0.17 miles.

3.7 Unauthorized |User created trail begins and ends | Does not benefit public trail
at private property fences. 0.37 use. Poorly aligned in drainage
miles. with moderate soil excavation.

3.8 Unauthorized |User created trail connecting the Narrow and lacks drainage.
Loop Trail with FR 515. 0.58 miles. |Little damage from erosion.

43



Series ID Trail Status

Description/Location

Condition

39 Unauthorized |Single track on or parallels road Fall line alignment with no
bed. 0.27 miles. drainage.

3.10 Unauthorized | Known as the 'Thorpe Gully', Single track is well constructed
partially constructed single track on |but needs more drainage.
the hillside, partial road bed. Provides a short loop and
Parallels FUTS Mars Hill trail. 0.75 | disperses use away from the
miles. FUTS.

3.11 Unauthorized |Short connection with FUTS Mars | 24" tread width, good
Hill south to Lowell. single track. condition buts needs
0.11 miles. additional drainage.

3.12 Unauthorized |Traversing trail above Thorpe Park, |Sustainable alignment and
connecting Mars Hill Rd with FUTS | opportunities from Thorpe
Mars Hill. Well built and rangesin | Park. Recommend widening
width from 24 - 48". 0.52 miles. north section for consistent

width and more drainage.
Signage and connections to
Thorpe Park needed.

3.13 Unauthorized |Short, redundant trail. North half is |Redundant alignment to ID
road bed, south half is single track. |3.12.
0.08 miles.

3.14 Unauthorized |Steep single track provided access |Poorly aligned on steep fall
to Lowell from Thorpe Park. 0.14 line with no drainage.
miles. Redundant.

3.15 Unauthorized |Provides same connection as ID Steep and on the fall line.
3.14. 0.13 miles. Extensive reroute needed to

provide valuable connection.

3.16 Unauthorized |Parallels ID 3.12. Creates additional |Narrow, 18" tread. Good
loops near Thorpe Park. 0.28 miles. |construction. Minor reroutes

and more drainage needed.

3.17 Unauthorized |User created trail. Narrow and Lack drainage, redundant.

3.18 Unauthorized | Connects upper and lower Steep, narrow, little used.
traversing trails above Thorpe Park .  Reroutes needed.

3.19 Unauthorized |A maze of social trails from the Confusing network with no

overlook on Mars Hill Rd, accessing
a rock feature in the drainage and
road beds on the mesa. 0.27 miles.

clear destination. A formal trail
to the 'waterfall' can be

established to limitimpact. ,,




Series ID Trail Status

Condition

Description/Location

3.20 Unauthorized | Narrow and steep trail connecting Little used, crosses private
Lowell properties with W Grand property to access Lowell
Canyon Ave. 0.06 miles. properties.
3.21 Unauthorized |Narrow and steep, Parallels ID 3.21. |Little used, crosses private
0.08 miles. property to access Lowell
properties.
3.22 Unauthorized |Single track at eastern edge of Mesa. | Provides quality viewpoint of
Accessed from Lowell Observatory or |downtown. Better trail
the Mars Hill Rd. overlook. 0.26 definition and established
miles. overlook recommended. Trail
needs consistent width and
20 drains but is in good
condition.
3.23 Unauthorized |User created trail connecting the east | Little used and narrow,
edge of the Mesa with interior road |aligned mostly on cross
beds. 0.26 miles. slopes or on the flats. Minor
reroutes to improve drainage
and tread width needed.
3.24 Unauthorized |User created single track connects 18-24". Good condition.
road beds on Lowell properties.
3.25 Unauthorized ' Two narrow trails cut off road bed Little used, but redundant.
trails near the access point on Lower
Coconino St. 0.12 miles.
3.26 Unauthorized |Trail descends steeply just west of Steep fall line trail with
Lower Coconino St. 0.31 miles. minor constructed features
for bikes. Poorly aligned.
3.27 Unauthorized |Narrow, little used trail traverses mid | Likely a wildlife trail
slope on the south side of Lowell originally, evidence of limited
properties, terminating at Lower human use.
Coconino St. on the east. 0.59 miles.
3.28 Unauthorized |Single track trail along rim of Mesa, | Good alignment and in
south side of Lowell properties. 0.59 | decent condition. Minor
miles. reroutes and drainage
improvements needed.
3.29 Unauthorized |Single track connection between Half the trail is a 6" deep rut.

road beds, south central zone of
Lowell properties. 0.24 miles.

Does not use cross slope.

Reroute to align on hill side.
45




Series ID Trail Status

Condition

Description/Location

3.30 Unauthorized |Short connection linking 2 road beds |Good condition, but needs 6
and views to the south. 0.06 miles.  |drains.

3.31 Unauthorized |Provides valuable connection No cross slope and fall line
between roads. 0.14 miles. alignment, reroute for

drainage.

3.32 Unauthorized |Constructed single track aligned in Enjoyable but short trail.
drainage. Connects top of mesa with |Aligned in the bottom of the
rail-road access road. 0.38 miles. drainage but well built.

3.33 Unauthorized |Eastern third of trail is bench cut, Potential as a valuable trail.
northwestern section is seldom used. | Awkward western junction
0.4 miles. needs substantial reroute.

3.34 Unauthorized |Traversing single track around the Well built and in good
southwest edge of Lowell properties. |condition. 3 sections are
0.43 miles. steep but short.

3.35 Unauthorized |Bottom of trail connects to FUTS Well constructed and only
Tunnel Springs. Aligned in and near a |needs minor drainage
drainage. 0.49 miles. improvements.

3.36 Unauthorized |Constructed trail uses drainage near |Trail aligned near the bottom
FUTS Tunnel Springs. 0.43 miles. of drainage.

3.37 Unauthorized |Recently constructed traversing trail | Narrow trail, traverses before
connecting FUTS Tunnel Springs with |losing elevation quickly.

ID 3.35. 0.64 miles.

3.38 Unauthorized | User created trail descends from the |Poorly aligned trail follows
northwest corner of Section 17 to fence line then meanders
meet FUTS Tunnel Springs. 1.04 through a meadow,
miles. contributes thistle spread.

3.39 Unauthorized  Aligned on an old road bed, near the |Fall line alignmentin a
Mars Hill/Tunnel Springs junction. meadow.

Short connection.

3.40 Unauthorized |User created single track that uses In good shape overall, but
terrain for drainage. 0.67 miles. needs improved drainage.

3.41 Unauthorized |User created trail connects east-west |24 drains or small re-
road beds in Section 17. alignments within 100 ft. of

trail needed.

3.42 Unauthorized |Short connection near south edge of |6" deep rut, difficult to drain.

Section 17. 0.14 miles.

46




E. Existing Road Beds

Within the OMNA and Lowell Observatory's private property, 35.31 miles of recreation
opportunities are placed on old roadbeds or utilize portions of old roadbeds that allow users to
create loops and extend their experience. From a planning perspective, roadbeds act as
connections to other trail use opportunities, but do not necessarily provide high-quality
experiences. Roadbeds often have straight alignments and do not provide changing view sheds nor
an intimate connection with the natural world. Current roadbeds do provide land managers access
for maintenance and ensure wildland fire personnel access to manage forests and fight potential
forest fires.

Roadbeds throughout the GOMA trail area are proposed for either adoption or decommissioning in
this report. The Forest Service holds easements for several roads on the OMNA property, many of
which have been closed to public motorized use as part of the Travel Management Rule (TMR)
process. Due to resource constraints, these “closed” roads are not signed or physically blocked off,
and visitors are required to reference an updated Travel Management Map to know if roads are
open or closed to public use. Decommissioning closed Forest Service roads by physically blocking
them generally requires approval through the National Environmental Policy Act planning process
of the Coconino National Forest. This process is not necessary for decommissioning roads not
included in the Forest Service network. Based on the 2011 Coconino National Forest Travel
Management decision, motorized retrieval of big game is limited to Forest Service roads that are
designated as “open” under the Travel Management Rule. Motorized cross-country travel to
retrieve game is expressly prohibited under the Arizona Game and Fish Department hunting
regulations.

Un-managed public use has resulted in a maze of unofficial roads that are often unnecessary and
lead to dead ends. Some of these are causing : R e b
erosion, degrading habitat, and facilitating illegal
dumping. Parameters of the conservation easement
for OMNA limit public use to activities that do not
materially degrade the property’s conservation
values. Therefore, this proposal’s content focuses
only on providing passive recreational benefits
within OMNA and neighboring lands to support the
preservation of the natural environment. The
conservation easement held by Arizona State Parks
for the OMNA permits no more than 20 acres total
to be developed.

B S i

ID 4.7 (north end): Junction with FUTS
Mars Hill on Lowell property is well located
to create loops from Thorpe Park.

47



Condition

Description/Location

4.1 |North-south road running the length of the Mesa |Steep in some locations with erosion
for pipeline maintenance. damage and abundant loose rocks.

4.2 |FR 506. Primary road on north side of Mesa. Road is in good shape, one of the main
Connects lands to the west with interior. contributors to motorized use on OMNA.

4.3 | FR515a. Access to the Mesa from N Westridge | Traveled by non motorized users to access
Rd. access and parking. Watson Tank.

4.4 |FR515. Traverses Mesa from the west boundary |Mostly in good condition, some erosion
to N Westridge Rd. and wide sections.

4.5 |Creates loop for trail users at the west boundary | Will benefit from improved drainage along
of Section 7 to interior of the mesa. fall line and steep sections of road bed.

4.6 |East-west traverse, north zone of Section 17. In good shape but will benefit from
Provides separation from FUTS Mars Hill. frequent drainage.

4.7 |Road connects FUTS Mars Hill to the planned In good shape but will benefit from
Lowell Observatory facilities. frequent drainage.

4.8 | East-west road connecting trails at Thorpe Park | Fall line alignment needs frequent
with the north central area of Section 17. drainage and narrowing.

4.9 |Loop road system in the interior of Section 17. Frequent drainage needed.

4.10 |Road connects Lowell Observatory parking area | Mostly in good shape, will benefit from
with a view point of downtown. improved drainage.

4.11 Road south- Lowell parking to Lower Coconino St. | In good shape, improved drainage needed.

4.12 |Creates a loop with ID 4.11 from Lowell parking | Mostly in good shape, will benefit from
to Lower Coconino St. improved drainage.

4.13 |East-west road in south of Section 17. Steep areas need frequent drainage.

4.14 |North-south road connecting the southern rim of |In good shape, will benefit from improved
the Mesa with the interior of Section 17. drainage.

4.15 |North-south road at the northwest corner of In good shape, needs improved drainage.

Section 17. Connects to FUTS Mars Hill.

F. Existing Signage There is minimal signage supporting the 5.8 miles of formal trail, primarily
posted at previous vehicle entry points to prevent illegal use. See Current Conditions map, page 11.

« 6.1 Regulation/Recreational signs - posted at main access points to educate the public about
site regulations and recreational opportunities.

« 6.2 Directional Indicators — posted along trails to assist users to stay on designated trails.

« 6.3 Boundary signs — posted along the Observatory Mesa Natural Area to notify users of
entering a protected area with regulations to deter illegal use and facilitate enforcement.

« 6.4 Motorized Vehicles Prohibited — posted at historic vehicle access points to deter illegal

use and facilitate enforcement.

48




Appendix B: Development of the Trail Plan

The purpose of the City’s purchase of Observatory Mesa Natural Area and the directive outlined in
the Arizona State Parks’ held conservation easement is to assure that the Property will be retained
forever in predominantly the condition reflected in the baseline documentation when the Property
was purchased. This directive is to prevent any use of the Property that will significantly impair or
interfere with conservation values. The conservation easement confines the use of the Property to
passive recreation compatible with the maintenance of the Property’s conservation values. OMNA
is restricted from development that would exceed 20 acres total. Any proposed work must be
approved by Arizona State Parks before implementation. Rights reserved in the conservation
easement, include the right to engage in, or permit or invite others to engage in, all uses of the
Property that are not expressly prohibited and
are not inconsistent with the purpose of the
easement. This includes the right to engage in
and permit engagement in recreational uses of
the Property, including hiking, horseback riding,
cycling, and other forms of passive recreation,
and the ability to engage in and permit others to
engage in educational and scientific study
activities.

These directives were closely considered during
the development of this proposal and
recommendations were developed to balance
preservation and recreation. This plan applies a
1,320-foot buffer around springs, a 250 foot
buffer around stock tanks, a 500 foot buffer
around all archaeological areas (sites and
isolated occurrences), general avoidance of the
Northern Goshawk post fledgling area, and
general avoidance of the Woody Ridge wildlife
corridor. The following topics were considered

during the development of this proposal to

prevent or limit impact. ID 3.28. User created trail, south side of Lowell

Private Properties.

49



Resource Protection & Trail Concepts

441

.4
— /\@Fort Valley ‘ =

Resource protection area

=== Travel route = Lowell
FUTS trail OMNA
— Existing road USFS

A Access, existing
A\ Access, adopt

—— Existing trail
-=== Trail concept

(Sl T2
/ ——— Adaptive trail () Proposed TH
i (%) i
A @ Education zone () Trailhead
N Map displays proposed trail plan. See priority maps
N\ for more details. .
\ T M EEET T A
6 ‘. 0 025 05 1 Miles 2T
FR ! N
515/4 / 2{3 %
: y 3.3 \
\/’ - y,
) L X \

\

Cd
¢ S
¢ . UTS Mars Hi
l\ (oQk\
\, 5.28% See Long Term Planning
\ for more details o
- N
i 17 o
d ; ‘ 2:4
NS <4 5.27 ‘
Ve) ‘\\’
7 '.
\ 7
~——<o S~ s
 —— 7/
\ ‘/ 521 v 215
West Historic Route 66 2.2 Se Ii;
/ &
278 8 &
T T T T T . J &
(I) 55 : ; Miles jLW | —~ ( §
€St Historic Route 66 §

50



i. Ecological Summary

Geographically, the Observatory Mesa land form is located on the Coconino Plateau within the San
Francisco Volcanic Field. Ranging in elevation from 7,050 to 7,560 feet, it is defined by moderately
steep slopes rising from the surrounding area and capped by a relatively flat plateau.

The over-story of Observatory Mesa is comprised primarily of Ponderosa pine, with small pockets of
Gambel oak. During a recent field inventory, a small number of Douglas fir trees were also identified
on north-facing slopes. The under-story shrubs and grasses are mostly composed of: Arizona rose,
Arizona fescue, mountain muhly, western wheat grass, blue grama, squirrel tail, silver lupine, and
Rocky Mountain iris (CFOSP,2017,p. 73). Despite the absence of perennial streams, Observatory
Mesa has a variety of springs, seeps and drainages that make it important to the Rio de Flag
watershed (CFOSP,2017, p.67). Seasonally available water sources within the OMNA support a
variety of seasonal and year-round species.

The location, water sources, and vegetative biodiversity of Observatory Mesa provide for a variety
of wildlife habitats and “provide essential resources for diverse wildlife, including: elk, mule deer,
pronghorn, grey fox, several species of squirrels, chipmunks and other small mammals, porcupine,
mountain lion, black bear, various species of bats, turkey, raptors including red-tailed hawk, sharp-
shinned hawk, and several owls, migratory and resident songbirds, and reptiles and amphibians
such as chorus frogs and short-horned lizards”(CFOSP,2017,p.81). The undeveloped lands along the
western portion of Section 12 of OMNA and beyond are considered an important wildlife corridor
connecting habitat on the San Francisco Peaks with lands along the Mogollon Rim to the south.
Known as the Woody Ridge corridor, the area provides numerous species with access to seasonally
available resources throughout the year. The Arizona Game and Fish Department’s Species and
Habitat Conservation Guide identifies the majority of Section 12 as “the highest wildlife
conservation potential” (Arizona Game and Fish Department, 2012, p.50) due to its proximity to the
Woody Ridge wildlife corridor. The corridor frames the Mesa to the west and provides habitat for
special status species, including Northern goshawk, Mexican spotted owl, and bald eagle and are
known to utilize the Mesa during their life span (CFOSP,2017, p.67).

51



i. Ecological Summary

Wildlife Corridor & Habitat Value

F
.

/ﬂommm
/  Adzons

Unwersity

fagstaff
\.

\\—/'//

Zis-Milton-Rg

April 17, 2020 1:87,872

0 0.75 1.5 3 mi
B [ | S T S T

I T T T T T 1 T T

- . 0 1 2 4 km
Wildlife COnneCthlty Low Value Sources: Esri, HERE, Gamin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS,
FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri
M High Value
mloseth

Wildlife Corridors and Habitat Value of Observatory Mesa Natural Area (shown in purple) and
surrounding area. Map courtesy of Arizona Game and Fish Department's Online Environmen-

tal Review Tool: https://azhgis2.esri.com/

52



ii. Sensitive Watersheds and Springs

There are several significant first order ephemeral streams/drainages which flow to the north
and west into the Rio de Flag, and to the south into Clay wash which flow directly into the Rio
de Flag. Two intermittent streams in Section 6 are tributaries of the Rio de Flag. Another
intermittent stream in the northeast quarter of Section 8 flows to the east into the Rio de
Flag. Section 12 has three intermittent streams, one of which feeds into Belle Spring in the
adjacent Forest Service section. Section 18 has an intermittent stream that originates from
Tunnel Spring. Sections 6 and 8 also contain ephemeral water sources that feed Matson Tank
on the adjacent Forest Service section. These intermittent streams make Observatory Mesa
Natural Area an important component of the Rio de Flag watershed. Watersheds support
habitat for plants and animals with a greater variety of vegetation. Efforts to avoid watersheds

were deliberate.

)1

z y
76 y 3
%
- <
( RN ?/3//
i Y Selen
! " N J4;
| N ‘\/\4 Fort Valley
: \ %)
) A
/ & Spring
y === Travel route Lowell
FUTS trail OMNA
—— Existing road USFS
—— Existing trail A Access, existing
-=-=-= Trail concept A Access, adopt
y ~— Adaptive trail (@ Proposed TH
@ Education zone (/) Trailhead
Map displays proposed trail plan. See priority maps
for more details. .
[T R R e |
0 "M0:25 0.5 1 Miles 7L
/ ®h
y 3.3 \
\’4 — -
- (
4

-
o
/ ‘?-10

TRy

See Long Term Planning (4
for more details 5y

Z 17 e

)
“ : ‘g’ 24
O I S |
= :,l i 335 ‘
! ~ /!
n sl \ P

(WIS 2 -
é g 52 L Y
- 7 A \,‘ 52,7 2215
West Historic Route 66 @ 22 & ,;
(3
AT - &
7 S T /i T T T T T ] + ! S
S
2 05 1 2 Miles -
West Historic Route 6 ;

53



iii. Sensitive Species

Northern Goshawk Habitat

Observatory Mesa is ideal habitat for the northern goshawks, which rely on habitats composed of
tall, old-growth trees with intermediate to heavy canopy coverage (often more than 40%) and
minimal density of undergrowth. In 1993, a post fledgling area (PFA) was identified by the Forest
Service. The PFA spans across City, Forest Service, and Lowell Observatory properties. In 2016, the
Forest Service located two northern goshawk nest trees in Section 6 of the Natural Area. Though a
PFA has not been formally identified, the drainage area was deferred from the mechanical cutting
area to protect the sensitive species.

Post-fledgling areas (PFA) are typically 600 acre areas surrounding a nesting site, that are used by
young goshawks before being independent of parents. Northern goshawks are protected under the
Migratory Bird Treaty Act and are listed as “Species of Concern” (CFOSP,2017, p.83). In North
America, several non-governmental conservation organizations petitioned the Department of
Interior, United States Fish and Wildlife (1991 & 1997), to list the goshawk as “threatened” or
“endangered” under the authority of the Endangered Species Act. Both petitions argued for listing
due to historic and ongoing nesting habitat loss, specifically the loss of old-growth and mature
forest stands throughout the goshawk’s known range. The northern goshawk is also listed in
Appendix Il of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species.

Research indicates that high levels of noise often causes nesting failure during the critical incubation
stage. Arizona studies show that nests within 50 to 100 m (160 to 330 ft) of active logging failed.
Other noisy activity, such as camping, can cause nest failure. To avoid disrupting the northern
goshawk trail alignments are limited in the PFA boundary and avoid all nest stands to reduce human
interaction. In addition, mechanized or hand construction of trails in the PFA area will avoided
during breeding season; March 1 - September 30, to reduce loud noises that may disrupt natural
behavior (CFOSP,2017, p.83).

Bat Species Habitat

Six sensitive bat species have been identified within a 5-mile radius of Observatory Mesa, requiring
habitat consideration. Bats tend to roost in snags, tree cavities, downed logs, or rock piles. Bats
generally forage along forest edges, forest roads, trails, or natural openings, Additionally, they
prefer a heterogeneous forest structure, and rely on clean, pooled, open bodies of fresh water as
their water source. Trail alignments avoid water sources and will limit disruption to snags and
downed woody debris.

54



iv. Cultural Resources

In 2013, the city of Flagstaff worked with Cornerstone Environmental Consulting, LLC to complete a
cultural resource survey for OMNA. One site from the Formative Period (A.D.400-1542) was
identified and contains a moderate density of prehistoric flaked stone. During this time, the Sinagua
people occupied arable soils near the upper Rio de Flag along the northeastern edge of Observatory
Mesa (Edwards et al,2013, p.5). The survey relocated two previously recorded sites (neither
recommended for National Register), and discovered four additional sites, and twenty isolated
occurrences (all ineligible for National Register of Historic Places). The survey also identified 25
historic resources. Sites are predominantly euro-American refuse scatters from 1915-1955. The
expansion of ranching and logging followed the arrival of the railroad. According to the Coconino
National Forest, Observatory Mesa was logged between 1926 and 1928, but similarly to many
adjacent areas, was likely logged prior to 1900 as well. The Mesa was also used for grazing during
this period, and artifacts near Tunnel Spring show evidence of ranching during the 1930’s and
1940’s (Edwards et al.,2013, p.10).

Cultural resource protection has been carefully considered. Regardless of resources at each site or
occurrence, a 500-foot buffer was established around all archaeological areas within OMNA. The
Forest Service has conducted a preliminary review of trail alignments on the Coconino and have not
come across any concerns. Archeological surveys and clearances of the proposed trail corridor
would be obtained prior to ground disturbing activities. State Historic Preservation Office review
and approval would be necessary before implementation. The scope of archaeological support
services for this project would include (1) pre-work consultation with the Arizona State Historic
Preservation Office (SHPO); (2) field assessment of the trail work proposed within the boundaries of
and within 50 feet of the project area’s archaeological sites; (3) documenting any archaeological
materials within the trail right-of-ways and marking any areas for avoidance from ground
disturbance; (4) conduct post-treatment inspections for the trail work occurring within and adjacent
to sites; and (5) prepare a brief technical memorandum for submittal to the City and SHPO.

55



V. Arizona State Parks and Trails Conservation Easement

In accordance with the conservation easement held by Arizona State Parks, no more than 20 acres
total may be eligible for alteration or development and no changes may be made to the parcel that
would seriously or negatively affect its conservation values. This proposal identifies 7.865 acres of
OMNA for trail development within the Natural Area boundary, approximately 39% of the total
available 20 acres.

Project Acres

Forest Restoration and Thinning Projects (EXEMPT) 1,255
Rain Gauge 0.25
Westridge Gate 0.05
Matson Gate 0.05
Kiosks (4) 0.10
Dog Waste Bag Dispenser 0.05
Existing Trails (includes FUTS and Loop Trail on OMNA lands) 2.14
TOTAL APPROXIMATE ACREAGE CURRENTLY DEVELOPED 2.415
Proposed Trail Installation & Adoption 3.63

Proposed Supporting Infrastructure (5 kiosks (0.2/sign), 4 cultural protection (.01/ 0.72
sign), 5 non-motorized (.01/sign), ~ 15 trail markers (.01/sign), 14 interpretive (.02/
sign), 5 temporary notice boards (.02/sign)).

Proposed Parking area at West Boundary 1
CURRENT & PROPOSED ACREAGE DEVELOPED AT 100% IMPLEMENTATION 7.865
APPROXIMATE REMAINING ACREAGE WITH TRAIL SYSTEM AT 100% 12.135
IMPLEMENTATION

Arizona State Park grant funds were utilized to purchase Observatory Mesa Natural Area. The grant
agreement bestowed Arizona State Parks a conservation easement over the Property that requires
the acreage to be retained forever in predominantly the condition reflected in the baseline
documentation when it was purchased. The conservation easement also necessitates the right to
engage in, or permit or invite others to engage in all uses of the Property that are not expressly
prohibited and are not inconsistent with the easement’s purpose. The easement includes the right to
engage in and permit engagement in recreational uses of the Property, including hiking, horseback
riding, other forms of passive recreation, and the ability to engage in and permit others to engage in

educational and scientific study activities.
56



vi. City of Flagstaff Open Space Program Directives

The Flagstaff Open Space Section’s Management Plan for Legally-Designated Open Space properties
contains detailed recommendations for proper management of OMNA. There are 5 overarching
management goals for legally-designated open space properties:

1. To maintain, restore, and enhance the natural ecosystem processes of these properties,
including watershed health (including intermittent streams), forest structure, native plant
communities, and rare habitat types.

2. To protect cultural resources present within these properties.

To maintain and protect diverse and healthy wildlife populations.

4. To provide opportunities for public use of these properties through passive recreational use,
resource interpretation, education, scientific research, and other compatible activities in a
manner that is consistent with the preservation of the conservation values of the site and the
management goals.

5. To maintain and develop partnerships that facilitate resource management, stewardship, and
conservation.

w

This proposal will uphold Open Space Section goals in the following ways:

Encourage users to recreate in approved locations.

Restore unauthorized trails and closed roads.

Reduce visitor travel in watersheds, rare habitats, wildlife corridors, and cultural site areas.
Provide passive recreational opportunities for multiple user groups.

Provide additional access points to provide additional 10-minute community walking access time
to open space.

Advance land use planning that minimizes the distance people have to travel by car by
promoting transportation by biking and walking.

7. Partners with Coconino National Forest, Lowell Observatory, neighboring property owners, and
the community to design and implement a trail plan that preserves the landscape and provides
recreational opportunities.

nhwhNne

o

57



Appendix B: vii - x

vii. Scientific Education

The potential for developing scientific education for K-12 programs, graduate education, life-long
learning, and applied research on forest and grassland restoration is outstanding given the rich
natural resources of the location. Potential local educational partners including Willow Bend
Environmental Education Center, Northern Arizona University Centennial Forest, Lowell
Observatory, Museum of Northern Arizona, Flagstaff Unified School District, Coconino Community
College, and Coconino National Forest.

Developing educational signage and interpretive panels that highlight the biology, natural history,
regional cultural landscapes and astronomy within the first 3 miles of trail heads and especially
throughout trails on Lowell properties can create intentional educational opportunities that reflect
the values of the community at large.

viii. Recreational Uses

Recreational trails will be highly compatible with conservation purposes and environmental
education. Careful design and signage will protect natural and cultural resources by guiding visitors
along paths to minimize impacts to sensitive resources. Perimeter viewing areas with interpretive
signage will be designed to provide public opportunities to experience and learn about wildlife.
Partnering with Arizona Game & Fish Department will offer opportunities to develop a Watchable
Wildlife program that will enhance the public’s enjoyment of the area.

ix. Management Considerations

Implementing the OMNA trail plan requires a multifaceted approach that integrates volunteer
efforts, systematic monitoring, and funding strategies. By leveraging the strengths of volunteers and
collaborating with local enforcement agencies, the Open Space Section can ensure effective
management, maintenance, and protection of the OMNA trail system.

The Open Space Section uses the Legally Designated Open Space Management Plan to guide
property management, monitoring, and maintenance. Current property management is
accomplished with base budget funds administered from the City’s general fund, grant funding, and
volunteer projects.

The Open Space Section volunteer program is called the Open Space Stewards. The mission of this
volunteer program is to promote the protection and management of open spaces through
environmental stewardship. Volunteers work in city open spaces to report land management
concerns, participate in volunteer projects, and conduct informal education. Continuing this
volunteer program is important to successfully implementing the OMNA trail plan, especially as it
pertains to monitoring and identifying needs for directing maintenance and enforcement
partnership opportunities with the Flagstaff Police Department.

58



In addition to these efforts, the Open Space Section will continue to utilize the city’s approved
budgetary process to assess needs and request additional funding for maintaining the
expanded trail system. Grant funding for implementation and continued maintenance will be
applied for as available and as capacity allows.

X. Partnership Opportunities

Coconino National Forest, Lowell Observatory, and the City of Flagstaff are key partners in the
success of this trail proposal. Consultation with these agencies was conducted during the
development of this proposal to ensure ideas expressed in this report conform to best
practices and have consensus between the land agencies. During the development of the final
trail plan this partnership will continue. Furthermore, Section 5, “Next Steps,” of this
proposal, identifies many diverse partners and stakeholders that will be included in the
review and development of the final trail concept.

Flagstaff Trails Initiative (FTI), a Flagstaff non-profit with the mission, “To improve the quality,
connectivity and community support for a sustainable trail system that balances the demand
for recreation with the community’s vision for conservation, development, and health” will be
a great partner. FTI will provide a variety of resources, such as providing review and comment
during the development of the final concept, involving the public during the review process,
and providing volunteer trail building and maintenance support for the trail system. The
Regional Trail Strategy, FTI developed, is a collaboration between land management agencies,
non-profit organizations, volunteer groups and trail contractors that is yielding results for
Flagstaff’s trails.

59



Appendix C: Sustainable Trail Recommendations

For trails to be sustainable, they must be developed in the context of the landscape. By seeing the
trail as a feature on the landscape we are able to make the right decisions for the land and the trail.
Soils, watersheds, climate and geology all play a factor in how trails are used and how they hold up
over time. Amounts and types of use, and maintenance levels are also factors in how a particular
trail acts upon the landscape. Existing and planned trails on Observatory Mesa can benefit by
considering the following environmental condition factors.

xi. Natural Surface Trails

Constructing trails using native soils physically
connects users to the landscape and allows for
an intimate experience with their surroundings.
The ability of single-track natural surface trails to
continually engage users with their surroundings
is valuable to all trail user communities. Natural
surfaced trails are a cost-efficient means of trail
construction and maintenance, and can be built
in a partnership between a professional crew
and volunteers.

xii. Hydrology

Diagram of how sheet flow affects trails,
courtesy of State of New Hampshire
Department of Resources & Economic
Development, Division of Parks & Recreation;

On average, the Flagstaff region receives 25
inches of precipitation per year, with the majority
occurring from summer monsoonal rains and
winter snow fall. Erosion is at its highest during
summertime precipitation resulting in short but ~ Bureau of Trails. (2017, January).

intense bursts of rain but can also occur during

springtime snow melt. Water flowing over the surface, known as overland flow or sheet flow, is the
primary source of erosion for trails in the Flagstaff area. Sheet flow should be considered in building
trails and how maintenance is conducted.

xiii. Vegetation

The Ponderosa Pine forest community provides for welcome level of interception for trails under
the forest canopy. Interception refers to the precipitation that does not reach the soil, but is
intercepted by the leaves and branches of plants and the environments floor. Trees, shrubs and
forbs create an organic layer on the forest floor, helping to infiltrate precipitation before sheet flow
occurs. Interception should be considered during final trail alignment selection.

60



For trails to be sustainable, they must be developed in the context of the landscape. By seeing
the trail as a feature on the landscape we are able to make the right decisions for the land and
the trail. Soils, watersheds, climate and geology all play a factor in how trails are used and how
they hold up over time. Amounts and types of use, and maintenance levels are also factors in
how a particular trail acts upon the landscape. Existing and planned trails on Observatory Mesa
can benefit by considering the following environmental condition factors.

xiv. Slope Angles

Trails that do not affect hydrological processes allow for sheet flow to continue unabated by the
tread surface. Placing trail alignments on moderate to steep slopes of the Mesa can promote
trail sustainability by providing enough velocity for water flow. Slow moving sheet flow on
shallow or flat slopes tend to trap water on trails more easily, contributing to erosion, puddling
and user response to muddy trails.

xv. Soils

Substrate within the planning area is dominated by clay soils formed on basalt lava flows
(Edwards et al.,2013, p.1). Clays are very fined grained soils, with their particles being plate like
and oily and can attract and hold large amounts of water. They do not have enough pore space
for water to drain through. This soil type tends to be muddy and will drain poorly when wet. It
can also be the cause of trail erosion since the water is more likely to run across the surface.
When clays are dry, the particles bond together and provide trail stability. If compacted
appropriately (mechanical or from trail use), clay soils can be very resistant to erosion (State of
Minnesota, 2017, p.6.8; Basch, et al.,20017, p.50).

Existing rock in the trail tread can improve trail stability. Fractured rock (not rounded) of any size
can work to resist mechanical and environmental erosion and bind smaller soil particles
together. Rocky terrain and trails tend to hold up better over time and limit subsequent
maintenance requirements. Substrate should be considered when improving the trail surface.

Left: Soil sample from the Loop Trail, OMNA
property in early April, 2020. The Sample was
rolled and squeezed by hand to determine soil
characteristics. Clay soils do not break apart
when squeezed or pressed, as opposed to soils
with more dominant levels of loam and silt.

61



Trail Design Recommendations: Sustainability

Trails located on shallow to flat slopes will not successfully shed water over time, due to
trail travel ways compacting and losing sediment. Trail braiding and widening are more
likely to occur during wet season.

Trails located under the forest canopy are preferred over trails in open meadows for
potential interception and limiting the effects of strong monsoonal rains.

Clay soils and trail stability are greatly affected by water. Wet conditions can reduce trail
conditions quickly, while dry conditions can provide well compacted and enjoyable trails.
Grade reversals should be designed in to all alignments at 100 foot intervals or less to
limit the distance water can flow down the trail at any given location.

Trails located on moderate to steep hillsides will better allow for sheet flow to continue

over and past well-constructed trails without altering natural hydrological processes.

Strong monsoonal rains and snow melt can cause erosion quickly, and should be
considered during trail design.

Due to the nature of seasonal precipitation and soil type, linear grades should be limited
to 8% overall (distances of 50 feet or more) with short (50 feet or less) sections not to
exceed 14% unless rock structures are built to mitigate erosion. Rocky terrain may allow
for steep grades over short distances.

62



Recommendations: User Experience

Loop options for exercise opportunities and
singular Observatory Mesa trail experiences

Opportunities for solitude and relaxation
utilizing more remote areas

Options for varying intensity levels including
sustainable elevation loss and gain

Opportunities for skills and fitness progression

63



Resources

The GOMA trail system is intended to provide meaningful experiences for non-motorized users:
adaptive cyclists, equestrians, hikers and mountain bikers. There are a variety of great resources
that can be applied when building trails for the user experience. This plan intends to blend design
and construction standards to balance the varying interests of outdoor recreationists, and
implementation of the approved trail plan should consider the array of desired trail characteristics
of the community. Below is a list of links to resources for trail design and construction standards.

« American Trails Resource Library: A large collection of resources pertaining to trail planning,

design, construction and maintenance.
« American Trails Resources— Hiking: A filtered selection of resources from the Resource

Library.
« Equestrian Design Guidebook for Trails, Trailheads and Campgrounds: A

comprehensive manual for designing trails and providing experiences for equestrian use.
Produced by the Forest Service Technology and Development Center.

« Guidelines for a Quality Trail Experience— mountain bike trail guidelines: A

comprehensive analysis of providing varied trail experiences for mountain bikers. Produced by
the International Mountain Bike Association and the Bureau of Land Management.

. Kootenai Adaptive Sport Association— Adaptive Trail Standards— 2020: Recently

completed design and construction standards for safe and high quality adaptive cycling trails.
Guiding documents from local jurisdictions inform and expand the geography beyond the Greater

Observatory Mesa. Additional planning resource are included on the References page of this
document. Resources are linked below for comparison.

. City of Flagstaff: Active Transportation Master Plan: The guiding document for active

transportation in Flagstaff.

64


https://www.americantrails.org/resource-library
https://www.americantrails.org/resources/query?keywords=Hiking&resources%5B%5D=all&trails%5B%5D=all
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/recreational_trails/publications/fs_publications/07232816/toc.cfm
https://www.blm.gov/sites/blm.gov/files/Guidelines-for-a-Quality-Trail-Experience-2017.pdf
https://kootenayadaptive.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/KASA-Adaptive-Standard_FINAL-EDIT2.pdf
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/3181/Active-Transportation-Master-Plan

References

Arizona Game and Fish Department. 2012. Arizona’s State Wildlife Action Plan: 2012-2022. Arizona Game and
Fish Department, Phoenix, Arizona.

Arizona State Forestry Department, Flagstaff District Office. (2015, June). Forest Stewardship Plan, Observatory
Mesa.

Basch, D., Duffy, H., Giordanengo, J., Seabloom, G. (2007, September). Guide to Sustainable Mountain Trails.
National Park Service, Denver Service Center.

City of Flagstaff. (2014, January). Deed of Conservation Easement, Observatory Mesa Natural Area.

City of Flagstaff. (2018, November). Flagstaff Climate Action & Adaptation Plan. https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/
DocumentCenter/View/59411/Flagstaff-Climate-Action-and-Adaptation-Plan __Nov-2018

City of Flagstaff Open Space Program. (2020, March) Management Policies for Legally-Designated Open Space
Properties. https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/51727/Management-Plan-for-Legally-

Designated-Open-Space-Properties

Coconino National Forest. (2018, March). Land and Resource Management Plan for the Coconino National
Forest.

Duval, D., Frisvold, G., Bickel, A. (2020, March). The Economic Value of Trails in Arizona, A Travel Cost Method
Study-Technical Report. University of Arizona, The Department of Agricultural and Resource Economics.

Edwards, J.S., O’Hara, M., Tsouras, T., Pawlowicz, L. (2013, February). A Cultural Resources Survey of 2,260 Acres
on Observatory Mesa in Flagstaff, Coconino County, Arizona.

Flagstaff Trails Initiative. (2019, November). Flagstaff Regional Trail Strategy-Draft.
Myrick, D.F. 1998 Railroads of Arizona, Volume 4: The Santa Fe Route. Signature Press, Wilton, CA.

State of Minnesota, Department of Natural Resources. (2007) Trail Planning, Design, and Development
Guidelines. Trails & Waterways Division, 500 Lafayette Road, St. Paul, MN 55155-4052. 306 pages.

State of New Hampshire Department of Resources & Economic Development, Division of Parks & Recreation;
Bureau of Trails. (2017, January). Best Management Practices For Erosion Control During Trail Maintenance and
Construction.

United States Access Board. (2014, May). Outdoor Developed Areas: A Summary of Accessibility Standards for
Federal Outdoor Developed Areas. https://www.access-board.gov/guidelines-and-standards/recreation-
facilities/ outdoor-developed-areas/a-summary-of-accessibility-standards-for-federal-outdoor-developed-areas

65


https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/59411/Flagstaff-Climate-Action-and-Adaptation-Plan_%20Nov-2018
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/59411/Flagstaff-Climate-Action-and-Adaptation-Plan_%20Nov-2018

pen

B

"b/‘

ler

St{PffJ.

&
,

f Flag

ot

’

Q

'
1
~ s
A00 T
-l
3
1

A



Executive Summary

Background

The Observatory Mesa Natural Area (OMNA) is beloved by the community for its natural beauty
and recreational value. The community’s passion for our natural areas, combined with OMNA’s
close proximity to downtown Flagstaff and twelve adjacent neighborhoods, has resulted in high
use in the area, including unauthorized uses and associated impacts. The desire to address
these impacts while providing diverse recreational experiences in the area motivated the
creation of the Greater Observatory Mesa Area (GOMA) Trail Plan. The GOMA planning area is
approximately 4,000 acres, generally bounded by the mesa’s slopes on the south and east, and
OMNA boundaries on the north and west sides. The three landowners in this area, the City of
Flagstaff, U.S. Forest Service, and Lowell Observatory are partners in this Trail Plan.

The documented need for a formal trail system in GOMA guided the purpose of this

plan. Planned management actions identified in the Management Policies for Legally-
Designated Open Space Properties (2020) direct managers to “Establish a Trail System Plan for
OMNA, in partnership with adjacent landowners, state/federal agencies, local organizations,
and other stakeholders.” (page 71). The community’s interest in the property is also well
documented from the 2004 voter-approved bond initiative that allowed for the property’s
purchase, the 2017-2018 Flagstaff Trails Initiative identifying planning on Observatory Mesa as a
priority, and the over 3,800 individual comments received during this planning process.

Purpose and Goals

The purpose of the GOMA Trail Plan is to establish a formal, managed trail system that aligns
with Flagstaff Open Space Program, Coconino National Forest, and Lowell Observatory
management policies and reflects community desires to provide a balanced trail system on
Observatory Mesa Natural Area and surrounding Forest Service lands.

Our goal is to create a well-managed trail system with wayfinding signage and sustainable
alignments that protects cultural and natural resources and provides a variety of quality
outdoor recreation experiences for the community. Based on robust public input and
assessment, the plan identifies a non-motorized trail system with sustainable alignments,
updated signage, and increased access and parking while ensuring healthy wildlife habitats and
cultural resource protections by establishing ecological zones, restoring unsustainable
unauthorized trails, and closing abandoned roads to reduce motorized impacts in the area.

Plan contents

The planincludes a three-phase approach for priority implementation and a section for long
term strategies. The plan’s priorities include conceptual alignments that provide a range of
outdoor recreation experiences, management guidelines for the final completed trail system,
and recommendations for the restoration of currently disturbed areas and unauthorized

trails. The proposed trail system provides a higher density of trail loops near formal access



Executive Summary

points and where people use trails the most frequently, identifies longer loops for more remote
experiences, and designated areas with no new trails to protect habitat and wildlife

migration. All elements of the Trail Plan promote ecological conservation commensurate with
the Arizona State Land Department sale and can be implemented once approved and funded.

OMNA was established via a conservation easement held by Arizona State Parks & Trails. The
agreement guarantees that no more than 20 acres total is eligible for development (including
trails) in perpetuity to ensure the conservation value of the property. This proposal identifies
7.8 acres for trail development within the OMNA boundary, for 39% of the total available 20
acres. When considering trail development versus road and trail restoration, the net change in
recreation infrastructure on OMNA and U.S. Forest Service lands is an increase of 5.4 miles.

This proposal was created in partnership with land managers from the City of Flagstaff, Lowell
Observatory, and the Coconino National Forest. The Coconino National Forest reviewed this
trail plan, and the long-term intent is to establish a cross-jurisdictional agreement between the
Coconino National Forest and City of Flagstaff that would permit the City to implement and
maintain trails on Forest Service property. This partnership will improve trail system
connectivity, leverage resources for plan implementation, and support effective cross-
jurisdictional land management.

Lowell Observatory is interested in retaining undeveloped land within its property to benefit
the organization and the Flagstaff community. This plan includes long-term recommendations,
currently with no timeline established, for the Lowell Observatory property that can provide
passive recreation opportunities and increase connectivity for the overall trail

system. Additional long-term elements include utilizing railroad underpasses for trail
connections and conceptual Flagstaff Urban Trail alignments which will be pursued when the
timing is right for additional conversations.

The final Trail Plan will be adopted by the City of Flagstaff, reviewed by the Coconino National
Forest, and considered by Lowell Observatory when appropriate and will be used to direct
future management and trail implementation.

In summary, this plan proposes as priorities:

o Approximately 20 miles of additional natural-surfaced single-track trail

« Approximately 8 miles of trails for adaptive uses

o The addition of 2 more formal access points, which will result in a total of 8

« Recommendations for trail signage for wayfinding, regulations, and etiquette

« Additional parking for residents and visitors along Route 66 near the Public Works Yard and
at the western boundary on Forest Road 515

« Restoration of 4.1 miles of unauthorized trails and 10.5 miles of abandoned roads

« Implementing two educational zones for interpretive signage for the purpose of increasing
student and adult awareness of environmental, cultural, and historical significance



West Historic Route 66
(4

S
A ] ; §
> ‘ ( S
Wesi | ;: | S =
€St Historic Route 66 §

Priority Trail System

!

4
BN /\J@Fort Valley

=== Travel route | Lowell
FUTS trail OMNA
— Existing road USFS

—— Existing trail A Access, existing
A Access, adopt

@ Proposed TH

-=== Trail concept
— Adaptive trail

r @ Education zone (%) Trailhead
\ Map displays proposed trail plan. See priority maps
\ for more details.
\ TTE T LR L

|

A‘?Z

1 Miles

—

23

\

0 025 0.5

pg ol 5

N 4

See Long Term Planning
for more details




Greater Observatory Mesa Area
Proposed Trail System

49
Fort Valley
=== Travel route Lowell
FUTS trail OMNA
—— Existing road USFS
—— Existing trail A Access, existing
5.12 --== Trail concept A Access, adopt
Adaptive trail () Proposed TH
N Education zone Trailhead
> T T T T T T 1] 7NL
4.2 0 025 0.5 1 Miles
1 2.7
FR
5154 2.3
©
N 3.3
&
44
g
1.3 12 N 7 8.
Q
5 8
45 « A 5 26
3
& FUTS Mars Hil
\(9Q
5.28 X & See Long Term Planning
5.8 5\%@ for more details 2.1
13 18¢ 17
5.29 b’ 3.37 24
S g 55 5.27
93 3.35
5.25
521 2.15
2.2

2.21



Southwest A\ Agm
Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis
November 2024

Prepared by: Southwest Decision Resources
Table of Contents

Table Of CONTENTS....cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e s e s s e s sseesssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnns 1

Section 1. BACKSrOUNM.......cciiiuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiieeniieetiannssiiesetieeessssssssssssttseessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnssssssssssssssssnnnnsss 2
Phase 1 ENgagement: JUNE - JUIY 2022......cciiiciiieeeciiieee ettt e e e ectte e e e eette e e e seabteeeeeettaeeessbtaeeesastaeeessstaeeessnsssnaeennnes 2
Phase 2 Engagement: May - JUIY 2023.....cooo oottt e e e e e e e e e s st re e e e e eaeeesesennssbraaaeeaeaaeeeeaannnseaenees 2
Phase 3 Engagement: March - OCtODEr 2024.........o.uuiiiii ittt e e e e rtte e e e e et ta e e e eebtaeeeesbtaeeessssaeeeeanns 4

1. Perceptions of Trail Plan GOals.......cciiiueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinieeiiiieeeciieenseentenneessensssesssnssssssenssssssenssssssennssssssnnsssssannns 4
Goal 1: Design a trail plan for GOMA based on community feedback and input, guiding policy, and best
practices of suStaiNABIE Trail ESIEN......uveeiiiii it e e e e e e e s e brarereeeeeeeeessasarsaaeeeeaeas 5
Goal 2: Reduce the impacts of motorized use in the GOMA, and work toward a non-motorized trail system..... 6
Goal 3: Address unsustainable and unauthorized trails to improve environmental conditions in GOMA............. 6
Goal 4: Increase local access to the formal trail system to advance the "10 minutes walking distance to open
space"” goal of the City Of FIagstaff........cooiiiiiii ettt e s e e s sbeeesaseesssbeeenes 7
Goal 5: Design a sustainable trail system that addresses impacts of unauthorized recreation and balances
allowed user experiences with Open SPace CONSEIVAtION.......cccuiiiiiiiiiiie e e e 8
Goal 6: Provide a variety of experiences to accommodate the desires of the community........cccccoeevcvveeeiicnnen.. 9

Goal 7: Improve safety and wayfinding with increased signage and information for the formal trail system.... 10

2. Perceptions of User Experiences Provided by the Trail Plan.........c..cceireeieiiieenieiiiiencnnieeeneereenencereeesseereensseereens 10
Experience provided for SPECITIC USEIS. .. ..o ittt ettt e e e e et e e e e e ette e e e s e staeeeesstaeeessanseneaesnnes 11
Use level if the Trail Plan V3 was implemented. ...ttt e e s srae e e e sebae e e e enanes 12

3. Preferences for trail types, quantity, and USES......ccccuuueieeiiiiiiiieirccieeerieeereenereeeesseeeesnanssssssesseeeesnnssssssssssaseenns 13
Preferences for trail type and deSiSN.......uuiii i e e s e e e s re e e e bree e e e eareeas 13
Preferences for trail quantity and MIlEAZE........coccuiiii i e e e e e e e e e e 13
Preferences for trail Use and dir€CtiON.........oiiiiiiiiii i e e s st e e s s sbbee e s e s nreeas 13
Preferences for trail CharaCteristiCS. .. ..o uiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e st esbte e sbaeesabaeesbeeesanas 14

4. Other Implementation CoNSIderations.......ccccccciiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiciie e reeeaseestennseessennssesssnnssssssnnssssssnnssnns 14
Top priorities to address in implementation of the Trail Plan.........cc.cooi i 14
Considerations for Maintenance and FUNAING Planning...........ooioiiiiii et 15
Considerations for Education, Communication, and ENfOrCEMENT...........uuvvviviviiiiiicieiceeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e ee e 15

5. Recommendations for Plan Modifications and NeXt STepS........cceeeeeuececeiiiiiiiremnnsieeesrereeeennssssseesseesesnnnnsssssssnes 16
Potential modifications t0 the Trail PIan..........ccueiiiiiiiii et e e e s e abee e e e s abeeas 16

Trail PlaNNING MEXE STEPS. .eiiiiuiiiii i ittt ettt ettt e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e taeeeeeaataeeeeeaasaaeeesassseeeeasssaeesassaeeesanssseeeesanssnnaann 17



Southwest = CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision \L PROSE
Resources g FARKSRECREATON. G oqter Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Section 1. Background

The City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation, Open Space, and Events (PROSE) Division contracted with_Southwest
Decision Resources (SDR) to help facilitate public engagement for the_Greater Observatory Mesa Area (GOMA)

Trail planning efforts.

Public engagement to date has occurred primarily in three phases which are detailed below:

Phase 1 Engagement: June - July 2022

Public meeting
PROSE hosted a public meeting on Wednesday, June 29th, from 5:00 to 7:00 PM virtually (via Microsoft Teams)

and in-person on the second-floor staff room of Flagstaff City Hall (211 W. Aspen Ave) to receive public input

regarding the first draft of the Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan.

Following a presentation by Robert Wallace (City of Flagstaff Open Space Specialist), the public was asked to
participate in an interactive activity. For the activity, participants were asked to place numbered sticky dots on
three maps:

1. Station 1: Naturalization and restoration proposal

2. Station 2: Access points/parking and signage/education zones

3. Station 3: Alignments, roads, and trails
The participants had a choice of red, green, or yellow sticky dots which signified “I have a concern about this”, “I
love this”, and “I have a new idea” respectively. Upon placing the sticky dot, participants could use a datasheet to
write their comments related to the sticky dot they had placed on the maps. You can review the map photos here.

The results of this public meeting were synthesized. You can review the results here. Online comments were

collected via the online Community Forum, see results here.

Phase 2 Engagement: May - July 2023

Phase two outreach to stakeholders and public engagement resulted in 2,913 individual topical comments
considered. Each comment was grouped into common themes for consideration. Themes were compiled and
reviewed to understand public sentiment regarding general impressions, place-based recommendations, and
responses to specific questions asked. You can review all comments received from the phase two comment period

here.

Stakeholder meetings
Prior to the 40-day public comment period (May 2023), outreach to 35 identified stakeholder groups was

performed to discuss updates to the draft trail plan. Stakeholder groups included:
e City of Flagstaff commissions
e Homeowners Associations adjacent to Observatory Mesa Natural Area properties
e Local environmental organizations


https://www.swdresources.com/
https://www.swdresources.com/
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4870/Greater-Observatory-Mesa-Trail-Plan
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4870/Greater-Observatory-Mesa-Trail-Plan
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1WSnPdwSQte4Wn8_FyqqAzy48O7qYqGjB?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1mU3eB-79nDywKhENqqS3JNM1eXCzd7Vl/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=103125270177682345533&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1XOUCjlXtgFUl42b4kekmhH5N9u0xgAT7/view?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1mXB3wepK3G_z1htZnAMSUdOMKyS8erMvBCFiEknB9fg/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1mXB3wepK3G_z1htZnAMSUdOMKyS8erMvBCFiEknB9fg/edit?usp=sharing

Southwest /773 CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision \L PROSE
Resources g FARKSRECREATON. G oqter Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

® Local outdoor recreation organizations
e Federal, state, and local land management agencies

Sixteen meetings were held with stakeholder groups to discuss recommendations for the draft plan and four
formal comment letters were received resulting in 42 individual comments.

Public meeting
The second public meeting was held on June 14th, 2023 from 5:00-7:00 pm at the Flagstaff Aquaplex (1702 N

Fourth St, Flagstaff, AZ 86004) to receive public input regarding the second draft of the plan. There were 35
participants (not including City Staff or volunteers), and 104 comments were received from this event.

Following a presentation (recording here) by Robert Wallace (City of Flagstaff Open Space Specialist) and Mark
Loseth (Facilitator, SDR), the public was asked to participate in interactive activities developed from phase one
comments and questions and intended to provide additional direction for trail planners.

Participants were asked to place dots on three maps to provide comments for:

1. Naturalization and restoration proposal

2. Proposed trail alignments: reduced and proposed

3. Road and trail restoration proposal
The participants had a choice of red, green, or yellow sticky dots which signified “l have a concern about this”, “I
love this”, and “I have a new idea” respectively. Upon placing the sticky dot, participants could use a datasheet to
write their comments to go with the sticky dot they had placed on the maps.

Three additional interactive stations asked for general impressions on sticky notes for specific topics, including:
1. Adaptive Bikes: trail alignments proposed to be constructed at 36-inch width
2. Single-use vs. multiple-use station: the appropriateness of designating trail directionality and/or single
uses on proposed trails
3. E-bike station: The appropriateness of allowing e-bikes within the planning area.

You can review the station posters and activity directions here.

Community forum

The online Community Forum comment period was held for 40 days between June 6th and July 16th, 2023. 183
survey questionnaires were received during this period (see_.community forum report here). Additionally, 52
comments were received via email during this comment period.

The comments and input on the Trail Plan received during phase two of community outreach were synthesized by
theme in the Phase 2 Public Synthesis Report available here.


https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fflagaz-my.sharepoint.com%2F%3Av%3A%2Fg%2Fpersonal%2Fproseconferenceroom_flagstaffaz_gov%2FEdia6VXKGUxBr3IZfA80ySABCjzPhIhJqNaEcCftEyne-Q%3Fe%3D4%253ArB2Yh8&data=05%7C01%7Cbeck.thomas%40flagstaffaz.gov%7Cd7de0a80193d4158f4b308db6ea7744c%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638225437737907872%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=0l2%2BJNBJCusGD%2Bwkp3VyUp%2Fs6Lxq%2BPEKER7lkmZA6eI%3D&reserved=0
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1eaQ_i28pxDuSG9Yv4SBISF0Q6tJUEVDz/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1V_SBRe7s3oUVjyac8RIicuxn7iIby43v/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qyw32AO07Pu7Mw6GW0iVRy73DDpov6qx/view?usp=sharing

Southwest 7 O CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision \I/ PROSE
Resources \\WFr JZARKS,RECREATION. G oater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Phase 3 Engagement: March - October 2024

n mmission Meetin

The draft GOMA Trail Plan Version 3 (V3) was presented and discussed at four separate Open Space Commission
meetings during their March, April, May, and June meetings (meeting recordings and minutes). At these meetings,
the Open Space Commission provided input on changes desired for the Trail Plan. Additionally, public comments
and feedback about the Trail Plan were also received. Input received at these meetings shaped the development
of the Trail Plan V3, which was then shared publicly.

Publi .
The third public meeting for the GOMA Trail Plan was held on Thursday, September 19th, from 5-7 PM at the
Flagstaff Downtown Library (300 W Aspen Ave, Flagstaff, AZ 86001). Participants were asked to walk through a
series of six posters to learn about the GOMA Trail Plan and to share their perspectives. In addition to sharing any
comments that they wished to share, participants were asked to share their perspectives on:

e How well the Trail Plan V3 achieved its goals

e How well the Trail Plan V3 provided experiences for the different allowed uses

e Participant preferences for types of experiences on the mesa

You can find the station posters and activities here. Detailed results from the public meeting are available here.
The meeting was attended by over 115 people and 55 open-ended comments were received.

Community survey

A community survey was open for 40 days between August 26th and October 18th. Questions asked in the survey
were similar to those asked at the public meeting and included an opportunity for open comment to share any
thoughts in addition to questions about how well the Trail Plan V3 achieved its goals and provided experiences for
different allowed uses.There were 327 respondents to the survey with 247 respondents leaving open-ended
comments for review. You can view the survey results here.

Open-ended comment analysis

Many open-ended comments were received via the public meeting, community survey, and additional emailed
comments (9 email comments submitted). These comments were coded and grouped thematically using
gualitative data analysis software. The frequencies and comment contents for each theme and a more in-depth
discussion of the methods are available here.

The public input received about the Trail Plan V3 from the public meeting, community survey, and emailed
comments are synthesized below. The last section of this report details recommendations for Trail Plan
modifications and next steps based on the community input received.

1. Perceptions of Trail Plan Goals
Community outreach for round 3 included feedback related to the goals of the draft trail plan. Each goal was
drawn from existing guiding documents related to Observatory Mesa Natural Area management, including the City

4


https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/3327/Open-Spaces-Commission
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1oss0vgr_obgFSJx-nAh3nTiBW8OKoRxE?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1KbUs85p3C0Oz4iffH3UMrMLg6M6yWT1Qe_8Yg5VD2JA/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1O-5Xrr48SIsc_RYgFw4q2rEwxjIx8gGv/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=117059398339911770988&rtpof=true&sd=true
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1msGtMDgGNZOw_P3K9FLayq3kyQkZqTuu/view?usp=sharing

Southwest /¢\ CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

Decision PROSE

Resources W GARKSRECREATON.  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

of Flagstaff Open Space Management Plan, Deed of Conservation Easement, and the City of Flagstaff Regional
Plan. The public feedback on how these goals are achieved by the third version of the GOMA Trail Plan is
synthesized below.

Goal 1: Design a trail plan for GOMA based on community feedback and input, guiding policy,
and best practices of sustainable trail design

Goal #1
In- Online Total
@ Achieves
person | survey
Mostly achieves, but could do better
@ Does not achieve Achieves 11 104 115
Mostly
Achieves 33 81 114
Does not
achieve 22 130 152

Figure 1 and Table 1. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to
achieve this goal.

Additional comments related to this goal:
e Supportive Perspectives Shared:

o The GOMA Trail Plan V3 represented a better balance between recreation and conservation. They
indicated that while not everyone got what they wanted, everyone had a little bit of what they
wanted.

o Support for the closure and restoration of social trails and informal roads in favor of sustainably
designed trails.

o Agreed with the input of the Open Space Commission.

e Concerned Perspectives Shared:

o The public participation process was biased towards certain groups. For example, some local
neighbors felt that the public participation favored certain user groups (e.g., mountain bikers),
while certain user groups felt that the public participation favored local neighbors.

o The Open Space Commission's feedback on the Trail Plan did not align with public desire/need or
guiding policy.

o Adding additional trails to the GOMA would be out of line with the guiding policy for the
Conservation Easement due to changing the existing or baseline conditions.

o Desire for the Trail Plan to be more in line with previous community feedback received in prior
engagement phases (especially about the desire for directional trails and more trails).

O

Desire to increase the diversity of engagement in the public participation process.




Southwest
Decision
Resources

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

PROSE

PARKS, RECREATION,

)

orenshacesevents  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

o Desire for continued engagement in the Trail Plan implementation, including expert input on how

trails are designed and implemented.

Goal 2: Reduce the impacts of motorized use in the GOMA, and work toward a non-motorized

trail system

Goal # 2
@ Achieves

Mostly achieves, but could do better

@ Does not achieve

In- Online Total
person | survey
Achieves 7 148 155
Mostly
Achieves 43 108 151
Does not
achieve 18 53 71

Figure 2 and Table 2. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to

achieve this goal.
Additional comments related to this goal:
e Supportive Perspectives Shared:

o Support for the restoration of informal roads and limitation of motorized access in the GOMA

e Concerned Perspectives Shared:

o E-bikes should be considered as motorized recreation and should not be allowed to access any

portion of the GOMA

o Increase access for motorized vehicles (e.g., creating a new dirt-bike connection to Fort Valley)
Goal 3: Address unsustainable and unauthorized trails to improve environmental conditions in

GOMA

Goal # 3
@ Achieves

Mostly achieves, but could do better

© Does not achieve

37.6%

In- Online Total
person | survey
Achieves 7 121 128
Mostly
Achieves 46 95 141
Does not
achieve 14 92 106

Figure 3 and Table 3. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to

achieve this goal.




Decision PROSE

Southwest /¢\ CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Resources \WF ZARGRECENSY.  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Additional comments related to this goal:
® Supportive Perspectives Shared:
o Support for the closure of unsustainable user-created trails and informal roads
o Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o The closure of user-created trails would lead to the development of more user-created trails
o Replacing user-created trails with sustainable new trails would lead to increased environmental
impact
o Using existing informal roadbeds as part of the trail system would be more environmentally
impactful than developing new sustainable trails
o Desire to “leave the trail system as it is now” without closing or developing new trails; these
respondents preferred the informal trail system or feared that creating a more formal trail system
would lead to increased use in the area
o Their favorite trails (user-created) would be closed through the implementation of this Trail Plan)

Goal 4: Increase local access to the formal trail system to advance the "10 minutes walking
distance to open space" goal of the City of Flagstaff.

Goal #4
In- Online Total
@ Achieves
person | survey
Mostly achieves, but could do better
@ Does not achieve Achieves 149 149
Mostly
Achieves 86 86
Does not
achieve 74 74

Figure 4 and Table 4. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to
achieve this goal. The community open house did not collect feedback for this goal.
Additional comments related to this goal:
® Supportive Perspectives Shared:
o Appreciated the additional access this Trail Plan would provide, especially for larger Trailheads that
provide parking (e.g., newly proposed trailhead on W Route 66 near the Public Works yard)
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o Desire for more access points, trailheads, and trailhead parking to improve local access to GOMA
o The existing access points would lead to more impacts on local neighbors (e.g., parking concerns,
noise, increased use, impact to roads, unauthorized road access); due to these concerns, a few
recommended that the access points not be listed or that they be listed as a private access point
only



Decision PROSE

Resources \\// PARKS, RECREATION,

Southwest /¢\ CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
orenshacesevents  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

o Access points with parking should be made appropriate for equestrian use and staging as well as
any accessible parking needs (e.g., for adaptive biking)
o Additional parking should not be made available at access points or trailheads; instead, some
suggested that users be encouraged to access the GOMA by biking or walking connections
Goal 5: Design a sustainable trail system that addresses impacts of unauthorized recreation and

balances allowed user experiences with open space conservation.

Goal #5
@ Achieves In- Online Total
Mostly achieves, but could do better person survey

@ Does not achieve Achieves 8 16 .y
Mostly
Achieves 38 80 118

31.8% Does not

achieve 18 11 129

Figure 5 and Table 5. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to
achieve this goal.
Additional comments related to this goal:
e Supportive Perspectives Shared:
o V3 of the Trail Plan represented a balance between conservation and recreation
o Decommissioning and restoration of unsustainable user-created trails and informal roads will
promote conservation
o The reduction of roads and motorized recreation access in the area will promote conservation
o Limiting of e-bikes to certain portions of the GOMA to promote conservation
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o The development of new trails and maintenance of some user-created trails and informal roads
would lead to environmental impacts, including wildlife impacts, in the GOMA
o The implementation of the Trail Plan would lead to increased use and subsequent increased
impact on the GOMA
© The Trail Plan implementation phases would lead to having too many new trails and trails slated
for decommissioning on the Mesa open at the same time due to the implementation of new trails
being in a sooner phase than decommissioning
o Desire for a less developed experience on the Mesa with more focus on conservation and minimal
focus on recreation
o V3 of the Trail Plan limited recreation opportunities too strictly and did not provide enough access
or recreational opportunities (e.g., not enough trails, removal of favorite user-created trails,
restrictions on e-bikes, restrictions on motorized use)



Southwest /PO CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision @ PROSE
Resources \\NWF FARKSRECREATION.  Gioater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Goal 6: Provide a variety of experiences to accommodate the desires of the community.

Goal #6
@ Achieves
Mostly achieves, but could do better

@ Does not achieve

Figure 6 and Table 6. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to

achieve this goal.
Additional comments related to this goal:
e Supportive Perspectives Shared:

In- Online Total
person | survey
Achieves 9 107 116
Mostly
Achieves 47 72 119
Does not
achieve 11 127 138

o Increasing the access of trails for multiple uses, including making trails multiple uses creates

additional access.

o There is a balance of experiences provided for multiple recreational use types and desired

experiences.
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:

o Previous versions of the Trail Plan provided more diverse experiences for users (e.g., mountain

biking, additional hiking connections, more adaptive biking opportunities)

o Access and recreation opportunity could be improved for

m  Equestrian use

Winter sport use (e.g., cross-country skiing, snowshoeing)

]
m Adaptive use
m  Downhill mountain biking




Southwest ;7753 CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision @ PROSE
Resources \\NWF FARKSRECREATION.  Gioater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Goal 7: Improve safety and wayfinding with increased signage and information for the formal
trail system.

Goal #7
@ Achieves
) In- Online Total
Mostly achieves, but could do better
person | survey

@ Does not achieve
Achieves 16 153 169
Mostly
Achieves 43 97 140
Does not
achieve 10 51 61

Figure 7 and Table 7. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to
achieve this goal.

Additional comments related to this goal:
e Supportive Perspectives Shared:
o The signage proposed in the Trail Plan would be an improvement in providing education and
wayfinding on the Mesa.
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o The signage may impact the natural aesthetic in the area.
o Increased signage may lead to more people using the area, impacting their recreation experience.

2. Perceptions of User Experiences Provided by the Trail Plan

In addition to the perceptions surrounding the Trail Plan goals, participants were asked to provide feedback on
how well the Trail Plan provided user experiences for different user types. Respondents were asked to provide
their perspectives of the experience provided for each type of use they participate in based on the Trail Plan V3
and corresponding trail planning maps. Relatedly, participants were asked to share how often they would use
GOMA compared to how often they use it now. The results for these questions are detailed below.

10




Southwest s CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision O PROSE
Resou rces \/ PARKS, RECREATION,

orenshacesevents  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Experience provided for specific users

How well does the Trail Plan meet your desired recreation
experience?

B Great | Good, but.... [ Poor
Adaptive Biking
Biking

Downhill Mtn Biking

Equestrian
Hiking
Passive
Running
Winter Use
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%
How well does the Trail Plan meet your desired recreation experience?
Individual responses
Good, but could be
Use Great better Poor
Adaptive Biking 83 101 82
Biking 91 97 158
Downbhill Mtn Biking |45 67 192
Equestrian 84 89 43
Hiking 183 122 41
Passive 144 104 44
Running 167 105 42
Winter Use 7 23 14

Figure 8 and Table 8. Number of respondents who indicated how well they perceived the GOMA Trail Plan V3 to
provide desired recreational experiences based on user type.

11



Southwest /PO CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision @ PROSE
Resources \\NWF FARKSRECREATION.  Gioater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Additional comments related to user experiences provided:
® Supportive Perspectives Shared:

o The implementation of the Trail Plan would lead to an improved experience for their recreation
experience through the maintenance and development of trails.

e Concerned Perspectives Shared:

o Mountain biking and biking experiences were typically rated as not well-provided for. Many
expressed that previous versions of the Trail Plan as well as the existing conditions provide a
better experience for mountain bikers in comparison to the Trail Plan V3. This poor experience was
partly due to the proposal to remove popular user-created mountain biking trails (e.g., Hot
Pockets).

o The permitted E-bike use on FUTS and roads are not sufficient to meet user demand; Desire that
the entire system be open to e-bike use. Some commented that e-bike use is important, especially
for increasing access for older generations.

o Biking and e-biking should be limited or forbidden in the GOMA area. Some indicated that they
felt there should not be any downhill experience or intentional features created for biking.

o Increase the explicit design and mention of winter use trails for snow-shoeing or cross-country
skiing.

o Desire to have motorized use permitted in the GOMA.

Use level if the Trail Plan V3 was implemented

200 ]
In- Online Total

person | survey

150 L
€ss 9 76 85

Same 41 74 115

Figure 9 and Table 9. Number of
respondents who indicated how often
they would use GOMA if the Trail Plan
V3 was implemented. Figure 9 displays
totals of individual responses.

100

50

Less often than | do now The same as | do now More often than | do now

If this trail plan was implemented, | would use the area...

Additional comments related to this question:
e Supportive Perspectives Shared:
o This Trail Plan would increase their ability to use GOMA by increasing trail access points and trails.
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:

12



Southwest 7 O CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision \I/ PROSE
Resources \\WFr JZARKS,RECREATION. G oater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

o Expressed preference for the social trails and informal roads that exist in the area and would use
the GOMA less if those trails and roads were restored
o If this area saw increased usage, they would begin to use the area less themselves.

3. Preferences for trail types, quantity, and uses

Though no survey or public meeting questions specifically focused on community preferences for trail types,
quantity, or specific alignment considerations, many participants shared their thoughts in open-ended comments.
Additionally, one question at the public meeting asked participants to share their preferences for trail
characteristics. Some key takeaways from the public meeting activity and open-ended comments include:

Preferences for trail type and design
o Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o Preference to maintain the existing social trails and informal roads on the Mesa rather than

develop new trails.

o Desire to close many or all informal roads and existing trails in favor of new trail development.

o Some recreators enjoy wider roads for their recreational experience (e.g., walking with friends or
with dogs), while others prefer intentionally designed single-track trails.

o Some felt that newly developed single-track trails would be more sustainable and less impactful to
the environment than maintaining existing informal roads. In contrast, others indicated that using
existing informal roads would lessen any new disturbance to the landscape.

Preferences for trail quantity and mileage
e Supportive Perspectives Shared:
o V3 of the Trail Plan represents a good balance between trail development and conservation.
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:

o There should be even more weight placed on conservation and less trail development overall.

o V3 of the Trail Plan did not provide enough trails for all user experiences. Desire to increase the
mileage of trails provided. Those who supported increasing the mileage of available trails for
recreational use also suggested that mileage should be increased by providing:

m  More loops

m  More connector trails

m  More intentional mountain biking trails

m  More access points with associated trails for other neighborhoods near the Mesa

o The phasing of implementation would lead to most new trails being developed before the closure
and restoration of many social trails and informal roads. Between implementation phases there
would be increased mileage of new trails and previously existing ones, leading to increased
disturbance on the Mesa.

Preferences for trail use and direction

e Supportive Perspectives Shared:
o Desire for maintaining all trails as multi-use to provide equitable user access.

13



Decision PROSE

Resources \\// PARKS, RECREATION,

Southwest /¢\ CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
orenshacesevents  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

o Concerned Perspectives Shared:

o Desire for directional and/or single-use trails (for mountain biking only or hiking only) to provide
less user conflict and improve user experiences, pointing to the previous public engagement
survey results in support of directional trails/single-use trails as evidence for their argument to
include them in the Trail Plan.

Preferences for trail characteristics

Which 2 Trail Characteristics are you seeking in GOMA?

Accessibility & Inclusivity
11.69

Which 2 trail characteristics are you seeking in GOMA?

Characteristic Number
Trll hallenge Levels | ST Solitude 79
Connectivity and Loops 49
Trail Challenge Levels 40
Sonnetivty & Loops Accessibility and Inclusivity 22

Figure and Table 9. Number of respondents at the public meeting who indicated their preferred trail characteristics
in GOMA. Each respondent was asked to select their top two characteristics.
Additional comments related to trail characteristics:
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o Desire that trails include mountain biking features and varying difficulties; others suggested that it
was inappropriate to include any mountain biking features on the Mesa.
o Suggestion that further public and expert engagement in the design of trails beyond their
locations (e.g., features, viewpoints, etc.).
o Preference for a more primitive, less-developed experience in GOMA where solitude could be
found.
Preference to see more adaptive hiking and biking opportunities on the Mesa.
o Preference for more loops and connecting trails on the Mesa.

4. Other Implementation Considerations

At the public meeting, participants were asked to allocate S5 per participant to their top priorities for Trail Plan
action implementation in GOMA. Additionally, through open-ended comments from the public meeting, survey,
and email comments, respondents shared other considerations for the implementation of the Trail Plan. Key
takeaways from these results are detailed below:

14



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

PROSE

orincracesbvints  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Southwest
Decision
Resources

71N

N\~

Top priorities to address in implementation of the Trail Plan

What is most important to improve the current conditions of the Greater Observatory Mesa

What is most important to improve the current Trail Planning area? How would you spend your $5?
conditions of the Greater Observatory Mesa Trail
Planning area? How would you spend your $5? N R at & Trals
Money Creating New Trails
Category allocated > Developng
i o L X S, Trailheads & Parking
Maintaining Existing Roads & Trails $161 ¢ Areas
. . Installing Signage &
Creating New Trails $134 Kiosks
Developing Trailheads & Parking Areas $73 Closing Soca rens
Installing Signage & Kiosks $58 $0 $50 $100 $150 $200
g oignag
Closing Social Trails & Roads $51 Money alocated

Table and Figure 10. Public meeting participant allocation of S5 each for their top implementation priorities for
GOMA.
Additional comments related to this question:
e Concerned Perspective Shared:
o Desire for any trail implementation or maintenance to be done in a way that is least impactful to
the environment.

Considerations for Maintenance and Funding Planning

e Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o There is no budget or estimate attached to the Trail Plan and desired to know more about where
the funding for the Trail Plan implementation would come from.
o Should the plan be implemented, there is no plan in place for long-term maintenance of the trails.
The City should work with local stewardship organizations and volunteers to maintain existing and
future trails.
o lllegal trail building may continue, and there is a need for regular maintenance to close
user-created trails.
Considerations for Education, Communication, and Enforcement
e Concerned Perspectives Shared:
o There may not be enough enforcement in the GOMA to prevent illegal or inappropriate activities

such as:
m E-bike use on unallowed trails
m lllegal camping
m lllegal trail building
m  Proper trail etiquette

m lllegal motorized use
o Implementing the Trail Plan may increase the occurrence of illegal behaviors such as those listed

above.

15



Southwest 7 O CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision \I/ PROSE
Resources \\WFr JZARKS,RECREATION. G oater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

o There is a need for signage and education to let people know appropriate behavior and etiquette
on the trails.

5. Recommendations for Plan Modifications and Next Steps

Based on the feedback received during phase three of public outreach for the Greater Observatory Mesa Trail
Plan, SDR makes the following overall recommendations for plan modifications and next steps for trail planning.
Additional, more specific recommendations from community input will be discussed and evaluated by the future
trail designer and City of Flagstaff PROSE.

Potential modifications to the Trail Plan

The large volume of comments received during this phase of engagement warrants consideration of modifications
to the Trail Plan as deemed appropriate by guiding policy and directives. These potential modifications would best
be considered in the context of feedback received in previous phases of engagement.

Recommended modifications to the Trail Plan to consider, based on public feedback, include:
Conservation and Impact Mitigation:

e Balance development with conservation: If additional trail alignments are included, be mindful of adding
significant additional mileage to maintain a balance with conservation values. Consider the location of
these alignments to best reduce environmental and social impacts.

e Wildlife concerns: If additional data becomes available about potential effects of proposed/implemented
GOMA trails on wildlife in the area, reconsider trail alignment locations to minimize potential effects.
Current Forest Service and Arizona Game and Fish Department guidance do not suggest this is necessary
at this time.

Implementation Considerations

® The safety considerations of access points (primarily hiker and biker safety for arriving at these points)

e The accessibility of access points for specific user types (e.g., adaptive biking, equestrian)

e The communication and enforcement of trail regulations (standard trail etiquette for all allowed trail
users, no e-bikes on some trails, appropriate use of trails)

e The development of a maintenance plan to ensure that trails meet standards and that unauthorized trails
are continually decommissioned. Work with local organizations and volunteer groups to support this
maintenance.

o Keep the public apprised of any Trail Plan updates and opportunities to engage. There may be an
additional opportunity to work with the public and local stakeholders for the design (beyond location) of
these trails.

e Monitor use levels and impacts over time. Continually evaluate the maintenance and infrastructure needs
to address impacts and meet user experience desires.

16



Southwest 7 O CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
Decision \I/ PROSE
Resources \NWF  ZARKS,RECREATION.  Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan Public Input Synthesis - November 2024

Trail Mileage and Density

e Loops and connections: Several people desired more connecting or loop trails and overall increased
mileage. Consider if there are any locations to add a limited amount of mileage to provide these
connections/loops while still minimizing overall disturbance and environmental impact.

e Existing social trails and roads: Though many comments supported “leaving the system as is” and keeping
the social trails and informal roads, the social trails slated for decommissioning do not align with
sustainable trail design and are therefore recommended to remain slated for decommissioning.

® Access: Some desired more access points while others were concerned about illegal access or impacts of
access to local neighborhoods. Consider monitoring use trends and opportunities to provide additional
access in the future.

User Experience:
e Mountain biking:

o Consider options to enhance the experience without substantially increasing disturbance to the
landscape or other user experience. Options could include:

m  Formal adoption of trail 3.36 (Hot Pockets). This trail received substantial support from the
mountain biking community and will likely be challenging to close permanently due to its
popularity. Though this trail may require more maintenance over time, volunteer trail
maintenance and stewardship agreements could be made with the mountain biking
community.

m Adding limited additional trail alignment(s) where terrain can provide an intentional
downhill mountain biking experience, including potential features for varying skill levels.

o Due to large support for directional trails but concerns about the equity of trail access for all user
types, consider maintaining trails as multi-use but signing trails to make all users aware of likely
downhill mountain bike use.

e E-biking:

o While substantial comments supported more e-bike use being allowed on the Mesa, some existing
management directives limit their use to FUTS and existing roads. Ensure that the public is aware
that e-bike opportunities do exist in these locations.

o Monitor e-bike policy and e-bike use over time and consider making changes in the future if
deemed appropriate.

Trail planning next steps
1. Based on the public input received, the Open Space staff will consider any changes to the Trail Plan.

2. Review the public input with the Open Space Commission and discuss any changes to the Trail Plan.
3. Present the public engagement process Trail Plan with any changes made to the Flagstaff City Council and
request approval.

17



4 |

LL

[
ON e i 3
O p = M 0
2., * i | m :
(a)) =
i
>

Trail Plan Draft

Observatory Mesa Area

(- 2
Q 2
N
(q0] S’
Q
—
» 5 :
Z e

.
-
L



General
Overview

'TEAM FLAGSTAFF|

S\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

Background

Public Process & Evolution of the Trail
Plan

Final Trail Plan Review

Next steps

Opportunity for Feedback



Overview o | 'TEAM FLAGSTAFF|

Observatory Mesa Natural Area : ~ a s §\\\ "”/

-

WE MAKE THE

Greater Observatory
Mesa Area

® Property purchase
- e Adjacent land use

E"l - _ Observatory Mesa Natural Area Coconino National Forest
s A [ N — Private Ownershi
= [y 3 o S «_ _ | City Boundary P w
L] i State Trust
Eitf,'-‘\"g . |"'I BNSF State of Arizona
1 g% t'”! City of Flagstaff Management
|l -‘w 2 '_._“54-‘ Coconino County Lowell Observatory
! CY
B4 | e Tt 4/29/2020
e = 0 025 0.5 1 Miles 3




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN2

Background - Land Managers ma

* Observatory Mesa Natural Area

* Lowell Observatory
* Coconino National Forest
 Arizona State Parks and Trails

You are entering @ protected

Natural Area. =

Please hel;;rotect this community

Greater Observatory Mesa Partners: Soatce by opserving the oW

No motorized vehicles:
or woodcutting.

g’) Lowell

OBSERVATORY




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Background - Current Conditions S\
Current Conditions

e 20-30,000 users/year

* Broad array of recreation

* Hiking, bicycling, horseback
riding, cross-country skiing, and
snowshoeing

* Minimal access
* 5.8 miles of formal trail

* Un-managed recreation and
public use (~15 miles of user- ‘ _ _ il
created unauthorized trails) 5




NWe———J e ——

Current conditions | JEAM FLAGSTAFF
i ) S\
& . % B O e’ 5 ™~ WE MAKE THE
$ S CAllBE =3 L o) CITY BETTER

¢ 5.8 miles of trail (FUTS &
Loop Trail)

e *8 miles of unauthorized trail
(OMNA/USEFS)

e 27 miles of existing roads
(OMNA & USFS)

e 2 authorized parking areas

| &7 e 2 unauthorized parking areas
Access Points (Series 2) —— Road (Series 4 R IGRABT o : : . .
P e, bed L Bk e 9 wayfinding/regulatory

® Unauthorized — Authorized Trail
FUTS Trail

B Signs (Sefies6) —— Unauthorized Trail - 2=, e Slgnage

Observatory Mesa Natural Area
| Lowell (Private Property) N
[uses ' Jr 3
T

[ T T T T T T 1
0 0.38 0.75 1.5 Miles




Cultural Site Protection
Watersheds and Springs
Wildlife

Ecologically Sensitive Areas

lithic scatter

cNy

prings

S

3 l;l
f

'WWW ;

=i A AR
B (SR by ¥
Bk BT




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Management Considerations =\

Property Management
E-bikes

Fire Forest Management
Invasive Weeds
Guiding Documents

Forest




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Public Interest In The Area =W

Flagstaff Trail Initiative public survey
(http://flagstafftrailsinitiative.org/)

e 1,700 public comments received

* 120 of the comments were about Observatory
Mesa, distilled into the following five

recommendations: FLAGSTAFF
1. Construct a new stacked loop system
2. Connect Fort Valley and Observatory Mesa T R A [I LS
3. Adopt unauthorized trails on Lowell Observatory
property as part of trail system l] N “T “AT V E
4. Evaluate unauthorized trails for closure and

naturalization
5. Connect Fort Valley to FUTS with a commuter route 9



http://flagstafftrailsinitiative.org/

TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

Trail Plan Objectives iy

Propose a sustainable trail system plan for the Greater Observatory Mesa Area
that:

* Addresses management and community concerns and desires

e Benefits conservation of the area (wildlife, natural resources)

* Provides managed recreation opportunities and community access

10



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

First Trail Plan Design = e

* Designed with staff and land manager input First Proposal,

% ) Parking (Series 1) [Jusrs
Access Points (Series 2)

* Existing trail maintenance

OMNA

A\ Access, Adopted '

@  Access, Official Lowell (Private
Propel

Trails (Series 3) perty)

FUTS Trail
—— Authorized, Existing Trail
3 Adaptive MTB Conversion
“_4 ... FUTS- Planned
= == Ft. Valley Commuter-Adaptive MTB Extension

* Restoration
 Unauthorized trails: 6 miles

Road, Adopt (Series 4) N
— — = New Trail Concepts (Series 5) w»i?mz
Note: Trail Concepts for visualization only. s
Field surveys required for final alignments.

I T T T T T T T 1
1.5 Miles

e Abandoned roads: 12 miles

* 4 additional access points and 2 parking areas
* Additional single-track trails: 24 miles

* Travel route

e Accessible trails

* ADA: .8 miles
e Adaptive mountain biking: 7 miles

Management, Esri, HERE, Garmify; GeoTechnologies, Inc., USGS; M/E'{I/I:IASAQ

B/E%.US[?

L7 Kaibaoy | ge¥
£ ¥ (3

» Wayfinding and educational trail signage 11



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Public Engagement Overview =N
Plan 1st Public Stakeholder 2nd Public 3rd & Final
Development Engagement  Epngagement Engagement Engagement
Worked with land Online & in-person 35 Commissions, Online & in-person 4 0SC meetings
management partners meeting (~35 ppl) organizations & other

meeting (~30 ppl)
partners consulted In-person meeting (~115

Online survey (103 Online survey (183 ppl)

respondents) 2 OSC meetings respondents)

Online survey (327

585 comments reviewed 16 meetings 2913 comments reviewed respondents)

42 letter comments o
442 participants, 302

open-ended comments
received 12



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S \7

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

* Neighborhood concerns

o Buffer/visual impacts

o Potential increased impacts (traffic, illegal

camping, etc.)

O Publication of neighborhood access
e Recreation experience
Alignment locations, redundancy
Improved adaptive trails
Educational zones
Equestrian
Varied difficulties

e Environmental concerns (wildlife, springs)

O O O O O

13



\\

~ = | | W N

Parking (Series 1)

] usFs
Access Points (Series 2) OMNA
A\ Access, Adopted
@  Access, Official
Trails (Series 3)
FUTS Trail
—— Authorized, Existing Trail
Adaptive MTB Conversion
A ... FUTS- Planned
== = Ft. Valley Commuter-Adaptive MTB Extension|
—— Road, Adopt (Series 4) N
— — = New Trail Concepts (Series 5)

Note: Trail Concepts for visualization only.
Field surveys required for final alignments.
I T T T T T T T 1

Lowell (Private
Property)

0 0.38 0.75 1.5 Miles

\‘o 3

/’ ~
Z o
Bl
5. 220 22/ (w7 18 oo
-~ City of Flagstdff, Coconfi® County,-County of Yavapai, Bireatr 5t (and
Management, Esri, HERE, Garmigy, GeoTechnologies, Inc., USGS, METI/NASA7
c /EPAUSDA

o
©

What changed?

441 Fort Valley
I >
£
Yy S
N 4 ) = [ \
N ge Flag %
Ri© A
4 5
z
' & .
Z

— — New Trail

| —— Trail, Adopted

FUTS Trail
------- Trail, Decommission
—— Road, Adopted

Education Zone
OMNA
[ usFs
Lowell Properties
/A Access, Adopted

i Road, Decommission @  Access, Official

Adaptive MTB (36")

Parking, Adopted

Map displays proposed trail plan. See Priority maps
for additional details and labeling. N

).

r T
0

T T T

T
0.38 0.75

1.5 Miles

wwlManagement, Esri, HEl

/ Park

ity of Flagstaff, Cocahing,Cupty«Sounty3f Yavapd, Blireaudf Land
RE Garmin, INCREMENT P, USGSEMETI/NASA, EPA,
2

USDA
atn

S-Milto

'TEAM FLAGSTAFF|

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

Adaptive bike trail design
improved

Trails for advanced skill
levels

Improved loop options
Alignments near private
property moved farther
from boundaries

Buffer zone increased
from 1,000 ft. to 1,320 ft.
near springs

Eliminated private
property access
Educational zones

14



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

I WE MAKE THE

CITY BETTER

 Environmental concern (springs, wildlife, more restoration)

* Further increase neighborhood buffer/reduce visual
impact

* Desire for enforcement and management information

* Trails
* Improved alignments for biking and adaptive biking
 Reduced density and mileage of trails
e Support for use of abandoned roads as trails
e Support for directional trails
* Consider e-bikes
* Lowell Observatory Master Planning
* QOpen Space Commission recommendations:
* Maintain multiuse and bidirectional trails

* E-bikes on certain alignments only
 Remove certain alignments due to wildlife concerns 15




e S - GFUUT]N TEAM FLAGSTAFF]
;] Second Prppogal ' Third Proposal ) SN

e s %, 4 P NEF s e — My
S ; y e ¥ ™~ WE MAKE THE
o= i & - / ITY BETTE
l' I\ 0 441 Fort Valley b “ 32 . = . s
s ! \ < - \°
1ji \\ ‘7 — — New Trail Education Zone i -
y P S «
—— Trail, A ‘o
’ . L rail, drfpted OMNA . :‘ o - Commuter rte. Lowell
FUTS Trail [ ] USFs ) r FUTS trail OMNA
-------- Trail, Decommission Lowell Properties 4 o e EXiS 1 i
;% oslig ot NN e ® Moved Section 17 and railroa
—— Road, Adopted '3 A isti i ki
, oal opte Ml A Access, Ado?ted Vi 3 Existing trail A  Existing Access
i Road, Decommission @  Access, Official ',' A e ~=== Trail concept /A Propose Access
Adaptive MTB (36") Parking, Adopted i Adaptive Trail @ Proposed TH t I t m | 1
Map displays proposed trail plan. See Priority maps ,: Edlication Zane Trailhend a Cce SS O O n g e r p a n n I n g
for additional details and labeling. N of Map displays proposed trail pla.n, See priority maps
T . T T T . . . ) jL for more details. J d . . d b d
o ok T e + | @ Used existing roadbeds to vary user

experience & reduce impact

e Decreased density of new trails - 24
to 18 miles (25% reduction)

e Further adjusted/removed

See Long Term Planning
. & for more details 2.4
'@ ! A e alignments to address residential

P and habitat concerns

% 7 | e Adjusted aMTB alighments (similar

wwlManagement, Esri, HERE Garmin, INCREMENT P, USGSEMETI/NASA, EPA,
= w6 USDA  Cd

5-Milto

mileage)
e Kept trails as multi use/bidirectional

® E-bikes allowed on roads and FUTS

What Cha ngEd ? e Added section on management

16



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

Third and Final Public Comment Feedback ==

Community disagreement on appropriate experience
o High density vs low density

o Formalized vs not

O Outdoor recreation vs preservation and quiet

Some preference for Version 2 (more trails), some preference to
“leave it as it is”

Desire for more mountain biking experience

Environmental concerns

17



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

A‘ Greater Observatory Mesa Trail Plan @ 2

How well does the Trail Plan

meet your desired recreation experience? ﬁ
Not well | can live with it Great! ,
Adaptive Biking .w'.. ® ..
sine @GRS I 00 o.'l‘ 1 LJ®

Downhill Mountain Blklngm O

Equestrian € ".

Passive (wildlife viewing, reflection, etc.)

Running

linter Uses (x-country skiing, snowshoeing) \ 18



4
'
X
'
Ll
"
[}
¥
¥
Pl e oS
| 2 »
>
by
’ [
4 (]
J s
’
¥
’

Third Proposal

=== Commuter rte. Lowell
FUTS trail OMNA
~— Existing road USFS
Existing trail A Existing Access

-=== Trail concept /A Propose Access
Adaptive Trail @ Proposed TH

Education Zone Trailhead
Map displays proposed trail plan. See priority maps

%4

\\‘/\ Fort Valley

—— Existing trail
~=== Trail concept
- Adaptive trail
Education zone

=== Travel route Lowell
FUTS trail OMNA
—— Existing road USFS

O Proposed TH

A Access, existing
A Access, adopt

Trailhead

Map displays proposed trail plan. See priority maps
for more details.

TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN

=< WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

for more details. 5 X
- 0 05 1 Mies 1
3 =
% B3
b {
i‘*"q
%
Included three alignments
| nclude g
’
l\ o
See Long Term Planning 2 \ ‘ See Long Term Planning 4
for more details e ¥ (A for more details 3 2
- . (¥
| { 0T 4 | ® 3.36 (HOt Pockets)° 0.42
Tl \ - AW, N N7 24 . . .
\ ST \
) ] )
/ \9
/ Wl
A
521y 215 e m 1
West Historic Route 66 S - -” West Historic Route 66 ) 22 I e S
N\
2.21

We,
€St Historic Route 66

| ® 5.28:0.65 miles

What changed?

® 5.29: 0.85 miles

19



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

inal Draft Plan: Proposa iy

yoss Fle % ey ® I ? : . }
Current Conditions L L -Final Proposal ,
b e ‘I‘ N % ‘

% % "-\‘~://%3’ ‘\
;'\ i \‘\ A ort Valley
. %)
5
¢
\\ i - J , === Travel route Lowell
o =y FUTS trail OMNA
] \ —— Existing road USFS
l} k —— Bxisting trail A Access, existing
<% ---- Trail concept ~ A  Access, adopt
& .| —— Adaptivetrail @ Proposed TH
@ Education zone 4/ Trailhead

Map displays proposed trail plan. See priority maps
for more details.

[T AU P \
05 1Mi|es7L

0 025

See Long Term Planning | A
for more details

17

-

= )

W e
»”

-

; :
Access Points (Series 2) —— Road (Series 4) SR J B haitas, " ;/ f L\ -
® Authorized Trails (Series 3) — £ NGNS y %)
® Unauthorized —— Authorized Trail ¢ Sram i Ml DyE? \$ 5.27
e FUTS Trail L6 sl 1 3.35 }
B Signs (Sefies6)  —— Unauthorized Trail A3 iy W (T Z
0\ ~ = 8 / Z
Observatory Mesa Natural Area "Whiana gy s z Ay - r's " /’/AZ -
¢ 3 g " - o
[] Lowell (Private Property) N %, 5 e+ West Hitoric Route 66 ® 22 &~
W «JF E c.xyhmc D County, Countyof Yevapai, Surdsy of Land 5 &
[Juses Management, Esri, uz‘&mx.r?emr«hmbgm e, ioterdap, USGS, 2.21 $
e e e e e | 5 “?MFT:V‘NASA{PA.USDA" / § 20
0 0.38 0.75 1.5 Miles West Historic Route 66 g




TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

Trail Plan Review g

Approximately 20 miles of additional natural-surfaced single-track trail
O} e 7 miles of adaptive trails

The addition of 2 more formal access points, which will result in a total of 8

@ ® 2 access points with additional parking along Route 66 near the Public
Works Yard and at the western boundary on Forest Road 515

@ Restoration of 4.5 miles of unauthorized trails and 10.5 miles of roads

% Trail sign recommendations for wayfinding, regulations, and etiquette

Two educational zones for interpretive signage to increase awareness of
ﬁ environmental, cultural, and historical significance
21



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

r Priority 1

) * Construct, maintain, and adopt trails close
VEmlae to access points
o e * Provide loop opportunities where trail users
currently use GOMA most
1 L * Increase managed trail opportunities before
closing user-created trails
12

13) ‘

West Historic Route 66

22



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

r Priority 1

) * Construct, maintain, and adopt trails close
VEmlae to access points
o e * Provide loop opportunities where trail users
currently use GOMA most
1 S * Increase managed trail opportunities before
closing user-created trails
12

13) ‘

West Historic Route 66

22



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

r Priority 1

) * Construct, maintain, and adopt trails close
VEmlae to access points
o e * Provide loop opportunities where trail users
currently use GOMA most
1 L * Increase managed trail opportunities before
closing user-created trails
12

13) ‘

West Historic Route 66

22



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

r Priority 1

) * Construct, maintain, and adopt trails close
VEmlae to access points
o e * Provide loop opportunities where trail users
currently use GOMA most
1 L * Increase managed trail opportunities before
closing user-created trails
12

13) ‘

West Historic Route 66

22



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

r Priority 1

) * Construct, maintain, and adopt trails close
VEmlae to access points
o e * Provide loop opportunities where trail users
currently use GOMA most
1 L * Increase managed trail opportunities before
closing user-created trails
12

13) ‘

West Historic Route 66

22



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

r Priority 1

) * Construct, maintain, and adopt trails close
VEmlae to access points
o e * Provide loop opportunities where trail users
currently use GOMA most
1 L * Increase managed trail opportunities before
closing user-created trails
12

13) ‘

West Historic Route 66

22



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

r Priority 1

) * Construct, maintain, and adopt trails close
VEmlae to access points
o e * Provide loop opportunities where trail users
currently use GOMA most
1 L * Increase managed trail opportunities before
closing user-created trails
12

13) ‘

West Historic Route 66

22



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

~—— Trail construction
—— Trail constructed/maintained
—— Trail, decommission
FUTS trail
Road, maintain
A Access, adopt
%) Trailhead
Lowell

Map labeling is used to display all
ori

this map.

Priority 2

Expand trail system for longer distance
opportunities

Connect to the Fort Valley trail system
Complete trail system with trails for a
variety of experiences

Restore user created trails where Priority 1
trails are already established

23



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

~—— Trail construction
—— Trail constructed/maintained
—— Trail, decommission
FUTS trail
Road, maintain
A Access, adopt
%) Trailhead
Lowell

Map labeling is used to display all
ori

this map.

Priority 2

Expand trail system for longer distance
opportunities

Connect to the Fort Valley trail system
Complete trail system with trails for a
variety of experiences

Restore user created trails where Priority 1
trails are already established

23



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

~—— Trail construction
—— Trail constructed/maintained
—— Trail, decommission
FUTS trail
Road, maintain
A Access, adopt
%) Trailhead
Lowell

Map labeling is used to display all
ori

this map.

Priority 2

Expand trail system for longer distance
opportunities

Connect to the Fort Valley trail system
Complete trail system with trails for a
variety of experiences

Restore user created trails where Priority 1
trails are already established

23



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

~—— Trail construction
—— Trail constructed/maintained
—— Trail, decommission
FUTS trail
Road, maintain
A Access, adopt
%) Trailhead
Lowell

Map labeling is used to display all
ori

this map.

Priority 2

Expand trail system for longer distance
opportunities

Connect to the Fort Valley trail system
Complete trail system with trails for a
variety of experiences

Restore user created trails where Priority 1
trails are already established

23



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

~—— Trail construction
—— Trail constructed/maintained
—— Trail, decommission
FUTS trail
Road, maintain
A Access, adopt
%) Trailhead
Lowell

Map labeling is used to display all
ori

this map.

Priority 2

Expand trail system for longer distance
opportunities

Connect to the Fort Valley trail system
Complete trail system with trails for a
variety of experiences

Restore user created trails where Priority 1
trails are already established

23



Trail Plan Review

7
3
&

= Trail constructed/maintained
FUTS trail
Road, maintained
-—— Road, decommission
A Access, adopted

%) Trailhead
[ Lowell
OMNA
USFS

Map labeling is used to display all
4 proposed efforts for priority 3 on this

map.

2
[ %

(%
West Historic Route 66 - ~

>

spb
[ T T T T T T - , 5
i s
0 0.5 1 2 Miles we / 3
E St Historic Route 66 3
3

TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER

Priority 3

Restore all roads for a non-motorized area

24



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

1 - SN\
Trail Plan Review e

| 9/ Priority 3

e Restore all roads for a non-motorized area

N\

= Trail constructed/maintained
FUTS trail
y ] Road, maintained
S e -——~ Road, decommission
A Access, adopted
%) Trailhead
Lowell
OMNA
USFS
Map labeling is used to display all

4 proposed efforts for priority 3 on this
map.

RS

O
(%
"r/:
7
f i
[ 4
West Historic Route 66 @ —~
D>
&
I L g T ] ) ' §
0 0.5 1 2 Miles ‘\me / s
140 i

24



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

Trail Plan Review e e e

Long Term

* Lowell Observatory- Current internal
planning underway, not the right time

* Railroad underpasses- Will require
extensive engineering, funding, and
cooperation

/\ Long Term Access
— Long Term Road
— Long Term Trail
~— GOMA Roads/Trails

- GOMA Proposed Trail
==+ Long Term New Trail
| ===+ Conceptual FUTS
GOMA Rd Decom
4 i Long Term Rd Decom

GOMA Trail Decom
"""" Long Term Trail Decom
OMNA

[ ] USFs
[ | Lowell Properties |

L e e e e 22 /
0 0.130.25 0.5 Miles =
r Lo = 5
f’ \ — A Y
N PO i AR “re s S
1 & 3 = X
& 4

———

=City of FIEgstafff‘Coc‘bnino County, County of Yava'b’ai, Bureau of Land
Managegment,‘_!‘-:sari‘, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, Intermap, USGS, METI/NASA,

EPA, USDA, Sources: Esri, Airbus DS, USGS, NGA, NASA? CGIAR, N Robinson,
NCEAS, NLS, OS, NMA, Geodatastyrelsen, Rijkswaterstaat, GSA; Geoland, FEMA,
Intermap, and thg:GlS%user comménity

b c

25



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

Trail Plan Review e e e

Long Term

* Lowell Observatory- Current internal
planning underway, not the right time

* Railroad underpasses- Will require
extensive engineering, funding, and
cooperation

/\ Long Term Access
— Long Term Road
— Long Term Trail
~— GOMA Roads/Trails

- GOMA Proposed Trail
==+ Long Term New Trail
| ===+ Conceptual FUTS
GOMA Rd Decom
4 i Long Term Rd Decom

GOMA Trail Decom
"""" Long Term Trail Decom
OMNA

[ ] USFs
[ | Lowell Properties |

L e e e e 22 /
0 0.130.25 0.5 Miles =
r Lo = 5
f’ \ — A Y
N PO i AR “re s S
1 & 3 = X
& 4

———

=City of FIEgstafff‘Coc‘bnino County, County of Yava'b’ai, Bureau of Land
Managegment,‘_!‘-:sari‘, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, Intermap, USGS, METI/NASA,

EPA, USDA, Sources: Esri, Airbus DS, USGS, NGA, NASA? CGIAR, N Robinson,
NCEAS, NLS, OS, NMA, Geodatastyrelsen, Rijkswaterstaat, GSA; Geoland, FEMA,
Intermap, and thg:GlS%user comménity

b c

25



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

Trail Plan Review e e e

Long Term

* Lowell Observatory- Current internal
planning underway, not the right time

* Railroad underpasses- Will require
extensive engineering, funding, and
cooperation

/\ Long Term Access
— Long Term Road
— Long Term Trail
~— GOMA Roads/Trails

- GOMA Proposed Trail
==+ Long Term New Trail
| ===+ Conceptual FUTS
GOMA Rd Decom
4 i Long Term Rd Decom

GOMA Trail Decom
"""" Long Term Trail Decom
OMNA

[ ] USFs
[ | Lowell Properties |

L e e e e 22 /
0 0.130.25 0.5 Miles =
r Lo = 5
f’ \ — A Y
N PO i AR “re s S
1 & 3 = X
& 4

———

=City of FIEgstafff‘Coc‘bnino County, County of Yava'b’ai, Bureau of Land
Managegment,‘_!‘-:sari‘, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, Intermap, USGS, METI/NASA,

EPA, USDA, Sources: Esri, Airbus DS, USGS, NGA, NASA? CGIAR, N Robinson,
NCEAS, NLS, OS, NMA, Geodatastyrelsen, Rijkswaterstaat, GSA; Geoland, FEMA,
Intermap, and thg:GlS%user comménity

b c

25



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

S\

Trail Plan Review e e e

Long Term

* Lowell Observatory- Current internal
planning underway, not the right time

* Railroad underpasses- Will require
extensive engineering, funding, and
cooperation

/\ Long Term Access
— Long Term Road
— Long Term Trail
~— GOMA Roads/Trails

- GOMA Proposed Trail
==+ Long Term New Trail
| ===+ Conceptual FUTS
GOMA Rd Decom
4 i Long Term Rd Decom

GOMA Trail Decom
"""" Long Term Trail Decom
OMNA

[ ] USFs
[ | Lowell Properties |

Frrr1rrrr] (i< i /_:
0 0.13 0.25 0.5 Miles 2
; U - 5
PR - .
i Py i W 4 ¢ K
1 & =
& 4

———

=City of FIEgstafff‘Coc‘bnino County, County of Yava'b’ai, Bureau of Land
Managegment,‘_!‘-:sari‘, HERE, Garmin, INCREMENT P, Intermap, USGS, METI/NASA,

EPA, USDA, Sources: Esri, Airbus DS, USGS, NGA, NASA? CGIAR, N Robinson,
NCEAS, NLS, OS, NMA, Geodatastyrelsen, Rijkswaterstaat, GSA; Geoland, FEMA,
Intermap, and thg:GlS%user comménity

b c

25



TEAM FLAGSTAFF

SN

Next Steps = e

2020-2022 Summer 2022 Summer 2023 Fall 2024 Summer 2025 Summer/ 2028-
Fall 2025
C N (O 0
City Council
Trail Plan Public Public Public Review
Drafting Comment Comment Comment and
with Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Final Plan
Partners Resolution
Adoption
k V2R J

26



Council
Questions?

Public
Comments

TEAM FLAGSTAFF

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER




City Council
Comments and
Direction

TEAM FLAGSTAFF

WE MAKE THE
CITY BETTER




	Agenda
	AI_8955_Ride your Bike Week
	       ATT_Proclamation
	AI_8956_Mental Health Awareness Month
	       ATT_Proclamation
	AI_8957_Economic Development Week
	       ATT_Proclamation
	AI_8944_City Manager Report
	       ATT_City Manager Report
	       ATT_Engineering Presentation
	City Engineering
	City Engineering
	Capital Improvements
	Capital Improvements
	Capital Improvements
	Transportation
	Transportation
	Transportation
	Transportation
	Development Engineering
	Development Engineering
	Development Engineering
	Development Engineering
	Development Engineering
	Development Engineering
	City Engineering
	���     Questions?

	       ATT_Water Presentation
	Slide 1: Water Services We are Water
	Slide 2: Water Service
	Slide 3: Field Operations-Patrick O’Connor
	Slide 4: Plant Operations- Vacant
	Slide 5: Stormwater-Ed Schenk
	Slide 6: Resource Management-Erin Young
	Slide 7: Engineering-Mac McNamara
	Slide 8: Regulatory Compliance-Jolene Montoya
	Slide 9: Questions?

	AI_8942_Discussion of childcare resources in Flagstaff and greater Coconino County
	       ATT_Summary of Council Childcare Work Study
	       ATT_Summary of ELDC City of Flagstaff May 13
	       ATT_Childcare City of Flagstaff May 25
	Slide 1: Addressing the childcare crisis: a pathway to workforce development and engagement
	Slide 2: The Childcare Crisis in America
	Slide 3: The Child Care Crisis in Flagstaff
	Slide 4: The Community Problem
	Slide 5: Title
	Slide 6: Why?
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10: The Solution
	Slide 11: City and county early childhood initiatives nationwide
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14: Next steps and goals:
	Slide 15: Thank you!

	AI_8853_Greater Observatory Mesa Area Trail Plan
	       ATT_GOMA Trail Plan
	       ATT_GOMA Trail Plan Executive Summary
	       ATT_GOMA Trail Map Proposal
	       ATT_Public Input Synthesis (phases 1-3)
	       ATT_Presentation
	Slide 1: Greater Observatory Mesa Area Trail Plan Draft
	Slide 2: General Overview 
	Slide 3: Greater Observatory Mesa Area
	Slide 4: Background  - Land Managers
	Slide 5: Background - Current Conditions
	Slide 6
	Slide 7: Management Considerations  
	Slide 8: Management Considerations  
	Slide 9: Public Interest In The Area 
	Slide 10: Trail Plan Objectives 
	Slide 11: First Trail Plan Design
	Slide 12: Public Engagement Overview
	Slide 13: First Public Comment Feedback
	Slide 14: What changed? 
	Slide 15: Second Public Comment Feedback 
	Slide 16: What changed? 
	Slide 17: Third and Final Public Comment Feedback
	Slide 18: Third and Final Public Comment Feedback
	Slide 19: What changed? 
	Slide 20: Final Draft Plan: Proposal Map 
	Slide 21: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 22: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 23: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 24: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 25: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 26: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 27: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 28: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 29: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 30: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 31: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 32: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 33: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 34: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 35: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 36: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 37: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 38: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 39: Trail Plan Review
	Slide 40: Next Steps
	Slide 41: Council Questions?   Public Comments
	Slide 42: City Council Comments and  Direction


